
 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED  

 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

OFFICE OF THE POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER FOR HUMBERSIDE/ 
HUMBERSIDE POLICE 

JOINT INDEPENDENT AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Monday, 19 June 2023 - 10.00AM 

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, The Lawns, Harland Way, Cottingham, 
HU16 5SN 

A G E N D A 

Business Lead 
Primary Action 

Requested 

1. Minutes of meeting 20 March 2023 Pages (1 - 4) Chair To approve 

2. JIAC Action Schedule
Pages (5 - 9) 

Chair To receive 

3. Annual Cycle of Business 2023/24 Page (10) 

Chief Finance Officer 
(OPCC) & Head of 

Finance and Business 
Services (HP) 

To receive 

External Audit 

4. Progress Reports Verbal 

Internal Audit 

5. Progress Reports
Pages (11 - 17) West Yorkshire Police 

(Internal Audit) 
To receive 

6. Annual Report 2022/23
Page (18 - 24) West Yorkshire Police 

(Internal Audit) 
To receive 

Finance 

7. Treasury Management Annual
Report 2021/22

Pages (25 - 30) 
Chief Finance Officer 

(OPCC) 
To receive 

8. Annual Accounts 2022/23

i. Office of the Police and
Crime Commissioner

ii. Humberside Police

Pages (31 - 117) 
Pages (118 - 171) 

Chief Finance Officer 
(OPCC) & Head of 

Finance and Business 
Services (HP) 

To receive 

Force Update 

9. Update on Numbers and
Deployment of Additional
Recruited Officers

Verbal 
Head of People Services 

(HP) 
To receive 

10. Feedback from the Force
HMICFRS Assurance Group

Verbal JIAC Members To receive 

Other Business 

11.  Any Other Business - Chair -





HUMBERSIDE POLICE/OFFICE OF THE POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER 
 

JOINT INDEPENDENT AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 

MONDAY, 20 MARCH 2023 
 

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner, The Lawns, Harland Way, Cottingham, 
HU16 5SN 

 
PRESENT  
 
Members:  
 
James Doyle (Chair), Chris Brown, Pam Jackson, Kathryn Lavery and Gerard Wareham 
 
Officers:  
 
Humberside Police (HP)  
 
Paul Anderson - Deputy Chief Constable, Sabine Braddy - Financial Accountant, Jim Wright 
- Head of Finance and Business Services  
 
Office of Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC)  
Clare Rex - Statutory Operations Manager, Paul Wainwright - Head of Assurance and 
Statutory Duties, Kevin Wilson - Chief Finance Officer 
 
Auditors  
Gavin Barker (External Audit), Louise Stables (External Audit) and Neil Rickwood (Internal 
Audit)  
 
Committee Manager  
Samm Campbell 
 
1/23  MINUTES OF 12 DECEMBER 2022 – Agreed - That the minutes of the meeting held 
on 20 December 2022 be confirmed as a correct record. 
 
2/23  JIAC ACTION SCHEDULE - Received - That the Action Schedule be received. 
 
3/23  ANNUAL CYCLE OF BUSINESS 2023/24 - Agreed - That the Annual Cycle of 
Business 2023/24 be received. 
 
4/23  EXTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 - The Committee received the 
Annual Report 2021/22 presented by Gavin Barker (Mazars). 
 
After serial, national delays to the whole of government accounts and the external audit 
process in general from 2020 forwards, Mazars had been able to issue its audit opinion for 
the 2021/22 financial year on 14 December 2022. The value for money assessment had not 
been completed by the time the opinion had been issued, but it had been completed since 
and was enclosed in the report received by the Committee. Mazars assessed that there 
were no significant weaknesses, was positive about the arrangements in place in relation to 
value for money and did not make any recommendations. The whole of government 
accounts were yet to be confirmed and external audit certificates could not be issued until 
they had. Mazars was due to move commence its work on the 2022/23 audits. Mazars also 
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noted that Humberside Police had achieved an ‘outstanding’ rating from Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services. 
 
The Committee queried Mazars’ ‘adequate’ rating of ‘recording data about crime’. The Force 
had an accuracy rating of 93 percent for crime reporting, which was good, but Mazars had 
issued an ‘adequate’ rating because of the recommendations it had made to improve 
recording in relation to vulnerable victims, violent crime and protected characteristics.  
 
Agreed - That the Audit Annual Report 2021/22 be received. 
 
5/23  INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORTS - The Committee received the progress 
report presented by Neil Rickwood - Head of Audit. 
 
Nearly all of the audit activity had been completed, with some work to be continued in 
2023/24. By the end of April 2023, all audits were expected to have been completed and 
their reports drafted, with judgements of ‘reasonable assurance’ or better expected. 
 
Agreed - That the Progress Reports be received.  
 
6/23  INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL PLAN 2023/24 - The Committee received Audit Annual 
Plan 2023/24 presented by Neil Rickwood - Head of Audit. 
 
A meeting was due to be held with both Humberside Police and the Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner on 31 March 2023 to plan for the 2023/24 audit activities. The 2023/24 
audits would focus on the work that the organisations had undertaken to improve to assess 
to what degree their efforts had been successful, and there would also be a link to wider 
audit work in West Yorkshire (for example, in relation to the victim journey and vetting).  
 
The Committee asked about the implementation of the Oracle system. The implementation 
had been halted and the Assistant Chief Constable was in the process of reviewing 
alternative options. This had not caused any serious operational issues and the aim would 
be to unify with HR systems within the following 18 to 24 months. 
 
Received - That the Audit Annual Plan 2023/24 be received. 
 
7/23  TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2023/24 - The Committee received the 
Treasury Management Strategy 2023/24 presented by the Chief Finance Officer.  
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) was required to operate a balanced budget, 
which broadly meant that cash raised during the year would meet cash expenditure. Part of 
the treasury management operation was to ensure that this cash flow was adequately 
planned, with cash being available when it was required. Surplus monies were invested in 
low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the PCC’s low risk investment 
priorities, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return. The 
capital programme was stable, with many projects delivered in the previous two years and 
considerable work being undertaken in relation to maintenance and technology. 
 
Agreed – That the Treasury Management Strategy 2023/24 be received. 
 
8/23 DRAFT ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENTS 2022/23 - The Committee 
received the draft Annual Governance Statements for both Humberside Police and the Office 
of the Police and Crime Commissioner presented by the Head of Finance and Business 
Services, and the Head of Assurance and Statutory Duties. 
 

2



The Annual Governance Statement (AGS) demonstrated the governance arrangements in 
place for the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable, including how the 
effectiveness of the framework was evaluated and monitored. The statements were 
compliant with CIPFA’s Financial Management Code and outlined significant governance 
issues and any planned changes. The Independent Ethics Scrutiny Board had been running 
successfully for some time and new chair was due to be elected in summer 2023. While 
decision records were already robust, an improved process was introduced on 1 April 2023. 
The Code of Corporate Governance had been rewritten with a focus on plain English, 
making it much more accessible than others, and it was considered to a be an example of 
good practice nationally.  
 
Agreed - That the Annual Governance Statements for 2022/23 for Police and Crime 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable be received. 
 
9/23 DECLARATIONS OF GIFTS, HOSPITALITY AND SPONSORSHIP - Links to the 

Force and OPCC website were provided to Members in advance of the meeting to view any 

officer declarations of gifts, hospitality and sponsorship over the previous year.  

Agreed - That the availability of the declarations of gifts, hospitality and sponsorship be noted. 
 
10/23  FORCE COMPLAINTS UPDATE - The Committee received a presentation from 
Clare Rex - Statutory Operations Manager (OPCC) on Force complaints. 
 
The Committee had previously received an update on the Force complaints at the meeting 
held on 26 September 2023 (Minute 45/22 refers). In February 2020, the Force had 
reformed the way that it dealt with complaints. If a complaint included details that could 
amount to criminal activity or misconduct, an investigation would be undertaken. Around two 
percent of complaints resulted in a formal investigation and the review body for these was 
the Independent Office for Police Conduct. Complaints which did not relate to criminal 
behaviour or misconduct were handled otherwise than by investigation (OTBI - also known 
as handling). Around 98 percent of complaints were handled OTBI. The IOPC held quarterly 
liaison meetings with the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC). The OPCC 
published its review outcomes and responses, which not all other OPCCs did. The 
Committee reviewed a number of graphs which showed that demand in relation to 
complaints was unpredictable and that only 0.8 percent of outcomes were not deemed 
reasonable or appropriate. The OPCC compared well nationally in terms of its timeliness in 
addressing complaints and had been recognised by the IOPC for its good practice. The PCC 
had recently agreed to fund an Initial Complaint Resolution Team for three years to be the 
central team for receiving complaints and to achieve resolutions as soon as possible. 
 
Since January 2023, 397 complaints against Humberside Police had been logged and 23 
applications had been made for review (a rate of six percent). Of the nine which had been 
fully reviewed at the time of the meeting, two had been upheld, which represented 0.5 
percent of all complaints. The timeliness of these reviews was good, with an average 
turnaround of 13 calendar days.   
 
The OPCC had engaged Sancus Solutions as its adjudicator for complaints under review. 
The Committee queried the organisations independence in the light of the tender process 
and was assured that the OPCC was satisfied that they were independent and that all 
decisions were recorded thoroughly. The Committee was also reminded that the complaints 
process was not the only avenue of available for challenging decisions, such as the victims’ 
right to review. 
 
Agreed -  (a) That the update be noted, and 
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  (b) that the complaints process be summarised in a flow chart for the 
Committee.  
 
11/23 FEEDBACK FROM THE FORCE HMICFRS ASSURANCE GROUP - The Committee 
had received an update from Members that had attended the recent Assurance Group 
meetings. Attention for given to the outstanding grading given to Humberside Police following 
a recent peer review.  
 
Agreed - That the update be noted. 
 
12/23 OTHER BUSINESS - MEMBERSHIP - The Committee noted that James Doyle and 
Pam Jackson’s final terms of office were due to conclude on 31 March 2023 and thanked them 
for their work since the Committee was formed in 2017. The OPCC and Humberside Police 
also offered their thanks to the outgoing Members. 
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ROLLING ACTION SCHEDULE OF JOINT INDEPENDENT AUDIT COMMITTEE - HUMBERSIDE POLICE/OFFICE OF POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER 

Date of Meeting Agenda Item 
Minute 
Number 

Action Officer to Action Complete/Update 

 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

26 September 2022 External Audit Completion Report 43/22 

(b) that the Committee be updated in relation to the
disaster recovery exercise referred to in the report;

(c) that the Committee be updated on the actions arising
from the report, and

(d) that future reports contain more detailed management
responses to recommendations.

Gavin Barker - External Audit 

20 June 2022 Strategic Risk Update 21/22 
(b) that the full risk register be circulated to the

Committee.
James Tabor - Strategic Planning 

Manager 
Complete – the register was circulated. 

20 June 2022 Internal Audit Progress Update 24/22 
(c) that subsequent internal audit reports contain

timelines for recommendations.
Neil Rickwood (West Yorkshire Police) 

Complete – the report was updated at the 26 
September meeting.. 

21 March 2022 
Declarations of Gifts, Hospitality and 
Sponsorship 

09/22 
(a) That the Gifts and Hospitality form be amended to

include an additional column to include who offered the
gift/hospitality.

Paul Wainwright - Head of Assurance 
and Statutory Duties (OPCC) 

Complete – this is now included. 

21 March 2022 
Declarations of Gifts, Hospitality and 
Sponsorship 

09/22 
(b) That the Chief Executive of the OPCC publish a

separate register of interests form.
Paul Wainwright - Head of Assurance 

and Statutory Duties (OPCC) 
Complete – register of interests completed 
annually. 

13 December 2021 
Numbers and Deployment of 
Additional Recruited Officers 

56/21 That regular updates be provided to the Committee. 
Emma Bowen - Head of People Services 

(HP) 
Complete - added to annual cycle of 
business on a bi-annual basis 

27 September 2021 
Whistleblowing, Fraud and Anti-
Bribery and Anti-Money Laundering 
Policy Updates 

40/21 
That the update be removed from annual cycle of 
business. 

Gareth Naidoo - Committee Manager 
Complete - annual cycle of business 
updated. 

27 September 2021 
OPCC Staff Register of Interests 
[Minutes of 19 July 2021 - reference 
to previous Minute 30/21] 

36/21 
That the staff register of interests of the OPCC be 
published on the OPCC website. 

Clare Rex - Statutory Operations 
Manager (OPCC) 

Complete - The staff register of interests is 
now published on the website: 
https://www.humberside-
pcc.gov.uk/Transparency/Who-We-are-and-
What-We-Do/Who-We-Are-and-What-We-
Do.aspx 

19 July 2021 
Chief Constable & Police and Crime 
Commissioner Draft Financial 
Statements 

30/21 

Members also queried the role of the Chief Executive of 
the OPCC as a non-executive director on the Board of 
Ongo Partnership Limited: 

• Duration to date of her role as non-executive
director on the Board of Ongo Partnership Limited
and whether it was a renumerated post;

• Any involvement in the £650,000 Safer Streets
Grant Income awarded to Ongo Partnership
Limited and whether this was recurring
expenditure.

The Chief Finance Officer (OPCC) agreed to confirm the 
details of this with Members outside the meeting. 

Kevin Wilson - Chief Finance Officer 
(OPCC) 

Complete - The Chief Executive of the 
OPCC wrote to the Chair following the 
meeting. 

19 July 2021 Annual Cycle of Business 2021/22 29/21 

That the items ‘Decoupling of the joint HR function with 
South Yorkshire Police’ and ‘Update on the numbers of 
and deployment of additional recruited officer’ be received 
at the next meeting (27 September 2021). 

Emma Bowen - Head of People Services 
(HP) 

Complete - included on the agenda for 13 
December 2021. 

7 June 2021 AOB - FOI request figures 26/21 
That it be confirmed how and where Freedom of 
Information (FOI) request figures are disclosed. 

James Tabor - Strategic Planning 
Manager (HP) 

Complete - FOI disclosures are made via the 
website at this address: 
https://www.humberside.police.uk/what-
weve-already-released-under-foi 
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ROLLING ACTION SCHEDULE OF JOINT INDEPENDENT AUDIT COMMITTEE - HUMBERSIDE POLICE/OFFICE OF POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER 

Date of Meeting Agenda Item 
Minute 
Number 

Action Officer to Action Complete/Update 

 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

7 June 2021 Risk Register Report 20/21 
That the item ‘Police Legitimacy’ be included on a future 
meeting agenda. 

James Tabor - Strategic Planning 
Manager (HP) 

Complete - an update was provided to the 
Committee at its meeting of 13 December 
2021. 

7 June 2021 PCC Register of Interest 17/21 

That regarding the publication of the PCC’s Register of 
Interest (Minute 7/21 ‘Declarations of Gifts, Hospitality and 
Sponsorship’), it be clearly stated on the website that it has 
been updated annually. 

Paul Wainwright - Head of Assurance 
and Statutory Duties (OPCC) 

Complete - the OPCC reviews the 
publication of the Register of Interests 
annually and this is made clear on the
website. 

22 March 2021 CIPFA Financial Management Code 9/21 

That the significant compliance demonstrated by the self-
assessment against the FM Code be noted and that the 
areas of partial compliance be developed further during 
2021/22 

Kevin Wilson - Chief Finance Officer 
(OPCC) 

Complete - an update was provided to the
Committee at its meeting of 13 December 
2021. 

22 March 2021 
Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement 2021/22 

8/21 

(a) That a paragraph be added to reference potential
impact of public sector pay.

(b) That the Strategy Statement be updated to reflect the
latest budget and reference to the extended furlough
schemes.

Kevin Wilson - Chief Finance Officer 
(OPCC) 

Complete - Strategy updated to reflect these 
requests. 

22 March 2021 
Declarations of Gifts, Hospitality and 
Sponsorship 

7/21 

It was noted that the PCC Register of Interest only detailed 
interests since taking up office in 2016 and was queried 
whether this should be updated annually. It was agreed 
that the Chief Finance Officer would look into this matter 
further. 

Kevin Wilson - Chief Finance Officer 
(OPCC) 

Complete - the register is reviewed annually, 
but this is unclear on the website. The 
website has been updated to make this clear. 

22 March 2021 
Draft Annual Governance Statement 
- Chief Constable

5/21 
The Head of Finance and Business Services/S.151 Officer 
(HP) agreed to check if a good level of custody support 
had been maintained over the last year. 

Jim Wright - Head of Finance and 
Business Services/S.151 Officer (HP) 

Complete - There has been no shortfall in 
custody support during the pandemic. 
Support has been provided by Appropriate 
Adults UK. 

22 March 2021 Force Complaints Update 4/21 
That the Committee receive future updates on a bi-annual 
basis. 

Gareth Naidoo - Committee Manager/ 
Clare Rex - Statutory Operations 

Manager (OPCC) 

Complete - added to annual cycle of 
business bi-annually for 2021/22 

22 March 2021 Risk Register 3/21 
(b) That the Risk Register be regularly published on the
website in order to support the Committee’s bi-annual
review of this.

James Tabor - Strategic Planning 
Manager (HP) 

Complete - the risk registers will be updated 
with the latest that is reported to the 
Accountability Board. This also allows for a 
consistent understanding. 

22 March 2021 Annual Cycle of Business 2/21 
That the Annual Cycle of Business be included as 
standing item alongside the Action Schedule on every 
agenda. 

Gareth Naidoo - Committee Manager Complete 

14 December 2020 
Updated Corporate Governance 
Framework 

41/20 
(b) That guidance be issued to all Force and OPCC staff

reminding them of the sign-off procedure for Conflict of
Interest matters

Kevin Wilson - Chief Finance Officer 
(OPCC) & 

Jim Wright - Head of Finance and 
Business Services/S.151 Officer (HP) 

Complete - Reminders on the sign-off 
procedure for Conflict of Interest matters are 
posted on the Force Intranet on an at least 
annual basis for all staff to view. The last 
reminder posting was 29/08/2020 and the 
time before that was 11/04/2019. Another 
reminder will therefore be posted during 
2021. 

Code of Ethics 

2014.pdf

Business Interests 

and Voluntary Working - All Staff V7.0.pdf

14 December 2020 
Updated Corporate Governance 
Framework 

41/20 
(c) That under ‘Money Laundering’ the Framework be

explicit regarding crypto currency;

Kevin Wilson - Chief Finance Officer 
(OPCC) & 

Jim Wright - Head of Finance and 
Business Services/S.151 Officer (HP) 

Complete - The Code of Corporate 
Governance has been updated accordingly 
(March 2021) and re-published on the OPCC 
web-site. 
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ROLLING ACTION SCHEDULE OF JOINT INDEPENDENT AUDIT COMMITTEE - HUMBERSIDE POLICE/OFFICE OF POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER 

 

Date of Meeting Agenda Item 
Minute 
Number 

Action Officer to Action Complete/Update 

  

 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

14 December 2020 
Updated Corporate Governance 
Framework 

41/20 
(d) That the Chair of JIAC be added as a route for 

reporting whistle blowing;  

Kevin Wilson - Chief Finance Officer 
(OPCC) & 

Jim Wright - Head of Finance and 
Business Services/S.151 Officer (HP) 

Complete - The Code of Corporate 
Governance has been updated accordingly 
(March 2021) and re-published on the OPCC 
web-site. 

14 December 2020 
Updated Corporate Governance 
Framework 

41/20 

(e) That the Head of Finance and Business 
Services/S.151 Officer (HP) confirm the command 
procedures should the Chief Constable and Deputy 
Chief Constable both be absent at the same time. 

Jim Wright - Head of Finance and 
Business Services/S.151 Officer (HP) 

Complete - In the highly unlikely event that 
anything happened to both the Chief 
Constable and the Deputy Chief Constable, 
then an Assistant Chief Constable would be 
designated. 

14 December 2020 Internal Audit - Progress Report 46/20 
That the implementation/timeframe for completing the 
audit on ‘Repeat Victims: Tasking & Problem Solving’ be 
confirmed in due course. 

Neil Rickwood (Internal Audit) 

Complete - The full audit on Repeat Victims 
will commence in March/April 2021 - the 
interim audit was finalised in November 2020 
with the latest action deadline of December 
2020. So further audit work from March 2021 
will have given 6 months for the new 
processes to have matured/become 
embedded. This in turn will ensure that the 
findings/issues subsequently reported will 
provide a more accurate reflection of how 
systems in this area have 
developed/progressed and been 
implemented. 

28 September 2020 Revised Complaints Process 27/20 
(a) That the Committee receive a progress report (and to 

include compliments) in six months’ time. 
Clare Rex - Statutory Operations 

Manager (OPCC) 
Complete - Progress report received at 22 
March 2021 meeting. 

28 September 2020 Revised Complaints Process 27/20 
(b) That the administration process of the review 

mechanism be circulated to Members of the 
Committee. 

Clare Rex - Statutory Operations 
Manager (OPCC) 

Complete - Administration process of the 
review mechanism circulated to Members of 
the Committee. 

27 July 2020 
Minutes & Action Schedule of 8 June 
2020 

16/20 

That the following narrative be added to Minute 4/20: 
“A Member noted that the Committee was responsible for 
independent assurance to the PCC and Chief Constable 
on the adequacy of the governance and risk management 
frameworks and queried the complete omission from the 
risk register of the judicial review, to which the Chief 
Constable was a defendant, given the potential impact on 
reputation and public confidence. The PCC agreed it 
should have been included on the risk register and said 
the process was being reviewed.” 

Committee Manager 
Complete - Minutes amended and published 
on OPCC website. 

27 July 2020 Risk Management Register Update 17/20 
That any long running risks that have not changed status 
or progressed be reviewed on a periodic basis and 
reported to the Committee accordingly.  

James Tabor - Strategic Planning 
Manager (HP) 

Complete - Added to annual cycle of 
business on a 6 monthly basis. 

27 July 2020 Melton 2 Project Update 21/20 
(b) That the plans/presentation slides be placed on the 
secure portal for Members to access. 

Committee Manager 
Complete - Placed under the ‘Reference 
Material’ page on secure portal on 28 July 
2020 for Members to access 

8 June 2020 
Internal Audit Progress Report 
2020/21 

11/20 
That Internal Audit provide an update at a future meeting 
on areas where best practice can be gleamed or 
implemented. 

Internal Audit 
Complete - Updated provided at meeting of 
14 December 2020. 

8 June 2020 Year-End Financial Outturn 2019/20 9/20 

(a) That the link to the Melton 2 Project  Decision Record 
on the Force website be shared with Members; 

(b) That an update on the Melton 2 Project be provided 
as part of a future Member Development Session and 
added to the Annual Cycle of Business 

(a) Assurance Manager (OPCC) 
 

(b) S.151 Officer for the Chief Constable/ 
Committee Manager 

(a) Complete - link shared with Members via 
email 8 June 2020. 
 
(b) Complete - added to Member 
Development session topic list on Annual 
Cycle of Business .Also added as an update 
presentation for 27 July meeting. 
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ROLLING ACTION SCHEDULE OF JOINT INDEPENDENT AUDIT COMMITTEE - HUMBERSIDE POLICE/OFFICE OF POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER 

 

Date of Meeting Agenda Item 
Minute 
Number 

Action Officer to Action Complete/Update 

  

 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

8 June 2020 Risk Management Register Update 4/20 
That an update on the Force Risk Management Register 
be brought to the next meeting. 

Assurance Manager (OPCC) and Head 
of Corporate Development (HP) 

Complete - added to agenda for 27 July 
2020 

8 June 2020 
Risk Management Register Update 
(Revised Complaints Process) 

2/20 

(a) That a briefing on the revised arrangements for dealing 
with Force complaints be placed as a reserve item on 
Annual Cycle of Business and added to a future 
meeting agenda at the appropriate time; 

(b) That an update on the decoupling of the joint HR 
function with South Yorkshire Police be placed as a 
reserve item on Annual Cycle of Business and added 
to a future meeting agenda at the appropriate time; 

(c) That an action schedule be produced for monitoring 
and tracking completed actions. 

(a) Statutory Operations Manager 
(OPCC) 

 
(b) Assistant Chief Officer (Resources) 

 
(c) Committee Manager 

(a) Complete - To be added to the agenda 
for 28 September 2020. 
 
(b) Complete - Added to list of reserve items 
on Annual Cycle of Business 
 
(c) Complete - action schedule updated and 
will be included with the minutes at each 
meeting. 

20 December 2019 Professional Standards Department 373 
That a briefing on the revised arrangements for dealing 
with complaints should be provided to a future meeting 

Claire Rex (OPCC) 
Complete - Added to the agenda for 28 
September 2020. 

20 December 2019 External Audit Progress Report 374 
That more information on the Redmond Review and NAO 
consultation be provided for Members 

External Audit (Mazars) 
Complete - Update provided at meeting of 
14 December 2020. 

20 December 2019 
IS Governance And Financial 
Management 

389 
That the report be noted and an update be brought to the 
next meeting. 

Internal Audit 
Complete - Update provided at 8 June 2020 
meeting. 

23 September 2019 

Implementation Of The Humberside 
Police/Humberside Fire And Rescue 
Service Joint Estates Collaboration 
And Performance Management 

358 
Repeat of 
328 and 

331 

Report to the Fire and Rescue Transformation Board to 
be submitted to a future meeting of the Committee. 

Assistant Chief Officer (Resources) [HP] 
Complete - Fire and Rescue Transformation 
Board no longer in existence. 

23 September 2019 Force Update On Current Issues 358 

T/ACC Young and ACO(R) invited members to attend 
problem solving training in respect of the Neighbourhood 
Policing Strategy and to visit the Hydra Suite at 
Courtland Road and consideration be given to holding 
future meetings at alternative venues. 

T/ACC Young and ACO(R) 
 

Deputy Chief Executive and Treasurer 

Complete - Committee meeting on 9 
December 2019 to be held at Courtland 
Road to allow Hyrda Suite visit. Future 
meetings to be arranged at alternative 
venues if possible. 

23 September 2019 Internal Audit - Progress Report 360 

Members commented on the HMICFRS focus on a 
process in relation to RUI as against using information to 
establish whether its use was correct and to identify 
lessons learned to improve effectiveness. 

Head of Audit/ 
Deputy Chief Executive and Treasurer 

Complete - Use of RUI and HMICFRS focus 
raised at the HMIC Governance Group. 

23 September 2019 
Committee Self-Assessment and 
Annual Report 

363 
Repeat of 
341 and 

351 

Self-Assessment Improvement Plan and updated Draft 
Annual report to be submitted to the next meeting. 

Deputy Chief Executive and Treasurer 
Complete - Updated improvement plan and 
draft annual report on the December 2019 
agenda. 

23 September 2019 Annual Fraud Risk Assessment 367 

The process of Annual Fraud Risk Assessment be 
continued in 2020. The Head of Professional Standards 
Department be asked to present to a future meeting of 
the Committee. 

Deputy Chief Executive and Treasurer/ 
Risk and Governance Officer 

Complete - Annual Fraud Risk Assessment 
to be continued in 2020 and reported to this 
Committee. Head of Professional Standards’ 
briefing on the agenda. 

23 September 2019 Civil Claims 368 
That details of claims submitted and costs during the 
period April to September 2019 be reported to the 
Committee.  

Head of Legal Services 
Complete - Report placed on the Member 
secure area. 

29 July 2019 
Committee Self-Assessment and 
Annual Report  

351 
Self-Assessment Improvement Plan and updated Draft 
Annual report to be submitted to the next meeting. 

Deputy Chief Executive and Treasurer 
Complete - Updated improvement plan and 
draft annual report on the December 2019 
agenda. 

07 June 2019 

Implementation Of The Humberside 
Police/Humberside Fire And Rescue 
Service Joint Estates Collaboration 
And Performance Management 

331 
Report to the Fire and Rescue Transformation Board to 
be submitted to a future meeting of the Committee. 

Assistant Chief Officer (Resources) [HP] 
Complete - Fire and Rescue Transformation 
Board Report to be provided for a future 
meeting 
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ROLLING ACTION SCHEDULE OF JOINT INDEPENDENT AUDIT COMMITTEE - HUMBERSIDE POLICE/OFFICE OF POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER 

Date of Meeting Agenda Item 
Minute 
Number 

Action Officer to Action Complete/Update 

 NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

07 June 2019 Force Update On Current Issues 333 

T/ACC Young and ACO(R) invited members to attend 
problem solving training in respect of the Neighbourhood 
Policing Strategy and to visit the Hydra Suite at 
Courtland Road and consideration be given to holding 
future meetings at alternative venues. 

T/ACC Young and ACO(R) 

Deputy Chief Executive and Treasurer 

Complete - Committee meeting on 9 
December 2019 to be held at Courtland 
Road to allow Hyrda Suite visit. Future 
meetings to be arranged at alternative 
venues if possible. 

07 June 2019 
Committee Self-Assessment and 
Annual Report 

341 
Self-Assessment Improvement Plan and updated Draft 
Annual report to be submitted to the next meeting. Deputy Chief Executive and Treasurer 

Complete - Updated improvement plan and 
draft annual report on the December 2019 
agenda. 

18 March 2019 

Implementation Of The Humberside 
Police/Humberside Fire And Rescue 
Service Joint Estates Collaboration 
And Performance Management 

328 
Report to the Fire and Rescue Transformation Board to 
be submitted to a future meeting of the Committee. 

Assistant Chief Officer (Resources) [HP] 
Complete - Fire and Rescue Transformation 
Board Report to be provided for a future 
meeting 
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JIAC Annual Cycle of Business 

Agenda Item/Issue 

19 

Jun 
2023 

17 

Jul 

2023 

25 

Sep 

2023 

11 

Dec 

2023 

18 
Mar 

2024 

Lead 

Standing Items 

Minutes of previous meeting X X X X X Committee Manager 

Action Schedule X X X X X Committee Manager 

Draft Annual Cycle of Business for next financial year X Committee Manager 

Timetable of Meetings X Committee Manager 

Statutory and Corporate Governance & Risk Management 

Risk Registers (full review) X X Paul Wainwright - Assurance Manager (OPCC)/James Tabor - Strategic Planning Manager (HP) 

Force Complaints Update X X Clare Rex - Statutory Operations Manager (OPCC) 

Draft Annual Governance Statements X Paul Wainwright - Assurance Manager (OPCC) & Jim Wright - Head of Finance and Business Services (HP) 

Declarations of Gifts, Hospitality & Sponsorship (link to Force & OPCC 
websites) 

X Kevin Wilson - Chief Finance Officer (OPCC) & Jim Wright - Head of Finance and Business Services (HP) 

Finance 

Treasury Management Strategy X Kevin Wilson - Chief Finance Officer (OPCC) 

Treasury Management Mid-Term Review X Kevin Wilson - Chief Finance Officer (OPCC) 

Treasury Management Annual Report X Kevin Wilson - Chief Finance Officer (OPCC) 

Draft Accounts X Kevin Wilson - Chief Finance Officer (OPCC) & Jim Wright - Head of Finance and Business Services (HP) 

Audited Accounts X Kevin Wilson - Chief Finance Officer (OPCC) & Jim Wright - Head of Finance and Business Services (HP) 

External Audit 

Audit Strategy Memorandum X Gavin Barker - Mazars (External Audit) 

Report Updates X X Gavin Barker - Mazars (External Audit) 

Audit Completion Report X Gavin Barker - Mazars (External Audit) 

Auditor’s Annual Report X X Gavin Barker - Mazars (External Audit) 

Audit Opinion X X Gavin Barker - Mazars (External Audit) 

Internal Audit 

Annual Audit Plan (Review and Approve) X Neil Rickwood - West Yorkshire Police (Internal Audit) 

Progress Reports (including any final reports) X X X X X Neil Rickwood - West Yorkshire Police (Internal Audit) 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion and Annual Report Neil Rickwood - West Yorkshire Police (Internal Audit) 

Force Update 

Force HMICFRS Assurance Group Update X X X X X JIAC Members 

Update on Numbers and Deployment of Additional Recruited Officers X X Emma Bowen - Head of People Services (HP) 

Additional Items 

3
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 Humberside Police & Crime Commissioner Agenda Item: 
Joint Independent Audit Committee  19 June 2023 

Report of the Head of Audit 

INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 The report sets out the current progress against the 2022/23 (year-end) & 
2023/24 Audit Plans. 

2 BACKGROUND 

2.1 This Progress Report monitors the delivery of work undertaken in relation to 
the provision of shared Internal Audit services as per the Joint Service 
arrangements between West Yorkshire and Humberside Police & Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) and the respective Police Forces. 

Table 1: Summary of Progress against the Audit Plan for 2022/23 (year-end) & 2023/24 

STATUS OF AUDITS 

2022/23* 
(as at year end) 

2023/24 
(as at 8 June 23) 
 APPENDIX A 

Final Reports with Response Received 8 - 

Final Reports – Response Awaited - - 

Final Reports – No Response Required 4 - 

Work Completed/ Advice/ briefings  provided - - 

Draft Reports Issued 1 - 

In Progress 2 5 

TOTAL 15 5 

(*As reported in the 2022/23 Annual Audit Report) 

2.2 Since the March JIAC several reports (Logistics, Management of Offenders, 
Financial Systems and VAIWG Strategy Reports) have been finalised and issued 
as reported in the Annual Audit Report and the only audit requiring finalisation 
from the 2022/23 audit cycle is the Custody Services Review which has been 
issued as a draft report (June 2023). As reported previously the IS audit work 
will be carried forward for completion as part of the 2023/24 audit plan due to 
the delays in obtaining agreement/ approval for a joint audit programme with 
SYP.  

All audits once finalised are made available in full on the members portal. 

2.3 Currently the 2023/24 audit plan has 5 audits being scoped/ in progress, 
including the aforementioned IS audit assignments. 

2.4 To continue the additional commentary provided as part of the progress report 
introduced in September, both the RAG rated audit progress/ status (Appendix 

5
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A) and recommendation follow-up/ action tracker (Appendix B) have been 
updated. 

3 OPTIONS, RISKS AND OPPORTUNITIES 
 
3.1 If the Internal Audit function does not provide an efficient and effective risk 

based audit service the Police and Crime Commissioner and Force will be 
unable to obtain an appropriate level of assurance regarding the system of 
internal control operating within both organisations. 

 
4 POLICING PLAN AND PERFORMANCE 
 
4.1 Internal audit is an assurance function that provides an independent and 

objective opinion to the organisation on the control environment by evaluating 
its effectiveness in achieving the organisation’s objectives. It objectively 
examines, evaluates and reports on the adequacy of the control environment 
as a contribution to the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of 
resources. 

 
5 IMPACTS ON OR LINKS TO COLLABORATION 
 
5.1 The Internal Audit function is provided to the Humberside Police & Crime 

Commissioner and Chief Constable by internal audit staff from the West 
Yorkshire Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner under a s22 agreement 
with the Police and Crime Commissioner for West Yorkshire. 

 
6 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 There are no direct, specific financial implications within the progress report. 

However, individual audits contained within the report may include 
recommendations which contribute to a more effective use of resources and 
enhance the value for money being obtained by the Force/ PCC. In addition, 
wherever practicable, recommendations are made which do not cause the 
PCC/ Force to incur additional costs. 

 
7 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 The Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable are required to 

ensure that appropriate Internal Audit arrangements are in place. 
 
8 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY AND HUMAN RIGHTS  
 
8.1 There are none in the context of this report. 
 
9 CONCLUSION 
 
9.1 The report summarises progress to date against the 2023/24 audit plan and 

updates members on the findings of the External Quality Assessment. 
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10 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 It is recommended that the Joint Independent Audit Committee note the 

contents of the report and discuss any issues arising. 
 
 
Contact Officer: 
Neil Rickwood, Head of Audit       
 
Background documents:   
Appendix A - Audit Plan 2023/24 (to date) 
Appendix B – Recommendation Follow-up & Action Tracker Report 
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Appendix A – 2023/24 Internal Audit Plan and Progress (as at 8 June 2023) 
 

Audit Name Scheduled  Type of Audit  Audit Progress & Status 
 (RAG rated) 

Audit Opinion Description 

Use of Forensic Hits Q1 Risk Scope being agreed.  Review to undertake an audit of the effectiveness 
of the Use of forensic hits in the outcomes of 
investigation of volume crimes. (NB Much of data 
necessary is available from similar audit 
undertaken in WY). 

Violence Against 
Women & Girls Strategy 

Q1-4 Risk (1) VAIWG Strategy: Stalking  
(2) VAIWG Strategy: 

Harassment 
 

(Being scoped commencing Q2) 

 Ongoing programme of work to evaluate/ provide 
assurance regarding HP’s various workstreams 
and overall prevention approach to VAIWG. This 
audit will include coverage under the three ‘pillars’ 
of the VAIWG framework, namely: build trust and 
confidence, relentless perpetrator pursuit and safer 
spaces. A number of crime types reviewed in line 
with the national VAIWG strategy will include 
Stalking, Sexual and other forms of Harassment, 
Domestic Abuse, and Violence in public places and 
online. 

Police Complaints Q1-2 Governance    The audit will consider compliance with current 
complaints legislation, examining complaints 
processes from end to end, taking into 
consideration how effectively phone triaging is 
used for low-level service issues. The audit will also 
assess processes withing the OPCC for the 
management of appeals. 

OPCC Community Safety 
Fund 

Q1-2 Assurance/ 
Support 

  The PCC’s Community Safety Fund offers grants 
towards the costs of community safety and crime 
reduction projects across the Humber area.  It is 
designed to support community organisations to 
kick-start local projects that will cut crime and 
antisocial behaviour and improve feelings of safety. 
The Fund can provide funding of between £500 
and £35,000 towards projects that meet the 
scheme criteria.  A total of £1.1m has been 
allocated to the Fund between 2022/23 and 
2024/25. 
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Audit Name Scheduled  Type of Audit  Audit Progress & Status 
 (RAG rated) 

Audit Opinion Description 

 
The audit will consider the due diligence around 
the allocation of monies within this fund, and 
overall transparency of these decision-making 
processes 

Right Care Right Person Q1-2 Risk   HP have adopted a Right Care Right Person policy 
within the Force Control Room. This approach 
signals a significant change in how HP will respond 
to calls for service in relation to areas including 
Concerns for Safety, Mental Health, and Missing 
Persons. The audit will be an in-depth assessment 
of this policy, across each of the key phases of 
policy implementation. 

IS Change Management 
 

Q3 Assurance/ 
Support 

In Progress – c/f 22/23  IS Audit Programme signed-off by Chief Officers in 
HP & SYP (late 2022). The objective of these 
reviews is to undertake a risk based, system audit 
relating to the change management & asset 
management processes to provide assurance that 
the process is controlled, monitored, and follows 
good practice. 

IS Asset Management Q3-4 Assurance/ 
Support 

In Progress- c/f 22/23  

Financial Systems 
Assurance & Testing 

Q3-4 Financial 
Systems 

  Annual review of Key Financial Systems, including 
Payroll, Debtors, Creditors & Budget Monitoring. 

Follow-Up Exercises 
 

Q1-4 Follow-up    
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 APPENDIX B   
JOINT INDEPENDENT AUDIT COMMITTEE 

 19 June 2023 
 

SUBJECT: UPDATE ON TRACKED ACTIONS & THE FOLLOW-UP OF RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
REPORT OF THE HEAD OF AUDIT 
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To provide the committee with an update on the implementation of previous audit 

recommendations.  
 
2.    KEY INFORMATION 
 
2.1 Internal Audit follow up on recommendations included in reports which resulted in an 

overall assurance opinion of limited or inadequate assurance. Any fundamental 
recommendations within reports with an opinion of substantial or reasonable 
assurance are also followed up on. ‘Significant’ recommendations relating to a review 
with an overall opinion of substantial or reasonable assurance, are followed up by 
exception, depending on the level of risk posed to the organisation. Monitoring of 
‘Merits Attention’ recommendations does not take place, due to the low level of risk 
associated with advisory actions. This enables the section to focus on the review of high-
risk areas, ensuring that action is taken to address significant issues. 
 

2.2 In addition to the primary follow-up activity detailed above Internal Audit also liaise 
with Humberside Police’s Strategic Planning Department who undertake their own 
action tracker activity which seeks updates on management action against all audit 
recommendations irrespective of the overall assurance opinions assigned to the audit 
report, including those assessed as providing reasonable assurance.  In order to provide 
assurance and subsequent reliance on the action tracker work undertaken Internal 
Audit will also dip-sample selected actions to provide evidence and confirmation that 
the closure of recommendations can be considered appropriate.  

 
Current Status  

 
2.3 As part of this initial detailed follow-up/ action tracker report Internal Audit have 

collated the audit reports and follow up work undertaken since 2019/20 into a table 
below.  
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2.4 It is also worth noting in the report that the three audits in relation to the Violence and 

Intimidation against Women & Girls (VAIWG) Strategy all provided REASONABLE 
assurance but made some recommendations for improvement to be factored into the 
overarching VAIWG work through the VAIWG Silver Group and the respective Business 
Area Leads, namely these related to: 

 

• VAIWG Strategy: Domestic Abuse Investigations (3 recommendations for 
improvement)  

• VAIWG Strategy: Domestic Violence Disclosure Scheme (5 recommendations) 

• VAIWG Strategy: Sexual Offences Investigations (2 recommendations) 
 
Current Follow-Up Work 
 
2.5 There is one area of outstanding follow up activity which relates to Golden Hour 

Principle Compliance. An initial follow-up of findings reported in a Briefing Note in 
2021/22 related to issues first identified in 2019. After further discussion this has gone 
to Chief Superintendents on the North & South Banks for discussion under the PIP1 & 
PIP 2 improving investigations board, where some of the work has already been 
referenced & worked upon. Further updates/ evidence to be provided however this 
remains outstanding due to the turnover of senior officers in the key roles referenced. 
Discussions to follow-up this work have re-commenced with new key contacts (June 
2023). 
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Humberside Police & Crime Commissioner  Agenda Item 
Joint Independent Audit Committee    19 June 2023 

Report of the Head of Internal Audit 

INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL OPINION AND OUTTURN REPORT 2022/23 

Report of the Head of Internal Audit  

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 To set out Internal Audit’s Annual Opinion on the internal control environment and 
Outturn Report for 2022/23. 

2 BACKGROUND 

2.1 This report represents the Internal Audit Annual Opinion and Outturn Report 
2022/23 for the Police and Crime Commissioner for Humberside and the Chief 
Constable of Humberside Police, based on the service provided by West Yorkshire 
OPCC staff under a s22 agreement with the Police and Crime Commissioner for West 
Yorkshire. 

2.2 The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 require that the Commissioner 
and Chief Constable maintain an adequate and effective internal audit function.  The 
Financial Regulations require that the Treasurer of the Commissioner and Chief 
Financial Officer of the Chief Constable must be satisfied as to the system of financial 
controls in place and the effectiveness of the financial administration system.  This 
report should contribute towards a discharge of those responsibilities. 

2.3 The Internal Audit services are provided in compliance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards (PSIAS) which define internal auditing as an independent, objective 
assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve an 
organisation’s operations. It helps an organisation accomplish its objectives by 
bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 
effectiveness of risk management, internal control and governance processes. 

2.4 As previously reported, in line with PSIAS requirements, the Internal Audit function 
was subject to an External Quality Assessment (EQA) in May 2022 that provided 
confirmation and assurance that the audit strategy and planning processes adopted 
conforms to the International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal 
Auditing (IPPF).    

2.5  This report also provides commentary and assurances on the internal control 
environment that contribute to the Annual Governance Statement of the 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable. 

6
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2.6 Internal Audit had by necessity over the last three years adapted their audit 
approach during and post the pandemic. The function now has well established, 
embedded hybrid working arrangements which ensures audit activity and a visible 
audit presence is maintained through a pragmatic combination of both on-site and 
virtual meetings. 

 
2.7   The opinion provided is based upon the audit programme undertaken during 

2022/23. Of 16 audited areas where opinions were provided, fourteen audits were 
rated as providing reasonable assurance, one was rated as substantial assurance and 
only one area (Vetting) provided a limited opinion. 

 
2.8  Overall Internal Audit considers that on the basis of the audit work undertaken and 

subject to the caveats detailed below (Appendix A), that this equates to an overall 
opinion of REASONABLE Assurance, demonstrating a positive direction of travel and 
reflects the audit opinions provided in several operational areas of business. 

 
3 OPTIONS/RISK AND OPPORTUNITIES 

 
3.1 If the Internal Audit function does not provide efficient and effective risk based audit 

service the PCC and Chief Constable will be unable to obtain an appropriate level of 
assurance regarding the system of internal control operating within the organisation.   

 
4 POLICING PLAN AND PERFORMANCE 

4.1 Internal audit is an assurance function that provides an independent and objective 
opinion to the organisation on the control environment by evaluating its 
effectiveness in achieving the organisation’s objectives. It objectively examines, 
evaluates and reports on the adequacy of the control environment as a contribution 
to the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources. 

 

5 IMPACTS ON OR LINKS TO COLLABORATION 

5.1 The Internal Audit function is provided to the Humberside Police & Crime 
Commissioner and Chief Constable by West Yorkshire OPCC internal audit staff under 
s22 agreement with the Police and Crime Commissioner for West Yorkshire.  The 
WYIA function is working on a collaborative and liaising where necessary with the 
SYP auditors regarding any remaining collaborative work streams, namely 
Information Systems.  

 
6 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 
6.1 This report illustrates how Internal Audit resources have been directed during the 

2022/23 financial year, discharging the proposed annual audit programme of 250 
days.  
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7 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1 The Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable are required to ensure that 
appropriate Internal Audit arrangements are in place. 

 
8 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 

 
8.1  There are none in the context of this report.   
 
9 CONCLUSIONS 

 
9.1 This report provides commentary that Internal Audit’s Annual Opinion on the 

internal control environment for 2022/23 has been assessed, subject to the provisos 
detailed, as providing reasonable assurance. 

 
10 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
10.1 It is recommended that Members note the contents of the report and discuss any 

issues arising. 
 
 

NEIL RICKWOOD 
Head of Audit 

 
Contact Officers: 
Neil Rickwood, Head of Audit      
 
Background Papers: 
Appendix A – Internal Control Assessment 
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Appendix A: 2022/23 Internal Control Assessment 

 
The annual audit opinion is determined using information and conclusions drawn from a 
number of sources during the course of the annual audit programme.  These include: 
 

1. A categorisation of individual audit opinions; 
2. Specific findings relating to the main financial systems; 
3. An analysis of the significant areas of concern relating to other key systems; 
4. Findings relating to investigative/ irregularity work undertaken during the year; 
5. Implementation of previous recommendations in areas of significant weakness; 
6. Examples of added value; and 
7. Summary of performance indicators. 

 
1 Summary of Audit Opinions 2022/23 
  

Audit 
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OHU  ⚫    

VAIWG Strategy: Domestic Abuse 
(DA) Investigations 

 
⚫ 

   

VAIWG Strategy: Domestic Violence 
Disclosure Scheme 

 
⚫ 

   

VAIWG Strategy: Sexual Offences 
Investigations 

 
⚫ 

   

Serious Sexual Offences (SSO) 
investigation quality 

 
⚫ 

   

Force Vetting   ⚫   

Overtime Processes ⚫     

Victim Code Compliance  ⚫    

Custody Services  ⚫
1      

Logistics  ⚫    

Management of Offenders  ⚫    

Follow-Up Exercises 
Crime Screening 

 ⚫    

Financial Systems: payroll  ⚫    

Financial Systems: creditors  ⚫
    

Financial Systems: debtors  ⚫    

Financial Systems: pensions  ⚫    

 
 ⚫

1   Currently in draft 
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1.1 All audits are given a score of between one (highest level of assurance) and four 
(inadequate assurance) dependent on the level of risks identified.  Equating the four 
levels of audit assessment of internal control for each audit to a numerical scale, a 
score of 2.0 is achieved.  

 
Previous Internal Control Scores 

 
Year 
 

2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20 

 
Internal Control Score 
 

 
2.0 

 
2.25 

 
2.23 

 
2.4 

 
1.2 For the purposes of the annual report this equates to an overall opinion of 

REASONABLE Assurance, demonstrating a continued consolidation of the positive 
direction of travel previously reported as indicated by the lower internal control score.  

 
2 Main Financial Systems 
 
2.1     The full audit of financial systems during the 2022/23 financial year has recently been 

reported and concluded that progress continues to be made.  Whilst there are still 
some areas for improvement, particularly in respect of debt recovery of payroll 
overpayments, overall, there is reasonable assurance that the Force’s core financial 
systems are being effectively monitored and managed in accordance with 
documented policy and procedure.   

 
2.2   Internal Audit had previously reported that they were satisfied that the improved 

system capabilities, controls and processes to be implemented as part of the upgrade 
to the Oracle Cloud system would provide added assurance in relation to some 
identified areas for improvement.  At the time of the reporting of the 2022/23 
financial year, whilst the force was no longer pursuing an upgrade to the Oracle Cloud 
system, options were still being considered in respect of an on-site upgrade to the 
Oracle system or replacement and as a result, some of the improved capabilities that 
would be provided as part of an upgrade are yet to be realised. 
 

3 Areas of Concern 
 
3.1 Although two IS audits have been agreed and commenced as part of the 2022/23 

audit plan the resources and capacity within the IS function to enable audits to be 
completed in a timely fashion remains a concern, hence the need to carry forward 
both audits to 2023/24. 

 
3.2 As a general concern data quality remains an issue, broadly categorised as falling into 

the widely accepted data quality characteristics of completeness, consistency, 
accuracy, validity and timeliness. There continues to be a range of causal factors such 
as human error, poor compliance with processes & procedures, inadequate processes 
& procedures, and data being housed across a multitude of operational systems & 
applications. Internal Audit continues to provide commentary on this across our audit 
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programme whenever necessary even where we have assessed audited areas as 
providing reasonable assurance. 

   
4 Investigations/ Irregularity Work 
 
4.1 During the course of the year Internal Audit has had no involvement in investigative or 

irregularity work.  Should the need have arisen during 2022/23 the Audit Plan would 
have been adjusted accordingly or alternatively additional audit days agreed.  

 
5 Follow Up Work 
                    
5.1     Internal Audit has one follow-up exercise relating to Crime Screening which provided 

reasonable assurance. In addition a previous audit on Golden Hours Principles relating 
to 2021/22 audit coverage continued to be the subject of follow-up activity during 
2022/23 and this currently provides limited assurance that recommendations have/ 
are being implemented.   

 
6 Added Value 
 
6.1 During the year Internal Audit continued to provide a significant support and liaison 

function, particularly to the Chief Officer Team.  Internal Audit had by necessity 
adapted their audit approach through the pandemic and now has well established, 
embedded hybrid working arrangements which ensures audit activity and a visible 
audit presence is maintained through a pragmatic combination of on-site and virtual 
meetings.  This ensures an effective use of finite audit resources. 
 

6.2 IA have become part of the HMICFRS Integrated PEEL Assessment & Governance 
Board oversight processes in HP. This enhances engagement by Internal Audit across 
key areas of organisational risk.  
 

7 Performance Measurements 
 
7.1 Internal Audit prepares various Performance Indicators to enable ongoing monitoring 

and to allow comparisons to be made.  A year end summary of performance against 
these is provided below: 

 Summary of Performance Indicators 2022/23 

Output Indicators 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Audit Days Charged 250 250 250 

Number of Reports 11 12 13 

Timeliness Indicators    

% of Final Reports issued within 5 working days of 
Draft discussion 

100% 100% 100% 

% of Audits finished within timescale indicated in 
Audit Brief 

40% 30% 30% 

Quality Indicators    

Recommendations (Fundamental/ Significant)  
where Management Action does NOT fully address 
risk 

0% 0% 0% 
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Client Surveys - % Excellent / Good 85% 100% 100% 

Client Surveys - % below Fair 5% 0% 0% 
  

7.2 In total all 250 audit days were delivered against an original audit plan of 250 days.  
 
7.3 The timeliness of issuing the final report shortly after the final discussion remains at 

100%, whilst the proportion of audits finished within the timescale indicated in the 
audit brief has continued to remain low.  The timeliness of audit completion has been 
impacted by the protracted nature of audit activity which remains an issue, primarily 
this is as a result of the challenges in obtaining and agreeing management responses 
required to finalise reports. In order to mitigate these timeliness concerns IA are both 
looking to undertake more tightly scoped audits with performance reported against 
the timescales taken to issue as ‘final reports awaiting a management response’ as an 
additional KPI which should provide a fairer reflection of the timeliness performance 
of the audit function. 

 
7.4 No recommendations of a fundamental or significant nature were made and not 

adequately responded to.  In accordance with the requirements of the PSIAS, it can 
therefore be confirmed by the Head of Internal Audit that in their professional opinion 
there has been no decision made by management to tolerate an unacceptable level of 
risk to the organisation. 

 
7.5 The survey results continue to indicate a high level of satisfaction (100% Good/ 

Excellent) with the work that we undertake, from those involved in the audit.  
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TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23 
SUMMARY 

1. This report provides the Police and Crime Commissioner with a review of the treasury management
activity and Prudential Indicators for the year 2022/23.

2. The report shows full compliance with the Commissioner’s Prudential Indicators for 2022/23 and was
also considered by the Joint Independent Audit Committee on 19 June 2023.

RECOMMENDATIONS

3. That the Commissioner takes assurance from the treasury management activities undertaken during
2022/23 and the Prudential Indicators as outlined in paragraphs 14 and 15 and detailed in Appendix 1.

BACKGROUND

4. Treasury Management, as defined by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIFPA)
Code of Practice 2009 is:

‘‘The management of the organisation’s investments and cash-flows, its banking and money market and
capital market transactions, the effective control of the risks associated with those activities and the
pursuit of the optimum performance consistent with those risks.’’

5. One of the main requirements of the CIPFA Code is that the Commissioner receives an annual report
detailing treasury management activities within the year and compliance with the annual Treasury
Management Policy.

6. This report provides the Commissioner with details of the treasury management activities and Prudential
Indicators for the 2022/23 financial year in line with the requirements of the Code.

INVESTMENT ACTIVITY

7. The Commissioner’s temporary investments totalled £9m on 31 March 2023.

Table 1 – Investment income earned 2022/23

Interest Earned 
2022/23  

Rate 
of return 
2022/23 

Benchmark 
return 

2022/23* 

Difference 
(+ favourable) 

£480,806 5.34% 4.18% +1.16%

* Benchmark set as the Average SONIA rate for the year

8. Interest earned during 2022/22 was £390k higher than originally budgeted for in respect of investment
activity for the year, due to more favourable interest rates than anticipated and a higher level of
investments.

BORROWING

Short-Term Borrowing

9. The Commissioner seeks to use of short-term borrowing to fund temporary cash shortfalls. The
Commissioner did not make use of short-term borrowing during the year.
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Long-Term Borrowing 
 

10. Long-term loans are taken out either to replace existing loans which have matured or to fund capital 
expenditure. Under the Prudential Regime there are no longer centrally imposed limits on borrowing, but 
individual Commissioners are required to determine  themselves what is a sustainable and affordable 
level of borrowing as an integral part of their Medium-Term Financial Planning processes.  

 
11. The Commissioner’s average level of borrowing was £103.6m for 2022/23, on which £2.3m of interest 

was payable. The Commissioner repaid £3.2m of PWLB debt upon maturity and did not take any new 
borrowing during 2022/23.  Closing PWLB debt at 31 March 2023 was £102m. 

 
 PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 

 
12. Appendix 1 details the agreed Prudential Indicators for 2022/23 and the actual figures for 2022/23. 
 
13. During the financial year the Commissioner operated wholly within the limits approved. 

 
Capital Expenditure 
 

14. The Chief Finance Officer/S.151 Officer considers the current capital programme to be affordable and 
sustainable with the revenue effects of capital investment built into the Medium-Term Resource 
Strategy. Through the Medium-Term Financial Planning Process, the Commissioner has aligned resources 
to key strategic priorities. 
 
Treasury Management 
 

15. Based on the Operational Boundary definition, external debt at 31 March 2023 was £48m below the 
agreed Operational Boundary for 2022/23 and the maturity structure for both borrowing and 
investments remain within the approved upper and lower limits. Subsequent borrowing or re-scheduling 
during 2022/23 will consider prevailing interest rates on offer from the Public Works Loans Board, the 
current maturity structure of loans, balanced with the need to reduce capital risk by keeping down cash-
balances. 
 
STRATEGIC PLAN COMPATIBILITY 
 

16. Treasury management is an integral part of the financial management of the Commissioner. Utilising 
approved borrowing and investment strategies will maximise investment income whilst minimising 
exposure to liquidity and market risks. 
 
FINANCIAL/RESOURCES/VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS 
 

17. The continued approach to investment of surplus funds is designed to further mitigate against potential 
losses because of counterparty failure and reflects a prudent approach to treasury management activity. 

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

18. The Commissioner must comply with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice on  Treasury 
Management and the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2008. This report ensures such compliance. 
 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT/HR IMPLICATIONS 
 

19. No direct issues arise from this report. 
 
CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
 

20. The application of and regular monitoring thereafter of a prudent Treasury Management Policy and 
related Prudential Indicators ensures that the Commissioner effectively manages financial risks whilst 
minimising borrowing costs and maximising investment income.  It is therefore key to good financial 
management and an important element of the Medium-Term Financial Planning Process. 

 
 HEALTH AND SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 
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21. No issues arising. 
 
 COMMUNICATIONS ACTIONS ARISING 
 
22. No direct issues arising. 
 
 DETAILS OF CONSULTATION AND/OR COLLABORATION 
 
23. The Commissioner’s treasury management strategy has been developed using market information and 

specialist advice supplied by the Commissioner’s treasury management advisors. 
 
 BACKGROUND PAPERS  
 
24. ‘Treasury Management and Capital Expenditure Prudential Indicators, Treasury Management Policy 

Statement 2022/23 and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) for 2022/23’  
 CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2009 
  
 RECOMMENDATION RESTATED 
 
25. That the Commissioner takes assurance from the treasury management activities undertaken during 

2022/23 and the Prudential Indicators as outlined in paragraphs 14 and 15 and detailed in Appendix 1. 
 

   K WILSON 
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER/S151 OFFICER TO THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISIONER FOR HUMBERSIDE 
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          Appendix 1 
  

Prudential Indicators 2022/23  
a)   Capital Expenditure 
  
Indicator 1 - Capital Expenditure  
The actual capital expenditure for the current year compared to the revised budget, together with estimates of 
expenditure to be incurred in future years are shown below: 

  

 2022/23 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

  Revised Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate 

 £k £k £k £k £k 

      

Total Capital expenditure 13,107 11,348 9,937 11,255 10,396 

      
 The underspend against the revised 2022/23 budget reflects slippage across ICT Schemes due to IT supply issues. 

  
Indicator 2 - Capital Financing Requirement 
The capital financing requirement for 2022/23 and estimates for future years are as follows: 
  

  
Revised 
Estimate Actual Estimate Estimate 

 
Estimate 

  31/03/23 31/03/23 31/03/24 31/03/25 31/03/26 

  £k £k £k £k £k 

Capital Financing Requirement  125,932 121,148 132,805 135,820 137,597 

 
The capital financing requirement measures the Commissioner’s need to borrow for capital purposes. In 
accordance with best professional practice, the Commissioner does not associate borrowing with particular 
items or types of expenditure. The Commissioner has, at any point in time, a number of cash flows both positive 
and negative, and manages its treasury position in terms of its borrowings and investments in accordance with 
its approved Strategy. In day to day cash management, no distinction can be made between revenue cash and 
capital cash. External borrowing arises as a consequence of all the financial transactions of the Commissioner 
and not simply those arising from capital spending. In contrast, the capital financing requirement reflects the 
Commissioner’s underlying need to borrow for a capital purpose.  A key indicator of prudence under the 
Prudential Code is: - 
 
“In order to ensure that over the medium term net borrowing will only be for a capital purpose, the local 
authority should ensure that net external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the 
capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital financing 
requirement for the current and next two financial years”.  
 
The Chief Finance Officer/S.151 Officer reports that the Commissioner has had no difficulty meeting this 
requirement during the course of this financial year and no difficulties are envisaged in future years. This takes 
into account current commitments, existing plans and the proposals contained in the Medium Term Resource 
Strategy.  
 
Indicator 3 – Core Funds and Expected Investment Balances 
The total core funds and expected investments for 2022/23 and future years are as follows: 
 

 2022/23 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

  Revised Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate 

 £k £k £k £k £k 

Total Core Funds 20,500 30,800 14,300 8,400 5,700 

 

Expected Investments (2,410) (1,979) (7,996) (9,801)      (10,606) 

 
The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital expenditure or other budget 
decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing impact on investments unless resources are 
supplemented each year from new sources (asset sales etc.) 
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b)   Treasury Management 
 
Indicator 4 - Operational Boundary for External Debt 
The proposed operational boundary for external debt is based on the same estimates as the authorised limit but 
reflects directly the S.151 Officer’s estimate of the most likely, prudent but not worst case scenario, without the 
additional headroom included within the authorised limit to allow for example for unusual cash movements, 
and equates to the maximum of external debt projected by this estimate. The operational boundary represents 
a key management tool for in year monitoring by the Chief Finance Officer/S.151 Officer.  
 

 2022/23 Actual 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

 
Operational 

Boundary 
as at 

31/03/23 
Operational 

Boundary 
Operational 

Boundary 
Operational 

Boundary 

 £k £k £k £k £k 

Borrowing 150,000 101,997 150,000 150,000 150,000 

 
The Chief Finance Officer/S.151 Officer confirms that borrowing in the year has not exceeded the operational 
boundary at any point within the year and is not expected to do so over the course of the next period based on 
information currently available. 
 
Indicator 5 - Authorised Limit for External Debt  
The table below shows the Authorised limit for External Debt for 2022/23 and subsequent three year period as 
approved by the Commissioner compared to the actual level of borrowing as at 31 March 2023. 
 

 2022/23 Actual  2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

 
Authorised 

Limit 
as at 

31/03/23 
Authorised 

Limit 
Authorised 

Limit 
Authorised 

Limit 

 £k £k £k £k £k 

Borrowing 180,000 101,997 180,000 180,000 180,000 

 
The Authorised Limit reflects the Commissioner’s projected long and short term borrowing requirements, 
together with any other long-term liabilities it may have.  The figures are  based on the estimate of most likely, 
prudent but not worst case scenario, with sufficient headroom over and above this to allow for operational 
management of, for example unusual cash movements.  
 
The Chief Finance Officer/S.151 Officer confirms that the Authorised Limit has not been approached at any point 
during the year. 
  
Indicator 6 - Ratio of Capital Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 
The ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream for the current year and estimates for future years are as 
follows: - 

 2022/23 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

 Estimate Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate 

 % % % % % 

Ratio of Financial Costs      

to Net Revenue Stream 3.3 3.2 3.8 4.3 4.4 

 
These ratios indicate the proportion of the net budget of the Commissioner that is required to finance the costs 
of capital expenditure in any year. Estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals 
contained in the capital programme of the Commissioner. 
 
In calculating the ratio, Net Revenue Streams in any year have been taken to exclude any element of the net 
budget requirement that is intended to provide reserves for the Commissioner. 
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Indicator 7 – Upper and Lower Limits for the maturity structure of borrowings 
This indicator seeks to ensure the Commissioner controls its exposure to the risk of interest rate changes by 
limiting the proportion of debt maturing in any single period. Ordinarily debt is replaced on maturity and 
therefore it is important that the Commissioner is not forced to replace a large proportion of loans at a time of 
relatively high interest rates. 
 
“The Authority will set for the forthcoming financial year both upper and lower limits with respect to the 
maturity structure of its borrowings.  The prudential indicators will be referred to as the upper and lower limits 
respectively for the maturity structure of borrowing and shall be calculated as follows: 
 

Amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate maturing in each period expressed as a percentage 
of total projected borrowing that is fixed rate;  
 
Where the periods in question are: 

▪ Under 12 months 
▪ 12 months and within 24 months 
▪ 24 months and within 5 years 
▪ 5 years and within 10 years 
▪ 10 years and above” 
 

 (Paragraph 74 of the code) 
 

 Actual as at 
31/03/23 

Upper Limit Lower Limit 

 % % % 

Under 12 Months 3.46 15 0 

12 months and within 24 months 3.17 15 0 

24 months and within 5 years 9.69 30 0 

5 years and within 10 years 16.52 60 0 

10 years and above 67.16 80 0 

 
The Chief Finance Officer/S.151 Officer confirms that the maturity structure of external debt as at 31 March 
2023 is within the upper and lower limits approved by the Commissioner. 
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NARRATIVE REPORT TO THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 

INTRODUCTION TO THE HUMBERSIDE POLICE FORCE AREA 
 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the financial performance of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.  These accounts have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2022/23 published by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA). 
 
The purpose of the narrative report is to offer interested parties a fair, balanced and easily 
understandable guide to the most significant matters reported in the accounts.  The inevitable use 
of technical language has been kept to a minimum.  A ‘Glossary of Terms’ (to help explain some 
of the technical terms) can be found in the appendices.   
 

ABOUT THE PCC FOR HUMBERSIDE 
 
The Humberside Police Force area is located on the north east coast of England, equidistant from 
London, Edinburgh and Rotterdam.  It covers the local authority areas of the East Riding of 
Yorkshire, Kingston upon Hull, North East Lincolnshire and North Lincolnshire. 
 
It has a total area of c1,300 square miles around the Humber Estuary and has a population of 
over 900,000.  Nearly 90% of the area is rural.  Its main settlement and commercial capital is 
Kingston upon Hull. Major settlements include the port of Grimsby, Cleethorpes, Bridlington, 
Scunthorpe, Beverley and Goole, the UK’s most inland port. 
 
The area maintains its strong maritime heritage and the port infrastructure accounts for more than 
15% of the UK overseas trade.  It is estimated that one million people a year travel to and from 
continental Europe by ferry via Hull and a further quarter of a million people travel on domestic 
and international flights from Humberside Airport.  
 
Jonathan Evison is the PCC (elected in May 2021) and Lee Freeman is the Chief Constable.  The 
PCC’s Police and Crime Plan covers the period 2021-25.  
 
The Chief Constable has developed a ‘Plan on a page’, refreshed in August 2020, which is 
included on the next page. 
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FORCE PERFORMANCE 
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CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER’S STATEMENT 
 
This is the Statements of Accounts for the PCC for Humberside for 2022/23.  
 
The accounts provide a record of the financial position and performance for the year and 
incorporate transactions relating to the Force, the PCC and for the PCC Group reflecting the 
combined position of both organisations.  
 
The PCC Group position represents the consolidated financial statements of the PCC and the 
subsidiary, the Chief Constable.  Where the PCC Group position differs from the PCC position 
this is made clear in the financial statements and notes. 
 
Separate statutory financial statements have been prepared for the Chief Constable. 
 
Annual Governance Statements for the PCC and for Humberside Police for 2022/23 have been 
published separately and are available on the PCC and Force websites. 
 
Explanation of Accounting Statements 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting. 
 
The financial statements reflect the current legislative framework as well as the local 
arrangements operating in practice.  Key elements of this framework include: 
 

• The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (PRSRA); 

• The Home Office Financial Management Code of Practice for the Police Forces for 

England and Wales and Fire and Rescue Authorities created under Section 4A of the Fire 

and Rescue Services Act 2004 (July 2018). 

 
The Corporate Governance Framework includes:- 

• A statement of corporate governance – statutory framework and local policy; 

• A code of corporate governance – setting out how the good governance core principles 

will be implemented; 

• A scheme of corporate governance – defines the parameters within which the corporations 

sole will conduct their business; 

• Separate policy and procedures for each corporation sole, with protocols where they 

operate jointly. 

 
The basic position remains that the Commissioner is responsible for the finances of the whole 
PCC Group and controls the assets, the majority of liabilities and reserves.  The PCC received all 
income and funding and made all payments for the PCC Group from the PCC Police Fund. 
 
In turn, the Chief Constable continued to have the duty to fulfil prescribed functions under the 
PRSRA within the annual budget (set by the PCC in consultation with the Chief Constable) in line 
with the approved Corporate Governance Framework.  This Framework sets out how the two 
“corporations sole” will discharge their respective responsibilities. 
 
The Statement of Responsibilities details the responsibilities of the PCC/Chief and the Chief 
Finance Officer/S.151 Officer for the Accounts.  This statement is signed and dated by Chief 
Finance Officer/S.151 Officer under a statement that the accounts give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the PCC Group at the accounting date and its income and expenditure for the 
year ended 31 March. 
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The Movement in Reserves Statements shows the movement in the year on the different 
reserves held by the PCC Group.  This statement is split into usable and unusable reserves; the 
usable reserves are those that can be used by the PCC to fund expenditure; and the unusable 
reserves are those reserves that are required to mitigate the effect of some transactions on council 
tax and those reserves that are created to mitigate unrealised gains and losses. 
 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statements shows the accounting cost of 
providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the 
amount to be funded from taxation. The PCC raises taxation in accordance with regulations which 
are different from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in the Movement in 
Reserves Statements (the movement on usable reserves). 
 
The Balance Sheets which shows the value of the assets and liabilities recognised by the PCC 
Group and the PCC at the Balance Sheet date. 
 
The Cash Flow Statement which shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents during the 
year.  This statement shows how the PCC generates and uses its cash and cash equivalents by 
classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. 
 
The Pension Fund Account which shows the movements relating to the police pension fund 
 
The notes to the accounting records provide more detail about the accounting policies and 
individual transactions.  
 
2022/23 Financial Year 
 
The PCC approved an original budget in February 2022 of £219.997m which following a mid-year 

financial review was revised to £217.192m after consultation with Branch Commanders / Heads 

of Department in conjunction with the Force Finance Team. The budget was realigned in 

November to reflect these changes and monitoring against this revised budget was undertaken 

during the second half of the year. 

 
Actual expenditure for the year was £216.206m, an underspend of £0.986m.  There were 

underspends/over-recovery of income or savings in the following areas:  

• £0.760m due to the overshoot of the Police Officer uplift programme; 

Reserves at the start of 2022/23 totalled £25.4m. The total level of reserves at 31 March 2023 

stands at £30.8m.   

 
The original savings target within the Medium-Term Resource Strategy (MTRS) for 2022/23 was 

£1.5m, the Force managed to achieve savings of £1.671m.  The main areas of savings were 

achieved through: 

• Savings achieved through Organisational Reviews (£0.205m); 

• Non Pay Savings (£0.846m); 

• Overtime savings (£0.200m); 

• PCSO Savings (£0.360m). 
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A summary of capital performance compared to budget is shown in the table below:- 

 

CAPITAL 

PROGRAMME 

2022/23 

BUDGET £m 

2022/23 

ACTUAL £m 

VARIANCE 

£m 

Estates 

Programme 

2.714 2.467 (0.247) 

ICT Programme 7.624 6.107 (1.517) 

Vehicles & 

Equipment 

2.769 2.773 0.004 

Grand Total 13.107 11.347 (1.760) 

 
The main areas of expenditure during 2022/23 were IT expenditure. 

 

Financing of Capital Expenditure 
 
The PCC has a rolling capital programme that is reviewed throughout the year.  The programme 
is financed by external borrowing, capital receipts and revenue contributions. 
 
Humberside PCC Reserves 
 
Balances at 1 April 2022 stood at £25.4m. £5.1m was transferred to Earmarked Reserves during 
2022/23.  £0.3m was transferred to the General Reserve, balances at 31 March 2023 now stand 
at £30.8m. 
 
Future Spending Plans 
 
The PCC has published a MTRS for 2023/24 to 2027/28 which sets out the overall shape of the 
PCCs budget.  It establishes how available resources will best deliver the Police and Crime Plan 
and mitigate corporate risks identified.  The current level of PWLB borrowing is £101.997m. The 
operational boundary is £150.000m and the authorised limit is £180.000m (these are part of the 
PCC’s prudential indicators that have been previously agreed in the PCC’s Treasury Management 
report; Published March 2023). 

 
International Accounting Standard 19 (IAS 19) 
 
IAS 19 requires employers to report the full cost of pension benefits as they are earned, regardless 
of whether they have been paid for. The total long term pension asset is £40m (2021/22 Nil) which 
relates to a pension surplus on the Local Government Pension Scheme. The total long term 
pension liability is £1,692m (2021/22 was £2,444m) which relates to the Police Pension Scheme 
(the 2021/22 pension liability included £94m relating to the Local Government Pension Scheme 
and £2,350m relating to the Police Pension Scheme). It should be noted that IAS 19 does not 
impact upon the level of balances held by the PCC.  (Under IAS 19 injury awards are now 
recognised in the PCC Group accounts). 

 
Humberside Police Pension Fund Account 
 
The Financial Statements include a separate section for the Humberside Police Pension Fund 
Account.  Under the pension funding arrangements each PCC in England is required by legislation 
to operate a Pension Fund and the amounts that must be paid into and out of the fund are specified 
by regulation. 
 
Change in Statutory Function 
 
There have been no changes to the PCC’s statutory functions during 2022/23. 
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Significant Changes in Accounting Policies 
 
There have been no significant changes to the accounting policies used by the PCC. 

 
Material Events after 31 March 
 
There have been no material events after the 31 March balance sheet date. 

 
Going Concern 
 
The MTRS ensures a balanced budget over the medium term.  The PCC for Humberside and 
Humberside Police will remain a Going Concern. 

 
Further Information 
 
You can also find more information about the finances of the PCC and the Force on the 
respective websites and www.humberside.police.uk 
 
Acknowledgement 
 
I would like to express my appreciation to Sabine Braddy, who completed the majority of the work 
on these accounts, and to colleagues within the Force Finance Team for their assistance in 
compiling the financial statements.  I would also like to thank the Assistant Chief Officer 
(Resources), the Head of Finance and other operational managers within the Force for their 
support.   
 
Kevin Wilson BSc Econ (Hons), FCPFA  
Chief Finance Officer to the Police and Crime Commissioner for Humberside – May 2023 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

 

The Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s 
Responsibilities 

The Police and Crime Commissioner is required: 
▪ To make arrangements for the proper administration of financial 

affairs and to ensure that one of the officers (the Chief Finance 
Officer) has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  

▪ To manage its affairs to ensure economic, efficient and effective 
use of resources and to safeguard its assets. 

▪ To approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
I approve this Statement of Accounts. 
 
 
 
 

 
Date 

 
 

Jonathan Evison 
Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Humberside 
 

  

Chief Finance 
Officer’s 
Responsibilities 

The Chief Finance Officer of the PCC is responsible for the preparation 
of the PCC’s statement of accounts which, in accordance with the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
(the ‘Code of Practice’), issued by the CIPFA is required to present 
fairly the financial position of the PCC and the PCC Group at the 
accounting date, and its income and expenditure for the year ended 
31 March 2023. 
 
In preparing this statement of accounts, the Chief Finance Officer has:  

▪  
▪ Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them 

consistently; 
▪ Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and      

prudent; 
▪ Complied with the Code of Practice. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer has also: 
▪ Kept proper accounting records which were up to date; 
▪ Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud 
and other irregularities. 
 

I certify that the attached Statement of Accounts present a true and fair view of the position 
of the PCC and the PCC Group as at 31 March 2023 and the income and expenditure for 
the year. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Date 

 
     
 
 
 
31 May 2023 

Kevin Wilson FCPFA 
Chief Finance Officer 
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT FOR THE PCC GROUP 
 

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year for the PCC Group of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation.  PCCs raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with statutory requirements; 
this may be different from the accounting cost.  The taxation position is shown in both the Expenditure and Funding Analysis note and the Movement 
in Reserves Statement.   
 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure Income Net Note Expenditure Income Net

44,158          (122)         44,036       Northbank Division 48,120          (112)          48,008     

30,714          (450)         30,264       Southbank Division 33,194          (478)          32,716     

20,150          (98)           20,052       Force Control Room 20,719          (189)          20,530     

12,254          -               12,254       Protecting Vulnerable People 13,770          (1)             13,769     

9,644            (908)         8,736         Regional Collaboration 12,493          (2,950)       9,543       

14,746          (1,166)      13,580       Special Operations Unit 15,154          (1,183)       13,971     

17,336          (2,956)      14,380       Specialist Crime 16,194          (1,938)       14,256     

13,812          (604)         13,208       People Services 15,308          (307)          15,001     

10,778          (3,009)      7,769         Estates Services 13,874          (3,542)       10,332     

13,475          (312)         13,163       Information Services 10,819          (293)          10,526     

12,721          (829)         11,892       Corporate Development 7,683            (792)          6,891       

-                   -               -            Criminal Justice (previously part of Corporate Development) 5,717            (97)           5,620       

34,414          (2,701)      31,713       Centrally Managed Services 27,102          (3,647)       23,455     

23,343          (7,435)      15,908       Other Services 24,010          (7,305)       16,705     

7,103            (2,568)      4,535         Police & Crime Commissioner 10,104          (5,407)       4,697       

264,648         (23,158)     241,490     Cost of Services - Continuing Operations 274,261        (28,241)     246,020   

74                 -               74              Other Operating Expenditure 8 299              (17)           282          

51,067          (27)           51,040       Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 9 66,960          (481)          66,479     

-                   (243,032)   (243,032)    Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 10 -                   (261,225)   (261,225)  

49,572       (Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 51,556     

(9,416)        (Surplus) or Deficit on Revaluation of Non Current Assets (47,675)    

(62,026)      Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability 33 (846,347)  

(71,442)      Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (Surplus)/Deficit (894,022)  

(21,870)      Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (Surplus)/Deficit (842,466)  

Year Ended 31 March 2022 Year Ended 31 March 2023
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT FOR THE PCC 
 
This statement shows the accounting cost in the year for the PCC of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, 
rather than the amount to be funded from taxation.  PCCs raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with statutory requirements; this may 
be different from the accounting cost.  The taxation position is shown in both the Expenditure and Funding Analysis and the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. Resources of the PCC consumed at the request of the Chief Constable during the year are shown for comparative purposes. The 
consolidated accounting cost and funding for the PCC Group for the year is shown on the preceding page. 
 

Chief Constable Chief Constable

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure Income Net Expenditure Note Expenditure Income Net Expenditure

-                   (122)         (122)           44,158                 Northbank Division -                   (112)          (112)        48,120                 

-                   (450)         (450)           30,714                 Southbank Division -                   (478)          (478)        33,194                 

-                   (98)           (98)            20,150                 Force Control Room -                   (189)          (189)        20,719                 

-                   -               -                12,254                 Protecting Vulnerable People -                   (1)             (1)            13,770                 

-                   (908)         (908)           9,644                   Regional Collaboration -                   (2,950)       (2,950)      12,493                 

-                   (1,166)      (1,166)        14,746                 Special Operations Unit -                   (1,183)       (1,183)      15,154                 

-                   (2,956)      (2,956)        17,336                 Specialist Crime -                   (1,938)       (1,938)      16,194                 

-                   (604)         (604)           13,812                 People Services -                   (307)          (307)        15,308                 

-                   (3,009)      (3,009)        10,778                 Estates Services -                   (3,542)       (3,542)      13,874                 

-                   (312)         (312)           13,475                 Information Services -                   (293)          (293)        10,819                 

-                   (829)         (829)           12,721                 Corporate Development -                   (792)          (792)        7,683                   

-                   -               -                -                       Criminal Justice (previously part of Corporate Development) -                   (97)           (97)          5,717                   

-                   (2,701)      (2,701)        34,414                 Centrally Managed Services -                   (3,647)       (3,647)      27,102                 

-                   (7,435)      (7,435)        23,343                 Other Services -                   (7,305)       (7,305)      24,010                 

7,103            (2,568)      4,535         -                       Police & Crime Commissioner 10,104          (5,407)       4,697       -                      

7,103            (23,158)     (16,055)      257,545               Cost of Services - Continuing Operations 10,104          (28,241)     (18,137)    264,157               

251,984         -               251,984     (251,984)              Intra-Group Funding 5 273,574        -               273,574   (273,574)              

259,087         (23,158)     235,929     5,561                   Net Cost of Policing Services 283,678        (28,241)     255,437   (9,417)                  

74                 -               74              Other Operating Expenditure 8 299              (17)           282          

1,950            (27)           1,923         Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 9 2,321            (481)          1,840       

-                   (243,032)   (243,032)    Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 10 -                   (261,225)   (261,225)  

(5,106)        (Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services (3,666)      

(9,416)        (Surplus) or Deficit on Revaluation of Non Current Assets (47,675)    

(1,063)        Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability 33 (2,372)      

(10,479)      Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (Surplus)/Deficit (50,047)    

(15,585)      Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (Surplus)/Deficit (53,713)    

Year Ended 31 March 2022 Year Ended 31 March 2023

PCC PCC
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MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE PCC 
GROUP 

 
This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the PCC Group, 
analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can currently be used to fund expenditure or reduce 
local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’. It shows how the movements in year of the PCC 
Group’s reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments required to return to the 
amounts chargeable to council tax for the year.  The Increase / Decrease in Year line shows the 
statutory General Fund Balance movements in the year following those adjustments.  
 
MOVEMENT IN RESERVES – PCC GROUP 
 

General 

Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Unapplied 

Reserve

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Total 

Unusable 

Reserves

Total  

Reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 31 March 2022 25,365     -               25,365    (2,435,827) (2,410,462)   

Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (51,556)    -               (51,556)   894,022     842,466       

Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding 

Basis under Regulations 57,038     -               57,038    (57,038)      -                  

Increase / (Decrease) in Year 5,482       -               5,482      836,984     842,466       

Balance at 31 March 2023 30,847     -               30,847    (1,598,843) (1,567,996)   

General 

Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Unapplied 

Reserve

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Total 

Unusable 

Reserves

Total  

Reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 31 March 2021 20,353     -               20,353    (2,452,685) (2,432,332)   

Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (49,572)    -               (49,572)   71,442       21,870         

Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding 

Basis under Regulations 54,584     -               54,584    (54,584)      -                  

Increase / (Decrease) in Year 5,012       -               5,012      16,858       21,870         

Balance at 31 March 2022 25,365     -               25,365    (2,435,827) (2,410,462)    
 
 

A breakdown of the PCC Group Adjustments between Accounting and Funding Basis under 
Regulations can be found in Note 16 of the accounts. 
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MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE PCC 
 

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the PCC, 
analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can currently be used to fund expenditure or reduce 
local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’. It shows how the movements in year of the PCC’s 
reserves are broken down between gains and losses incurred in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practices and the statutory adjustments required to return to the amounts 
chargeable to council tax for the year. The Increase / Decrease in Year line shows the statutory 
General Fund Balance movements in the year following those adjustments.  
 
MOVEMENT IN RESERVES – PCC 
 

General 

Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Unapplied 

Reserve

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Total 

Unusable 

Reserves

Total  

Reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 31 March 2022 25,365     -               25,365    9,011         34,376         

Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 3,666       -               3,666      50,047       53,713         

Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding 

Basis under Regulations 1,816       -               1,816      (1,816)       -                  

Increase / (Decrease) in Year 5,482       -               5,482      48,231       53,713         

Balance at 31 March 2023 30,847     30,847    57,242       88,089         

General 

Fund 

Balance

Capital 

Unapplied 

Reserve

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Total 

Unusable 

Reserves

Total  

Reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 31 March 2021 20,353     -               20,353    (1,562)       18,791         

Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 5,106       -               5,106      10,479       15,585         

Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding 

Basis under Regulations (94)          -               (94)         94             -                  

Increase / (Decrease) in Year 5,012       -               5,012      10,573       15,585         

Balance at 31 March 2022 25,365     -               25,365    9,011         34,376          
 
 

A breakdown of the PCC Adjustments between Accounting and Funding Basis under Regulations 
can be found in Note 17 of the accounts. 
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BALANCE SHEET FOR THE PCC GROUP AND PCC 
 
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the PCC Group and the PCC. The net assets (assets less liabilities) are matched by 
the reserves held by the PCC Group and the PCC.   
 

PCC Group PCC PCC Group PCC

£'000 £'000 Note £'000 £'000

122,196         122,196         Property, Plant & Equipment 18 170,275         170,275         

729                729                Assets under Construction 18 366               366               

3,337             3,337             Intangible Assets 20 4,393            4,393            

-                    -                    Net Pension Asset 29 39,786          921               

120                120                Other Long Term Debtors 107               107               

126,382         126,382         Long Term Assets 214,927         176,062         

310                310                Assets Held for Sale 18 310               310               

157                157                Inventories 121               121               

9,000             9,000             Short Term Investments 24 4,000            4,000            

20,891           20,801           Short Term Debtors 23 32,228          32,132          

5,613             5,613             Cash and Cash Equivalents 35 5,120            5,120            

35,971           35,881           Current Assets 41,779          41,683          

-                    -                    Cash and Cash Equivalents (liability) 35 -                   -                   

23,177           20,902           Short Term Creditors 23 29,696          26,730          

265                265                Capital Grants Received in Advance 258               258               

302                302                Short Term Provisions 671               671               

3,266             3,266             Short Term Borrowing 25 3,532            3,532            

27,010           24,735           Current Liabilities 34,157          31,191          

101,997         101,997         Long Term Borrowing 25 98,465          98,465          

2,443,808       1,155             Other Long Term Liabilities 29 1,692,080      -                   

2,545,805       103,152         Long Term Liabilities 1,790,545      98,465          

(2,410,462)     34,376           Net Assets/ (Liabilities) (1,567,996)     88,089          

25,365           25,365           Usable Reserves 26 30,847          30,847          

(2,435,827)     9,011             Unusable Reserves 27 (1,598,843)     57,242          

(2,410,462)     34,376           Total Reserves (1,567,996)     88,089          

31 March 2022 31 March 2023
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE PCC AND THE PCC GROUP 
 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the PCC Group and 
the PCC during the reporting period.  As there is no distinction between the PCC Group and the PCC 
movements, there is no separate statement for the PCC. The statement shows how the PCC Group 
and the PCC generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, 
investing and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a 
key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the PCC Group and the PCC are funded by way 
of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the PCC Group/PCC. 
Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which 
are intended to contribute to the PCC Group and the PCC’s future service delivery.  Cash flows arising 
from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. 
borrowing) to the PCC Group/PCC. 
 

31 March 

2022

31 March 

2023

£'000 £'000

49,572    Net (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services 51,556    

(62,758)   

Adjustments to Net Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 

for Non Cash Movements (59,696)   

630         

Adjustments for items included in the Net Surplus or Deficit on the 

Provision of Services that are Investing and Financing Activities 527         

(12,556)   Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities (7,613)     

19,207    Investing Activities 4,840      

(7,675)     Financing Activities 3,266      

(1,024)     Net (Increase) or Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents 493         

4,589      Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Reporting Period 5,613      

5,613      Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Reporting Period 5,120       
 
 
Note 35 in the accounts provides further details of the figures in the above Cash Flow statement. 
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR THE PCC AND THE PCC GROUP 
 
Accounting Policies 
The financial statements must meet the accounting requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting which has been agreed with HM Treasury.  Consequently, the financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting.  The accounting policies contained in the CIPFA Code of Practice follow International 
Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to Local 
Authority accounts, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting 
Advisory Board.  Where the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounts permits a choice of 
accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be the most appropriate to the particular 
circumstances of the PCC Group/PCC for the purpose of presenting fairly the position of the PCC 
Group/PCC has been selected.  The particular policies adopted are described below.  They have 
been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the financial 
statements. 
 
Group accounts 
The Financial Statements included here represent the accounts for the PCC and the PCC Group.  
The term “PCC Group” is used to indicate individual transactions and policies of the PCC and the 
Chief Constable.  The identification of the PCC as the holding organisation and the requirement to 
produce group accounts stems from the powers and responsibilities of the PCC under the Police 
Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011.  The Chief Constable is a subsidiary organisation of the 
PCC.  The transactions and balances of the PCC and the Chief Constable have been consolidated 
into the PCC Group financial statements using the line-by-line method. 
 
Accounting convention 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to 
account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and inventories.  
Where appropriate financial assets and liabilities have been impaired or discounted to bring them to 
current value. 
 
Acquisitions and discontinued operations 
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are transferred from outside the public sector.  
Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely.  They are not considered to 
be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another.   
 
Going Concern 
After making enquires, the PCC has formed a judgement at the time of approving the financial 
statements that there is a reasonable expectation that the PCC and PCC Group or its successors has 
access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.  For this 
reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.  The 
liabilities for pensions are unrealised liabilities at the balance sheet date and will fall due as employees 
retire over their working lives. 
 
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies  
In the application of the PCC Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make 
judgements about complex transactions involving uncertainty about future events.   
 
The critical judgements made in the Statement of Accounts are in regards to the degree of uncertainty 
about future levels of central government funding and the impact of budget cuts to be achieved.  
However, the PCC Group has determined that this uncertainty is not yet sufficient to provide an 
indication that the assets of the PCC Group might be impaired as a result of a need to close facilities 
or reduce levels of service provision. 
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Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the 
PCC Group about the future or that are otherwise uncertain.  Estimates are made taking into account 
historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors.  However because balances cannot 
be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and 
estimates.  The items in the PCC and PCC Group’s Balance Sheet as at 31 March for which there is 
significant risks of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 
 

• Short Term Employee Benefits  

In calculating the accrual for the above, the uncertainty is that the number of days annual leave, 
or the rate used to cost the accrual are incorrect. 

   

• Property, Plant and Equipment - Depreciation 

Assets are depreciated over useful lives that are dependent on assumptions about the level of 
repairs and maintenance that will be incurred in relation to individual assets.  If in the current 
economic climate the PCC Group was unable to sustain its current spending on repairs and 
maintenance, the useful lives assigned to assets would be brought into doubt.  If the useful life of 
assets is reduced depreciation increases and the carrying amount of assets falls. 
 

• Property, Plant and Equipment – Componentisation Thresholds 

If in applying the policy, an incorrect judgement is made regarding the threshold, this would result 
in a possible misstatement of asset depreciation and asset assumed useful life. 

 

• Pensions Liability and Reserve  

Estimates for pensions liabilities are determined and sourced through pension’s actuaries, who 
apply a number of assumptions on future inflation, mortality rates etc. If estimates/assumptions 
used are too conservative, the estimated pension’s liability will be understated, and overstated if 
too high.  

 

• Allocation of Expenditure between the PCC and the Chief Constable 

A judgement has been made of the expenditure allocated between the PCC and the Chief 
Constable to reflect the financial resources of the PCC consumed at the request of the Chief 
Constable.  The basis adopted for this allocation was determined by the PCC Group in accordance 
with the standard set of activities for each corporate body identified in CIPFA’s SeRCOP. 

 
Revenue 
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when performance occurs, and is measured 
at the fair value of the consideration receivable.  A de-minimis threshold of £10,000 is in place for 
year-end accruals. 
 
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year that income 
is deferred.  IFRS 15 Revenue Recognition has been adopted however the impact on the group is 
minimal.  Goods are sold on an incidental basis.  Income is recognised at the point the sale transaction 
occurs. 
 
Agency income 
Council Tax/Precept income is collected on behalf of the PCC Group by the four unitary authorities 
within the Force Area (East Riding of Yorkshire Council, Hull City Council, North East Lincolnshire 
Council and North Lincolnshire Council).  This income is collected under an agency arrangement with 
the PCC Group including an appropriate share of taxpayer transactions within the financial 
statements.  
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Employee Benefits 
 

• Short-term employee benefits 

Employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end.  These benefits 
are recognised as an expense in the year in which the employee renders service to the PCC 
Group.  An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of leave, e.g. time off 
in lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the year-end which employees can carry 
forward into the next financial year.  The accrual is charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services, but then reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday 
benefits are charged to revenue in the financial year in which the holiday absence occurs. 

 

• Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the PCC Group to terminate 
a member of staff’s employment before their normal retirement date or their decision to accept 
voluntary redundancy.  These costs are charged as an expense in the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when the PCC 
Group is demonstrably committed to the termination of the employment of an individual or group 
of employees or making an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy. 

 

• Retirement benefit costs         

The PCC Group participates in three pension schemes for Police Officers and one for Police staff.  
All of the schemes provide members with defined benefits related to pay and service. 

 

• Police Officers 

The 1987, 2006 and 2015 Police Pension Schemes are contributory occupational pension 
schemes.  Officers pay contributions from their pensionable pay based on salary bandings.  The 
contribution rates are set nationally by the Home Office.  The PCC Group accounts for Police 
Pensions through the Police Pension Fund Accounts.  The cost to the PCC Group is via an 
employers’ contribution and a charge for Officers who retire on ill health.  Any balance on the 
Pension Fund Accounts is received from or paid to Central Government. 

 
Injury awards are not part of the Police Pension Fund and are paid out of the PCC Group’s budget. 

 

• Police Staff 

The PCC is an admitted body to the East Riding Pension Fund, which is administered by East 
Riding of Yorkshire Council.  Police staff are eligible to join the Local Government Pension 
Scheme which has varying contribution rates based on members’ salaries.  The PCC makes 
employers’ contributions as required into the East Riding Pension Fund. 

 
The PCC Group/PCC have fully adopted IAS 19 Employee Benefits.  The financial statements reflect 
the commitment to make up any shortfall in attributable net assets in the Pension Fund.  The overall 
pension liability is included in the Balance Sheet of the PCC Group and service costs are reflected in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statements. 
 
Expenses 
Expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received.  
They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable. 
 
Whilst all expenditure is paid for by the PCC, including the remuneration of police officers and staff, 
the actual recognition in the respective PCC and Chief Constable’s financial statements is based on 
economic benefit. 
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Property, Plant and Equipment 
 

• Recognition 

Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if: 
 

• it is held for use in delivering services or for administration purposes; 

• it is probable that service potential will be provided to the PCC Group; 

• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and 

• the item has a cost of at least £10,000 

 

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly 
different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets if they have a cost of over 
25% of the whole asset, and they are depreciated over their own useful economic lives.  

 

• Valuation 

All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly 
attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  All assets 
are measured subsequently at current value. 

 
Land and buildings used by the PCC Group are stated in the Balance Sheet at their revalued 
amounts, being their current value at the date of valuation less any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.  Due to a change in valuers, the whole of the force estate 
will be revalued for 2022/23.  Following on from this the PCC Group will undertake a rolling 
programme of revaluations, with the top 20% of the highest valued properties being revalued 
every financial year. The remaining properties within the Force estate will be revalued on a four 
year rolling programme basis, based on the four local authority areas where the properties are 
located.  
 
Current values are determined as follows:- 

 

• Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use 

• Specialised buildings with no market based evidence – depreciated replacement cost as an 

estimate of current value 

• Vehicles, plant and equipment – historic cost less accumulated depreciation (as a proxy for 

current replacement cost)      

• Surplus property – fair value  

  

Properties in the course of construction are carried at cost, less any impairment loss.  Cost 
includes professional fees and other costs directly attributable to the construction of qualifying 
assets.  Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when they are brought into use.  An 
increase arising on revaluation is taken to the Revaluation Reserve except when it reverses an 
impairment previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the 
extent of the decrease previously charged there.  A decrease on revaluation is recognised as an 
impairment charged to the Revaluation Reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve 
for the asset, and, thereafter, to expenditure.  Gains and losses recognised in the Revaluation 
Reserve are reported as other comprehensive income in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statements. 
 

• Disposals 

Capital receipts over £10,000 from the sale of non-current assets are held in the Capital Receipts 
Unapplied account until such time as they are used to finance other capital expenditure or to repay 
debt.  Individual receipts of less than £10,000 are shown as income within the Comprehensive 
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Income and Expenditure Statements.  Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are 
recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statements. 
 

 
Intangible Assets 
 

• Recognition 

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance, which are capable of sale 
separately from the rest of the PCC Group’s business or which arise from contractual or other 
legal rights.  They are recognised only when it is probable that future economic benefits or service 
potential will be provided to the PCC Group; where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, 
and where the cost is at least £10,000. 

 
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at current value.  Software that is 
integral to the operating of hardware, for example an operating system, is capitalised as part of 
the relevant item of property, plant and equipment.  Software that is not integral to the operation 
of hardware, for example application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.  Expenditure 
on research is not capitalised: it is recognised as an operating expense in the period in which it is 
incurred.  Internally-generated assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been 
demonstrated: 
 

• the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use 

• the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it 

• the ability to sell or use the intangible asset 

• how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential 

• the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible 

asset and sell or use it 

• the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its 

development 

 

• Measurement 

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the 
expenditure incurred from the date when the criteria above are initially met.  Where no internally-
generated intangible assets can be recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the period in 
which it is incurred. 
 
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at current value by reference to an active 
market, or where no active market exists, at amortised replacement cost (modern equivalent 
assets basis).  Internally-developed software is held at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects 
of increases in development costs and technological advances. 

 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairments 
Freehold land, properties under construction and vehicles in the process of preparation for operational 
use are not depreciated.  Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to Cost of Services 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statements to write off the costs or valuation of 
property, plant and equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their 
estimated useful lives, on a straight line basis.  Depreciation and amortisation are not taken on 
additions to the capital base for the year.  The estimated useful life of an asset is the period over 
which the PCC Group expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset.  This 
is specific to the PCC Group and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself.  Estimated 
useful lives and residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes 
recognised on a prospective basis.  
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The approximate average useful lives (depreciation periods) are included below: 
 

• Buildings              25 to 65 years 

• Small/medium size vehicle     1 to 5 years 

• Large vehicle                 6 to 8 years 

• Boat            10 years 

• Equipment             5 years 

• Intangibles                       5 years    

                              

At each reporting period end, the PCC Group checks whether there is any indication that any of its 
tangible or intangible non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If there is indication of an 
impairment loss, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has 
been a loss and, if so, its amount. 
 
If there has been an impairment loss, the asset is written down to its recoverable amount, with the 
loss charged to the Revaluation Reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the Reserve for the 
asset and, thereafter, to expenditure.  Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the 
amount that would have been determined had there been no initial impairment loss.  The reversal of 
the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of the decrease previously charged there 
and thereafter to the Revaluation Reserve. 
 
The PCC Group is not required to raise Council Tax to cover depreciation, impairment or amortisation.  
However it is required to make an annual provision from its revenue budget to contribute towards the 
reduction in its overall borrowing requirement, the minimum revenue provision (MRP).  The PCC 
Group has adopted, from 1 April 2019 the Asset Life Method to provide for MRP calculated by using 
the annuity method, for any capital expenditure funded from borrowing.  MRP is not provided for 
assets in the course of construction. 
 
Government Grants 
All grants and contributions will only be credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statements, when all the grant conditions for the discharge of its specific use have been met.  Grants 
where the conditions have not been satisfied are carried in the Balance Sheet as Grants Receipts in 
Advance.  When the conditions have been satisfied, the grant or contribution will be credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statements, either to cost of services or taxation and non-
specific grant income.  Assets purchased from Government grants are valued, depreciated and 
impaired as described for purchased assets. 
 
Non-current assets held for sale 
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.  This condition is regarded as met 
when the sale is highly probable, the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition and 
management is committed to the sale, which is expected to qualify for recognition as a completed 
sale within one year from the date of classification.  Non-current assets held for sale are measured at 
the lower of their previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.  Fair value is open market 
value including alternative uses.  The profit or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is the difference 
between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount and is recognised in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statements.  On disposal, the balance for the asset on the Revaluation Reserve is 
transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account.  Property, plant and equipment that is to be scrapped 
or demolished does not qualify for recognition as held for sale.  Instead, it is retained as an operational 
asset and its economic life is adjusted.  The asset is de-recognised when it is scrapped or demolished. 
 
Leases 
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
are transferred to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
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The PCC Group as a lessee 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  
Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated.  Leased 
land is treated as an operating lease.  Leased buildings are assessed as to whether they are operating 
or finance leases. 
 
Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the average cost method.  
This is considered to be a reasonable approximation to current value. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice 
of not more than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from 
the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant 
risk of change in value.  In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of 
bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the PCC Group and 
the PCC’s cash management. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the PCC Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the PCC Group will be required to settle the obligation, and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  In establishing a provision a charge 
is made as an expense to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statements in the year that 
the PCC Group/PCC becomes aware of the obligation.  The amount recognised as a provision is the 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, 
taking into account the risks and uncertainties.  The provision stays on the Balance Sheet, and when 
payments are made, the charge is made against the provision. Estimated settlements are reviewed 
at the end of each financial year – where it becomes less than probable that a transfer of economic 
benefits will be required (or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed 
and credited back to the relevant service. 
 
Contingencies 
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the PCC Group, or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not 
probable that a payment will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot 
be measured sufficiently reliably.  A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of payment 
is remote. 
 
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and existence of which will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the PCC Group.  A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic 
benefits is probable.   
 
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value. 
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Reserves 
The PCC Group and the PCC set aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to 
cover contingencies.  Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is 
incurred, it is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statements in that year to score 
against the Surplus or Deficit on the account.  The reserve is then appropriated back into the General 
Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge against Council 
Tax for the expenditure. 
 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial 
instruments, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for the PCC 
Group. Details of these reserves are provided in the relevant note to the financial statements. 
 
Financial Instruments 
A Financial Instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another.  The term ‘Financial Instrument’ covers both Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities and includes both the most straightforward Financial Assets and Liabilities 
such as trade receivables and trade payables and the most complex ones such as derivatives and 
embedded derivatives.  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments has been adopted however the impact is 
minimal. 
 
Financial assets 
The Police and Crime Commissioner only has one class of financial assets 
 
Loans and receivables held at amortised cost 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which 
are not quoted in an active market.  After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any impairment.  Interest is recognised using the effective 
interest method. 
 
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, or failing that by 
reference to similar arm’s length transactions between knowledgeable and willing parties. 
 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to the initial fair value of the financial asset. 
 
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate.  The loss is recognised in expenditure and 
the carrying amount of the asset reduced directly. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of 
the receivable at the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost 
would have been had the impairment not been recognised 
 
Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the PCC Group becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or 
services have been received.  Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been 
discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.  The fair value of financial liabilities is 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.   
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Jointly Controlled Operations   
The PCC Group engages in jointly controlled operations by collaborative working with other parties 
to deliver a number of specific services on a regional basis.  
 
The PCC Group accounts in its financial statements for the assets it controls, the liabilities it incurs, 
the expenses that it incurs and the income it earns in relation to these arrangements. 
 
Accounting standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted     
The following standards and amendment to standards have been issued but not yet adopted: 
 

• IAS 8 (Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors) – Amendments to 

the definition of accounting estimates 

• IAS 1 (Presentation of Financial Statements) and IFRS Practice Statement 2 (Making 

Materiality Judgements) – Amendment to disclosure of accounting policies 

• IAS 12 (Income Taxes) – Amendments to deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising 

from a single transaction. 

• IFRS 3 (Business Combinations) – Updating a reference to the conceptual framework 

 
None of the above amendments are expected to have any material impact on future financial 
statements of the PCC Group.  
 
The implementation of the IFRS 16: Leases standard, originally planned for 1 April 2020, has been 
deferred by the CIPFA/LASAAC (Local Authority Accounting Code) Board to 1 April 2024.  The 
introduction of this standard will require all assets, apart from those meeting certain exemption criteria, 
leased in by the PCC Group to be accounted for on its Balance Sheet.  Short-term leases and those 
of low value will be exempt from this requirement.  The PCC Group currently has a number of leased 
in properties which may need to be added onto the PCC Group Balance Sheet.  There are minimal 
changes to the accounting for assets leased out by the PCC Group. 

 
Accounting standards issued that have been adopted early 
There are no accounting standards issued that have been adopted early. 
 
Exceptional items 
Exceptional items shall be included in the costs of the service to which they relate and noted 
accordingly. 
 
Prior period adjustments 
Unless otherwise sanctioned by the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting, material 
prior period adjustments shall result in restatement of prior year figures and disclosure of the effect. 
 
Events after the Reporting Period 
Material events after the balance sheet date, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between 
the end of the reporting period and the date when Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue shall 
be disclosed as a note to the financial statements and the financial statements amended as required. 
Other events after the balance sheet date will be disclosed in a note with an estimate of the likely 
effect. 
 
Two types of event can be identified as: 
 

• Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the 
Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events. 

• Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of 
Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a 
material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated 
financial effect. 
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Group accounts 
Each reporting period the PCC Group will review its interests and influence on all types of entities 
including, but not limited to, other PCCs and similar statutory bodies, common good trust funds, 
charities, companies, joint committees and other joint arrangements.  If appropriate, such other 
entities will be included in the group accounts prepared in accordance with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting. 
 
Value Added Tax (VAT) 
Most of the activities of the PCC Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does 
not apply.  Input tax on purchases is largely recoverable from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.  
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised 
purchase costs of property, plant and equipment.  Where output tax is charged or input tax is 
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 
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1.  EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS FOR THE PCC GROUP 

The statements below show how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources (government grants and council tax) by the PCC Group in comparison 
with those resources consumed or earned by the PCC Group in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. They also show how this 
expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the PCC Group’s operating functions. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally 
accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.   
 
EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS – PCC GROUP 
 

Net Expenditure 

Chargeable to 

the General 

Fund

Adjustments 

between 

Accounting and 

Funding Basis

Net Expenditure in the 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement

Net Expenditure 

Chargeable to 

the General 

Fund

Adjustments 

between 

Accounting and 

Funding Basis

Net Expenditure in the 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

43,899 137 44,036 Northbank Division 46,340 1,668 48,008

30,105 159 30,264 Southbank Division 31,616 1,100 32,716

16,157 3,895 20,052 Force Control Room 16,927 3,603 20,530

12,234 20 12,254 Protecting Vulnerable People 13,670 99 13,769

8,746 (10) 8,736 Regional Collaboration 9,533 10 9,543

13,452 128 13,580 Special Operations Unit 13,604 367 13,971

13,636 744 14,380 Specialist Crime 13,348 908 14,256

12,334 874 13,208 People Services 14,179 822 15,001

7,340 429 7,769 Estates Services 9,946 386 10,332

13,077 86 13,163 Information Services 10,509 17 10,526

10,178 1,714 11,892 Corporate Development 5,839 1,052 6,891

0 0 0 Criminal Justice (previously part of Corporate Development) 4,922 698 5,620

31,320 393 31,713 Centrally Managed Services 35,247 (11,792) 23,455

14,163 1,745 15,908 Other Services 15,139 1,566 16,705

4,246 289 4,535 Police & Crime Commissioner 4,422 275 4,697

230,887 10,603 241,490 Net Cost of Services 245,241 779 246,020

(235,899)           43,981                 (191,918)                    Other Income and Expenditure (250,723)           56,259                 (194,464)                    

(5,012)               54,584                 49,572                       (Surplus) or Deficit (5,482)               57,038                 51,556                       

20,353              Opening General Fund Balance 25,365              

5,012                Add: Surplus/(Deficit) on General Fund in year 5,482                

25,365              Closing General Fund Balance 30,847              

Year Ended 31 March 2023Year Ended 31 March 2022
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2. EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS – ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN FUNDING AND ACCOUNTING BASIS – PCC GROUP 

Adjustments for 

Capital Purposes 

(Note i)

Net Change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments 

(Note ii)

Other 

Differences 

(Note iii)

Total 

Adjustments

Adjustments from the General Fund to arrive at the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

amounts

Adjustments for 

Capital Purposes 

(Note i)

Net Change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments 

(Note ii)

Other 

Differences 

(Note iii)

Total 

Adjustments

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1,357                 (1,177)                 (43)                137                Northbank Division 2,899                 (1,404)                 173               1,668              

935                    (746)                   (30)                159                Southbank Division 1,951                 (989)                   138               1,100              

502                    3,424                  (31)                3,895              Force Control Room 1,013                 2,553                  37                 3,603              

298                    (268)                   (10)                20                  Protecting Vulnerable People 645                    (588)                   42                 99                  

36                      (45)                     (1)                 (10)                 Regional Collaboration 139                    (145)                   16                 10                  

397                    (252)                   (17)                128                Special Operations Unit 828                    (521)                   60                 367                

359                    400                     (15)                744                Specialist Crime 751                    92                      65                 908                

198                    694                     (18)                874                People Services 484                    277                     61                 822                

58                      375                     (4)                 429                Estates Services 115                    266                     5                   386                

-                     86                      -                86                  Information Services -                     17                      -                17                  

308                    1,424                  (18)                1,714              Corporate Development 415                    611                     26                 1,052              

-                     -                     -                -                 Criminal Justice (previously part of Corporate Development) 244                    441                     13                 698                

20                      374                     (1)                 393                Centrally Managed Services 14                      (11,810)               4                   (11,792)           

287                    1,468                  (10)                1,745              Other Services 423                    1,098                  45                 1,566              

20                      270                     (1)                 289                Police & Crime Commissioner 41                      233                     1                   275                

4,775 6,027 (199) 10,603 Net Cost of Services 9,962 (9,869) 686 779

(4,692)                49,151                (478)              43,981            Other Income and Expenditure (7,920)                64,702                (523)              56,259            

83                      55,178                (677) 54,584            (Surplus) or Deficit 2,042                 54,833                163               57,038            

Year Ended 31 March 2022 Year Ended 31 March 2023
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3. EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS FOR THE PCC 

The statements below show how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources (government grants and council tax) by the PCC in comparison with 
those resources consumed or earned by the PCC in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. They also show how this expenditure is 
allocated for decision making purposes between the PCC’s operating functions. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting 
practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS – PCC 
 

Net Expenditure 

Chargeable to 

the General 

Fund

Adjustments 

between 

Accounting and 

Funding Basis

Net Expenditure in the 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement

Net Expenditure 

Chargeable to 

the General 

Fund

Adjustments 

between 

Accounting and 

Funding Basis

Net Expenditure in the 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

(1,479) 1,357                   (122) Northbank Division (3,011) 2,899                   (112)

(1,385) 935                      (450) Southbank Division (2,429) 1,951                   (478)

(600) 502                      (98) Force Control Room (1,202) 1,013                   (189)

(298) 298                      0 Protecting Vulnerable People (646) 645                      (1)                              

(944) 36                        (908) Regional Collaboration (3,089) 139                      (2,950)

(1,563) 397                      (1,166) Special Operations Unit (2,011) 828                      (1,183)

(3,315) 359                      (2,956) Specialist Crime (2,689) 751                      (1,938)

(802) 198                      (604) People Services (791) 484                      (307)

(3,067) 58                        (3,009) Estates Services (3,657) 115                      (3,542)

(312) -                          (312) Information Services (293) -                          (293)

(1,137) 308                      (829) Corporate Development (1,207) 415                      (792)

0 -                          0 Criminal Justice (previously part of Corporate Development) (341) 244                      (97)

(2,721) 20                        (2,701) Centrally Managed Services (3,661) 14                        (3,647)

(7,722) 287                      (7,435) Other Services (7,728) 423                      (7,305)

4,246 289                      4,535 Police & Crime Commissioner 4,422 275                      4,697

251,984 -                          251,984                     Intra-Group Funding 273,574 -                          273,574

230,885 5,044 235,929 Net Cost of Services 245,241 10,196 255,437

(235,897)           (5,138)                  (241,035)                    Other Income and Expenditure (250,723)           (8,380)                  (259,103)                    

(5,012)               (94)                       (5,106)                        (Surplus) or Deficit (5,482)               1,816                   (3,666)                        

20,353              Opening General Fund Balance 25,365              

5,012                Add: Surplus/(Deficit) on General Fund in year 5,482                

25,365              Closing General Fund Balance 30,847              

Year Ended 31 March 2022 Year Ended 31 March 2023
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4. EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS – ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN FUNDING AND ACCOUNTING BASIS – PCC 

Adjustments for 

Capital Purposes 

(Note i)

Net Change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments 

(Note ii)

Other 

Differences 

(Note iii)

Total 

Adjustments

Adjustments from the General Fund to 

arrive at the Comprehensive Income 

and Expenditure Statement amounts

Adjustments for 

Capital Purposes 

(Note i)

Net Change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments 

(Note ii)

Other 

Differences 

(Note iii)

Total 

Adjustments

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1,357                 -                     -                 1,357            Northbank Division 2,899                 -                     -                 2,899            

935                    -                     -                 935               Southbank Division 1,951                 -                     -                 1,951            

502                    -                     -                 502               Force Control Room 1,013                 -                     -                 1,013            

298                    -                     -                 298               Protecting Vulnerable People 645                    -                     -                 645               

36                      -                     -                 36                 Regional Collaboration 139                    -                     -                 139               

397                    -                     -                 397               Special Operations Unit 828                    -                     -                 828               

359                    -                     -                 359               Specialist Crime 751                    -                     -                 751               

198                    -                     -                 198               People Services 484                    -                     -                 484               

58                      -                     -                 58                 Estates Services 115                    -                     -                 115               

-                     -                     -                 -                Information Services -                     -                     -                 -                

308                    -                     -                 308               Corporate Development 415                    -                     -                 415               

-                     -                     -                 -                Criminal Justice (previously part of Corporate Development) 244                    -                     -                 244               

20                      -                     -                 20                 Centrally Managed Services 14                      -                     -                 14                 

287                    -                     -                 287               Other Services 423                    -                     -                 423               

20                      270                     (1)                   289               Police & Crime Commissioner 41                      233                     1                    275               

4,775 270 (1) 5,044 Net Cost of Services 9,962 233 1 10,196

(4,692)                32                      (478)               (5,138)           Other Income and Expenditure (7,920)                63                      (523)               (8,380)           

83                      302                     (479)               (94)                (Surplus) or Deficit 2,042                 296                     (522)               1,816            

Year Ended 31 March 2022 Year Ended 31 March 2023
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Note i – Adjustments for Capital Purposes 
This adds in depreciation and impairments in the service line and for: 
 

• Other Operating Expenditure – adjusts for losses on sale of assets. 

• Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure - the statutory charges for capital financing (i.e. Minimum Revenue Provision and other revenue 

contributions) are deducted from income and expenditure as these are not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. 

• Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income – Capital grants are adjusted for income not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. 

 
Note ii – Net change for the Pensions Adjustments 
This is the net change for the removal of pension contributions and IAS19 Employee Benefits related expenditure and income: 
 

• For service lines, this represents the removal of employer pension contributions as allowed by statute and the replacement with current service costs and 

past service costs. 

• Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure – the net interest on the defined benefit liabilities is charged to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement. 

 
Note iii – Other Differences 
These represent other differences between amounts debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and amounts 
payable/receivable to be recognised under statute: 
 

• For service lines, this represents the movement in the timing difference on employee benefits for accumulated absences. 

• Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income – adjustment is made for the movement in the timing difference on the Council Tax Collection Fund.
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5. INTERCOMPANY FUNDING 

As the Chief Constable has no resources with which to fulfil devolved responsibilities to provide a 
policing service, the expenditure is funded by the PCC. 
 
These transactions are reflected in the intra-group accounts of both entities. 
 
The tables below show the movement through the intra-group accounts within the respective Balance 
Sheets during 2022/23 and 2021/22 and show that there are no outstanding intra-group balances at 
the year end date, other than resulting from year end accounting adjustments in respect of payroll 
balances, as the PCC paid for all the financial resources consumed at the request of the Chief 
Constable and an intra-group adjustment was made to offset the Chief Constable’s consumption of 
resources.   
 
The funding covers the day to day expenses on an accruals basis as well as charges for operational 
assets consumed in the year. The funding does not cover IAS 19 pension charges and charges for 
compensated absences as these charges (in the Chief Constable’s Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement) are reversed in the Chief Constable’s Movement in Reserves Statement and 
charged to the Chief Constable’s unusable Pensions Reserve and Accumulated Absences 
Adjustment Account. 
 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for the PCC and the PCC Group are 
at summary level. This is because the Net Cost of Policing sub-total within the PCC CIES includes 
not only the cost of administering the PCC itself, but also payment for PCC resources consumed at 
the request of the Chief Constable. The decision to account for this expenditure within the PCC Net 
Cost of Policing Services is in the same format that it is reported to management.  In contrast, in the 
Chief Constable’s CIES the Net Cost of Policing is nil, apart from the year end adjustments for 
pensions actuarial adjustments and accumulated absences, as the Resources consumed at the 
request of the Chief Constable are completely offset by the intra-group adjustment. 
 
Intra-Group Movements 2022-2023: PCC Chief Constable PCC Group

£'000 £'000 £'000

Opening Balance as at 1 April 2022 (2,841)                2,841                  -                             

PCC resources consumed at the request of the Chief Constable 273,574              (273,574)             -                             

PCC intra-group adjustment (resource funding) (273,574)            273,574              -                             

(2,841)                2,841                  -                             

Year end adjustments:

Accumulated absences movement (685)                   685                     -                             

Pensions actuarial adjustments 1,698,050           (1,698,050)          -                             

PCC intra-group adjustment (1,697,365)          1,697,365           -                             

Payroll creditors and debtors movement (2,310)                2,310                  -                             

Closing Balance as at 31 March 2023 (5,151)                5,151                  -                             

Intra-Group Movements 2021-2022:

Opening Balance as at 1 April 2021 (3,139)                3,139                  -                             

PCC resources consumed at the request of the Chief Constable 251,984              (251,984)             -                             

PCC intra-group adjustment (resource funding) (251,984)            251,984              -                             

(3,139)                3,139                  -                             

Year end adjustments:

Accumulated absences movement 198                    (198)                   -                             

Pensions actuarial adjustments 116,168              (116,168)             -                             

PCC intra-group adjustment (116,366)            116,366              -                             

Payroll creditors and debtors movement 298                    (298)                   -                             

Closing Balance as at 31 March 2022 (2,841)                2,841                  -                              
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6. SUMMARY SPENDING DETAILS 

The statements below show the cost of providing services for the PCC Group for 2022/23 and 
2022/22. The costs have been split between the Chief Constable and the PCC to separately identify 
the resources consumed at the request of the Chief Constable from those costs exclusively incurred 
by the PCC. 
 

PCC

Chief 

Constable PCC Group PCC

Chief 

Constable

PCC 

Group

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure

1,575            204,743    206,318     Pay and Other Employment Costs 1,558            204,530    206,088   

-                   8,644        8,644         Premises -                   11,655      11,655     

3                   2,374        2,377         Transport 5                  2,912        2,917       

298               12,369      12,667       Supplies and Services 449              11,376      11,825     

5,207            24,659      29,866       Third Party Payments 8,051            23,762      31,813     

20                 4,756        4,776         Capital Charges & Impairment of Assets 41                9,922        9,963       

-                   -               -                Non Distributable Cost -                   -               -              

7,103            257,545    264,648     Total Expenditure 10,104          264,157    274,261   

Income

(4,634)           -               (4,634)        Specific Government Grants (9,205)          -               (9,205)      

(2,379)           -               (2,379)        Other Grant Income (3,004)          -               (3,004)      

(4,575)           -               (4,575)        Sales, Fees & Charges (5,029)          -               (5,029)      

(11,376)         -               (11,376)      Reimbursements (10,663)         -               (10,663)    

(194)              -               (194)           Other Income (340)             -               (340)        

(23,158)         -               (23,158)      Total Income (28,241)         -               (28,241)    

251,984         (251,984)   -                Intra-Group Adjustments* 273,574        (273,574)   -              

235,929         5,561        241,490     Net Cost of Policing Services 255,437        (9,417)       246,020   

Year Ended 31 March 2022 Year Ended 31 March 2023

 
 
.  
OPCC OPERATIONAL INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

 
The operational expenditure of the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner is shown below. 
 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

1,306            Staff 1,324            

3                   Transport 5                  

299               Supplies and Services 449              

5,207            Third Party Payments 8,051            

(61)                Fees & Charges and Other Income (29)               

(2,508)           Specific Grants (5,377)          

4,246            4,423             
 
Third Party Payments comprise contributions made by the Commissioner in respect of community 
safety initiatives. 
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7. PENSIONS INCOME & EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 
 
The cost of retirement benefits is recognised in the CIES with the inclusion of the amount reflecting 
the net cost of services when they are earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are 
eventually paid as pensions. 
 
However, the charge that is required to be made against Council Tax is based on the cash payable 
in the year. The real cost of retirement benefits is deducted in the Statement of Movement in the 
General Fund Balance, and replaced with actual pensions paid/contributions. 
 
The following transactions have been made in the CIES and Statements of Movement in the General 
Fund Balance during the year: 
 

31 March 

2023

31 March 

2022

31 March 

2023

31 March 

2022

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Net Cost of Service

Current Service Cost (Gross) 17,166         19,139     38,870        47,440         

Non Distributed Costs 145             90            -             -               

Reversal of IAS19 Contributions (7,103)         (7,104)      (58,947)       (53,537)        

10,208         12,125     (20,077)       (6,097)          

Net Operating Expenditure

Interest Cost 11,072         8,500       61,990        46,300         

Interest Income (8,360)         (5,649)      -             -               

2,712          2,851       61,990        46,300         

Net Charge to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 12,920         14,976     41,913        40,203         

Statement of Movement in the General Fund Balance

Reversal of Net Charges made for Retirement Benefits in Accordance with IAS19 (12,920)       (14,976)    (41,913)       (40,203)        

Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance for Pensions in the Year

Employer's Contributions Payable to Scheme 7,185          6,908       23,461        20,473         

Police Officer Injury and Ill Health Pension Costs -                  -              1,460          912              

Local Government 

Pension Scheme Police Pension SchemesPCC Group

 

31 March 

2023

31 March 

2022

£'000 £'000

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Net Cost of Service

Current Service Cost (Gross) 397             430          

Non Distributed Costs -              -           

Reversal of IAS19 Contributions (164)            (160)         

233             270          

Net Operating Expenditure

Interest Cost 256             105          

Interest Income (193)            (70)           

63               35            

Net Charge to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 296             305          

Statement of Movement in the General Fund Balance

Reversal of Net Charges made for Retirement Benefits in Accordance with IAS19 (296)            (305)         

Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance for Pensions in the Year

Employer's Contributions Payable to Scheme 166             139          

PCC

Local Government 

Pension Scheme
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8. OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

Other Operating Income and Expenditure includes the gain or loss on the sale of non-current assets 
during the year as follows: 
 

Net Book 

Value Receipt Total

Net Book 

Value Receipt Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

-                   -               -            Land and Buildings (Held for Sale) -               -           -          

-                   -               -                Gain from the Sale of Non Current Assets -                   -               -              

74                 -               74              Vehicles, Plant and Equipment 299              (17)           282          

-                   -               -            Intangible Assets -                   -               -          

74                 -               74              299              (17)           282          

74                 -               74              (Gain)/Loss on the Sale of Non Current Assets 299              (17)           282          

2021/22 2022/23
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9. FINANCING AND INVESTMENT INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure includes corporate items of income and 
expenditure which arise from the PCC Groups involvement in financial instruments and similar items.  
 
In the case of the PCC Group this includes both interest payable and receivable during the year, along 
with the net pensions interest cost. 
 

PCC Group PCC PCC Group PCC

2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1,916            1,916            Interest payable and similar charges 2,258            2,258            

49,151          34                 Pensions interest cost net of interest on pension assets 64,702          63                

(27)                (27)                Interest receivable (481)             (481)             

51,040          1,923            66,479          1,840             
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10. TAXATION AND NON SPECIFIC GRANT INCOME 

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income contains all un-ringfenced grants and contributions, 
including council tax income, receivable during the year which cannot be identified to a particular 
service line within cost of services.  
 
All capital grants and contributions are included within this line, even if they are service specific. 
 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

66,731          Council Tax Income 73,599          

144,376         General Government Grants 151,644        

31,295          Police Pensions Top Up Grant receivable 35,473          

630               Capital Grants 509              

243,032         261,225         
 
 
The Council Tax Income includes the actual income received in year (see Note 11) plus an adjustment 
for the difference between estimated and actual surplus/deficits on the collection fund.  
 
A breakdown of general government grants are included in Note 12 along with a breakdown of service 
specific revenue grants included within the cost of services in the CIES. 
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11. PRECEPTS AND COUNCIL TAX INCOME      

The precepts raised for the year are as follows; 
 

2022/23

BAND A B C D E F G H

Rate £ 168.80   196.93   225.07   253.20   309.47   365.73   422.00   506.40   

2021/22

BAND A B C D E F G H

Rate £ 162.14   189.16   216.19   243.21   297.26   351.30   405.35   486.42    
 
The Council Tax precept income collected from each of the Local Authorities for the financial year 
is: 
 

2021/22 2022/23

£000 £000

28,584          East Riding of Yorkshire Council 31,551         

14,850          Kingston Upon Hull City Council 16,692         

10,943          North East Lincolnshire Council 11,748         

11,875          North Lincolnshire Council 13,084         

66,252          73,075          
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12. GRANT INCOME 

The PCC Group receive a number of non-ringfenced general grants from central government. These 
grants are included within Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and are as follows; 
 

2021/22 2022/23

£000 £000

130,918        Police Revenue Grant 138,571        

8,341            Council Tax Support Grants 8,341           

1,904            Police Pension Grant 1,904           

1,700            Council Tax Freeze Grants 1,700           

-                   Police Pay Award Grant 1,128           

1,513            COVID-19 Grant Funding -                  

144,376        Total General Government Grants 151,644         
 
 
Additional service specific grants were received from numerous bodies, and are included as part of 
total income in cost of services.  Details of those grants that are £0.500m and above are shown 
below:  
 

2021/22 2022/23

£000 £000

1,890            Recruitment Uplift Programme Grant (Home Office Grant) 2,936           

1,743            Victims Support Grant (Ministry of Justice Grant) 2,187           

-                   Violence Prevention Partnership Grant (Home Office Grant) 2,179           

1,221            DSP Port Security (Home Office Grant) 1,141           

906               DSP Port Security Armed Response (Home Office Grant) 1,086           

-                   Domestic Abuse Victims Support Grant (Home Office Grant) 753              

5,760            10,282          
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13. EXTERNAL AUDIT FEES 

PCC 

GROUP PCC CC

PCC 

GROUP PCC CC

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

38           26          12         Base Audit Fees 38           26          12          

7             5           2           Recurring Fee Variations 7             5            2           

3             2           1           Additional Fee - IAS540 3             2            1           

6             4           2           Additional Fee - VFM 9             6            3           

5             3           2           Fees due relating to prior years 19           12          7           

(7)            (5)          (2)          Rebate from PSAA -             -            -            

(20)          (14)        (6)          Redmond Review Audit Fees Grant (21)          (15)         (6)          

32           21          11         55           36          19          

2021/22 2022/23

 
 

The table above presents the external audit fees payable to Mazars LLP for 2022/23.   
 
The fees include recurring increases in the base audit fee arising from regulatory pressures within the 
audit sector.  New requirements in the Code of Audit Practice 2020 for additional work around Value 
for Money (VFM) and ISA540 Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures have resulted 
in new recurring additional fees laid out in the above table.  
 
In 2022/23 the PCC Group received a Section 31 grant from the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities.  This was provided to support local bodies to meet the anticipated rise in audit fees 
as highlighted in the Redmond Review. 
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14. OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION AND EXIT PACKAGES 

OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION - BANDINGS 

 
The number of employees whose remuneration, excluding employer’s pension contributions, was 
£50,000 or more in bands of £5,000 was:   
 

Police 

Officers

Support 

Staff Total Remuneration Band

Police 

Officers

Support 

Staff Total

No.s No.s No.s £ No.s No.s No.s

136               8              144            50,000 - 54,999 172              13             185          

93                 4              97              55,000 - 59,999 117              5              122          

45                 -               45              60,000 - 64,999 60                4              64           

10                 2              12              65,000 - 69,999 9                  4              13           

4                   -               4               70,000 - 74,999 6                  1              7             

2                   3              5               75,000 - 79,999 2                  1              3             

5                   1              6               80,000 - 84,999 4                  2              6             

6                   1              7               85,000 - 89,999 6                  1              7             

2                   1              3               90,000 - 94,999 1                  -               1             

1                   -               1               95,000 - 99,999 2                  1              3             

-                   -               -                100,000 - 104,999 -                   1              1             

-                   1              1               105,000 - 109,999 1                  1              2             

-                   -               -                110,000 - 114,999 -                   -               -              

1                   -               1               115,000 - 119,999 -                   -               -              

-                   -               -                120,000 - 124,999 1                  -               1             

-                   1              1               125,000 - 129,999 -                   -               -              

-                   -               -                130,000 - 134,999 -                   -               -              

-                   -               -                135,000 - 139,999 -                   -               -              

1                   -               1               140,000 - 144,999 1                  -               1             

-                   -               -                145,000 - 149,999 -                   -               -              

-                   -               -                150,000 - 154,999 -                   -               -              

-                   -               -                155,000 - 159,999 -                   -               -              

1                   -               1               160,000 - 164,999 -                   -               -              

-                   -               -                165,000 - 169,999 -                   -               -              

-                   -               -                170,000 - 174,999 1                  -               1             

307               22            329            383              34             417          

2021/22 2022/23

 
 
 
The Officers disclosed separately in senior officers’ remuneration table below are included in the 
bands above. 
 
A number of employees work in shared services with other regional forces. Disclosure of such 
employees is made in the accounts of the force that holds the employment contract of those 
individuals. 
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OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION – SENIOR OFFICERS 
 

The remuneration paid to senior employees and senior police officers is as follows: 
 

Post Holder

Salary 

(Including 

Fees & 

Allowances)

Other 

Emoluments

Total 

Remuneration 

excluding 

Pension 

Contributions

Pension 

Contributions

Total 

Remuneration 

including 

Pension 

Contributions

2022/23 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chief Constable Note

Chief Constable - Lee Freeman 174                -                       174                       53                          227                    

Deputy Chief Constable 137                7                       144                       -                             144                    

Assistant Chief Constable - Operations 122                1                       123                       33                          156                    

Assistant Chief Constable - Local Policing (until 5th July 2022) 34                  -                       34                         9                            43                      

Temporary Assistant Chief Constable - Local Policing (from 5th July 2022 to 6th March 23) 76                  -                       76                         22                          98                      

Assistant Chief Constable - Local Policing (from 6th March 2023) 9                    -                       9                           2                            11                      

Assistant Chief Officer Resources (from 1st July 2022) 86                  -                       86                         15                          101                    

Assistant Chief Officer Resources (until 24th June 2022) 30                  -                       30                         5                            35                      

668                8                       676                       139                        815                    

PCC

Police and Crime Commissioner 78                  -                       78                         14                          92                      

Chief Executive 102                2                       104                       18                          122                    

Chief Finance Officer (PCC Section 151)* 43                  -                       43                         8                            51                      

223                2                       225                       40                          265                    

PCC Group Total 891                10                     901                       179                        1,080                  
 
*Chief Finance Officer (PCC Section 151) - part time seconded from Humberside Fire. Humberside Police and Crime 
Commissioner contribute towards 40% of salary, NI and Pension 
 

Post Holder

Salary 

(Including 

Fees & 

Allowances)

Other 

Emoluments

Total 

Remuneration 

excluding 

Pension 

Contributions

Pension 

Contributions

Total 

Remuneration 

including 

Pension 

Contributions

2021/22 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chief Constable Note

Chief Constable - Lee Freeman 161                -                       161                       49                          210                    

Deputy Chief Constable 143                7                       150                       40                          190                    

Assistant Chief Constable - Operations 1 88                  -                       88                         26                          114                    

Assistant Chief Constable - Operations 2 17                  1                       18                         5                            23                      

Assistant Chief Constable - Local Policing 116                -                       116                       33                          149                    

Assistant Chief Officer (Resources) 125                -                       125                       22                          147                    

650                8                       658                       175                        833                    

PCC

Police and Crime Commissioner 3 7                    -                       7                           2                            9                        

Police and Crime Commissioner 4 68                  -                       68                         12                          80                      

Chief Executive 90                  -                       90                         16                          106                    

Chief Finance Officer (PCC Section 151) 43                  -                       43                         8                            51                      

208                -                       208                       38                          246                    

PCC Group Total 858                8                       866                       213                        1,079                  
 

1. Assistant Chief Constable – Operations – ended in post December 2021 

2. Assistant Chief Constable – Local Policing – began in post February 2022 

3. Police and Crime Commissioner – ended in post May 2021 

4. Police and Crime Commissioner – begin in post May 2021 

 
*Chief Finance Officer (PCC Section 151) - part time seconded from Humberside Fire. Humberside Police and Crime 
Commissioner contribute towards 40% of salary, NI and Pension 
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OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION – EXIT PACKAGES 
 

The numbers of employee compulsory and voluntary exit packages agreed with total cost per band 
and total cost of the redundancies are set out below: 
 

Exit Package Cost Band

No. of 

compulsory 

redundancies

No. of other 

agreed 

departures

Total No. of 

exit packages 

by cost band

Total cost of 

exit packages 

in each band

£ £000

0 - 20,000 3                     2                  5                    21                   

20,001 - 40,000 1                     -                   1                    40                   

40,001 - 60,000 1                     -                   1                    45                   

5                     2                  7                    106                  

2022/23

 
 
 

Exit Package Cost Band

No. of 

compulsory 

redundancies

No. of other 

agreed 

departures

Total No. of 

exit packages 

by cost band

Total cost of 

exit packages 

in each band

£ £000

0 - 20,000 2                     -                   2                    27                   

20,001 - 40,000 -                      1                  1                    21                   

60,001 - 80,000 1                     1                  2                    153                  

3                     2                  5                    201                  

2021/22
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15. REGIONAL COLLABORATION  

REGIONAL COLLABORATION BOARD (RCB)    

 
The Regional Collaboration Programme was developed to bring opportunities to participating Forces 
across many policing activities whilst retaining local Police Forces, local identity and local 
accountability. 
 
A Regional Collaboration Board (RCB) has governance of the arrangements. This Board comprises 
the four PCCs within the Yorkshire and Humberside Region together with their respective Chief 
Constables and Chief Executives. The arrangements are subject to agreement under Section 22A of 
the Police Act 1996 (as amended). 
 
Regional Collaboration is funded from contributions made by the four participating PCCs and the level 
of contribution from each PCC is dependent upon an assessment of the benefit to be derived from 
each specific project or initiative.  
 
The North East Collaboration Board (NECB) has been established between Humberside, the three 
Yorkshire forces and Cleveland, Durham and Northumbria.  
 
LEAD FORCE COLLABORATION ARRANGEMENTS 

 
A Lead Force model has been adopted for each functional area of regional collaboration, with the 
RCB having governance over all the arrangements. 
 
The PCC for Humberside has Lead Force responsibility within the regional programme for Underwater 
Search services.  
 
The Underwater Search Unit made a surplus of £0.006m in the financial year 2022/23 (Surplus 
£0.008m in 2021/22) with the PCC for Humberside contributing £0.392m (£0.394m in 2021/22). 
 
The PCC for Humberside has made contributions during the year ended 31 March 2023 to other Lead 
Forces as follows: 
 

2022/23 2021/22

£'000 £'000

OPCC for South Yorkshire Procurement and Stores 512        492        

OPCC for West Yorkshire Serious and Organised Crime 1,877     1,381     

Scientific Support 5,160     5,338     

Collision Investigation 608        526        

Prison Intelligence Unit 10         10         

Lead Force Functional Area Contributions Made

 
 
OTHER REGIONAL COLLABORATION ARRANGEMENTS 

 
The PCC for Humberside collaborates in a two force partnership with the Office for the Police and 
Crime Commissioner (OPCC) for South Yorkshire on the provision of Information Services.  The cost 
of the collaboration is shared based on the total size of the respective force budgets assessed using 
a measure of net revenue expenditure. The summary position for the joint operations is outlined 
below: 
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2022/23 2021/22

£'000 £'000

Expenditure

Staff Costs 5,698      6,287     

Property related expenses 1             3           

Supplies and services 6,189      7,051     

Transport related expenses 64           118        

Third party costs -          -        

11,952    13,459   

Income

Contributions (see below) 11,952    13,459   

Other income -          -        

11,952    13,459   

Deficit/(Surplus) in year -          -        

Contributions:

Humberside Police 5,128      5,792     

South Yorkshire Police 6,824      7,667     

11,952    13,459   

Information Services

 
 

In addition to the Information Services arrangement, the PCC has a collaboration agreement in place 
with South Yorkshire for the use of a number of Legal Services staff. Income received by the PCC for 
this arrangement in 2022/23 was £0.212m (2021/22 £0.179m) 
 
 
LOCAL COLLABORATION ARRANGEMENTS 

 
Humberside Police and Humberside Fire Authority collaborate on a joint operation in respect of their 
emergency vehicle maintenance requirements, which are delivered by Emergency Services Fleet 
Management (Humberside) Ltd (ESFM), a company limited by guarantee which was established for 
that purpose. Humberside Police retain joint control of this company with Humberside Fire Authority. 
 
The Net Cost of ESFM Ltd in relation to the Humberside Police in 2021/22 was £1.844m (2021/22 
£1.886m), with a closing Net Assets figure of £0.421m (2021/22 £0.430m). 
 
Humberside Police provide Estates Management Services to Humberside Fire Authority on a lead 
Authority basis.  The Joint Estates Service (JES) provides premises repairs, regular maintenance, 
utility management and support for capital projects. Governance for the JES is provided by the JES 
board chaired by the Assistant Chief Officer (Resources).  The Director of Support Services from 
Humberside Fire and Rescue Service also sits on the board. The overall operational cost of the JES 
is £9.746m (2021/22 £10.349m) with income of £2.692m received from Humberside Fire and Rescue 
Service (2021/22 £1.956m) and other income of £1.050m received from other organisations (2021/22 
£1.251m).  
 
In addition to the above, Humberside Fire Authority also provide the PCC with a Health and Safety 
service. In 2022/23 the PCC paid £0.141m for this service (2021/22 £0.137m). 
 

81



Notes to the MIRS – Adjustments between Accounting and Funding Basis 

51 

16. ANALYSIS OF ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING AND FUNDING BASIS – PCC GROUP 

The table below provides a breakdown of the figure included in the Movement in Reserves Statement which adjusts the total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure recognised within the year to the resources available to the Group as specified by statutory provision.  
 

General 

Fund 

Balance

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Total 

Unusable 

Reserves

Total  

Reserves

General 

Fund 

Balance

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Total 

Unusable 

Reserves

Total  

Reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Reversal of items debited or credited to the CIES:

6,209      6,209     (6,209)     -        Depreciation of non-current assets 7,353      7,353     (7,353)     -        

(1,524)     (1,524)    1,524      -        Revaluation Losses charged on Property, Plant and Equipment 2,581      2,581     (2,581)     -        

(630)       (630)       630        -        Capital Grants applied (509)       (509)       509        -        

74          74         (74)         -        Non-current assets value written off on disposal 299        299        (299)       -        

90          90         (90)         -        Impairment 29          29         (29)         -        

Inclusion of items not debited or credited to the CIES:

(3,768)     (3,768)    3,768      -        Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment (4,844)     (4,844)    4,844      -        

(369)       (369)       369        -        Capital Expenditure funded from Revenue (2,850)     (2,850)    2,850      -        

Adjustments involving the Capital Unapplied Reserve:

-             -            -         -        Reversal of cash sale proceeds credited to gain/loss on disposal in CIES (17)         (17)        17          -        

Adjustments involving the Pension Reserve:

(60,641)   (60,641)  60,641    -        Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debtied or credited to CIES (66,050)   (66,050)  66,050    -        

115,820  115,820 (115,820) -        Employer's pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable in the year 120,883  120,883 (120,883) -        

Adjustments involving the Accumulated Absences Reserve:

(199)       (199)       199        -        Holiday pay accrual charged to the CIES 686        686        (686)       -        

Adjustments Relating to the Collection Fund:

(478)       (478)       478        -        Collection Fund adjustment charged to the CIES (523)       (523)       523        -        

54,584    54,584   (54,584)   -        Total Adjustments 57,038    57,038   (57,038)   -            

Year Ended 31 March 2022 Year Ended 31 March 2023
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17. ANALYSIS OF ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING AND FUNDING BASIS – PCC 

General 

Fund 

Balance

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Total 

Unusable 

Reserves

Total  

Reserves

General 

Fund 

Balance

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Total 

Unusable 

Reserves

Total  

Reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Reversal of items debited or credited to the CIES:

6,209      6,209     (6,209)     -        Depreciation of non-current assets 7,353      7,353     (7,353)     -        

(1,524)     (1,524)    1,524      -        Revaluation Losses charged on Property, Plant and Equipment 2,581      2,581     (2,581)     -        

(630)       (630)       630         -        Capital Grants applied (509)       (509)       509         -        

74          74          (74)         -        Non-current assets value written off on disposal 299         299        (299)       -        

90          90          (90)         -        Impairment 29          29          (29)         -        

Inclusion of items not debited or credited to the CIES:

(3,768)     (3,768)    3,768      -        Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment (4,844)     (4,844)    4,844      -        

(369)       (369)       369         -        Capital Expenditure funded from Revenue (2,850)     (2,850)    2,850      -        

Adjustments involving the Capital Unapplied Reserve:

-             -            -         -        Reversal of cash sale proceeds credited to gain/loss on disposal in CIES (17)         (17)        17          -        

Adjustments involving the Pension Reserve:

(162)       (162)       162         -        Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debtied or credited to CIES (164)       (164)       164         -        

465         465        (465)       Employer's pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable in the year 460         460        (460)       

Adjustments involving the Accumulated Absences Reserve:

(1)           (1)          1            -        Holiday pay accrual charged to the CIES 1            1           (1)           -        

Adjustments Relating to the Collection Fund:

(478)       (478)       478         -        Collection Fund adjustment charged to the CIES (523)       (523)       523         -        

(94)         (94)        94          -            Total Adjustments 1,816      1,816     (1,816)     -            

Year Ended 31 March 2022 Year Ended 31 March 2023
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18. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

The property, plant and equipment held on the PCC Group balance sheet can be split into a number 
of different asset categories as follows; 

Land & 

Buildings

Vehicles, 

Plant & 

Equipment

Assets Under 

Construction

Assets Held for 

Sale

Surplus 

Assets TOTAL

Gross Book Value £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

As at 1st April 2022 109,240        26,923 729 310 140 137,342 

Additions & Enhancements 1,727 7,083 552 - - 9,362 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in 

the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services (3,926) - - - 10 (3,916) 

Disposals - (3,377) - - - (3,377) 

Transfers (620) 915 (915) - 620 - 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in 

the Revaluation Reserve 46,271 - - - - 46,271 

As at 31st March 2023 152,692        31,544 366 310 770 185,682 

Depreciation

As at 1st April 2022 366 13,741 - - - 14,107 

In Year 2,371 4,038 - - 2 6,411 

On Assets Revalued (2,737) - - - (2) (2,739) 

On Assets Sold - (2,987) - - - (2,987) 

Impairment losses recognised in the 

surplus/deficit on the Provision of Services - (61) - - - (61) 

As at 31st March 2023 - 14,731 - - - 14,731 

Net Book Value

As at 31st March 2023 152,692        16,813 366 310 770 170,951 

As at 31st March 2022 108,874        13,182 729 310 140 123,235 

Land & 

Buildings

Vehicles, 

Plant & 

Equipment

Assets Under 

Construction

Assets Held for 

Sale

Surplus 

Assets TOTAL

Gross Book Value £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

As at 1st April 2021 73,289 25,901 11,868 740 - 111,798 

Additions & Enhancements 1,172 3,292 14,636 - - 19,100 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in 

the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services 469 - - - - 469 

Disposals - (2,839) - - - (2,839) 

Transfers 25,496 569 (25,775) (430) 140 - 

Revaluation increases/(decreases) recognised in 

the Revaluation Reserve 8,814 - - - - 8,814 

As at 31st March 2022 109,240        26,923 729 310 140 137,342 

Depreciation

As at 1st April 2021 296 12,601 - - - 12,897 

In Year 1,727 3,813 - - - 5,540 

On Assets Revalued (1,657) - - - - (1,657) 

On Assets Sold - (2,764) - - - (2,764) 

Impairment losses recognised in the 

surplus/deficit on the Provision of Services - 91 - - - 91 

As at 31st March 2022 366 13,741 - - - 14,107 

Net Book Value

As at 31st March 2022 108,874        13,182 729 310 140 123,235 

As at 31st March 2021 72,993 13,300 11,868 740 - 98,901 
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19. ASSET NUMBERS 

31 March 

2022

31 March 

2023

17                 Local Police Team Buildings 15                

13                 Police Stations 13                

4                   Other Buildings 4                  

5                   Headquarters and Offices 4                  

4                   Vulnerable Victims Units 4                  

1                   Training Centre 1                  

1                   Custody Suite 1                  

1                   Surplus Assets 4                  

-                   Assets Under Construction - Property -                   

15                 Assets Under Construction - Vehicles 13                  
 
Details on the valuations of property held by the PCC Group can be found in Note 21 in the accounts.  
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

2022/23 2021/22

Gross Book Value £000 Gross Book Value £000

As at 1st April 2022 5,211                 As at 1st April 2021 5,370           

Additions & Enhancements 1,998                 Additions & Enhancements 1,633           

Reversal of Previous Costs -                        Reversal of Previous Costs (1,549)          

Disposals (559)                  Disposals (243)             

As at 31st March 2023 6,650                 As at 31st March 2022 5,211           

Amortisation Amortisation

As at 1st April 2022 1,874                 As at 1st April 2021 1,448           

In Year 942                    In Year 669              

On Disposals (559)                  On Disposals (243)             

As at 31st March 2023 2,257                 As at 31st March 2022 1,874           

Net Book Value Net Book Value

As at 31st March 2023 4,393                 As at 31st March 2022 3,337           

As at 31st March 2022 3,337                 As at 31st March 2021 3,922            
     
The Intangible Assets all relate to computer software which has been capitalised. 
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21. PROPERTY VALUATIONS 

Land and 

Buildings

Assets Held 

for Sale

Surplus 

Assets

£000 £000 £000

Valued at current value as at:

31 March 2020 -                   310              -                   

31 March 2021 -                   -                   -                   

31 March 2022 -                   -                   -                   

31 March 2023 152,692        -                   770              

Total Gross Book Value 152,692        310              770               
        
The PCC property portfolio is valued on an annual basis by an external valuer with an effective date 
of 31 March 2023.  In 2022/23 the PCC carried out a valuation of the whole property estate due to a 
change in valuers with the current valuation framework coming to an end. In subsequent years the 
PCC will carry out a rolling programme of valuations.  This includes the highest valued 20% of assets 
on an annual basis, and the remaining property estate split by local authority area valued over a four 
year period.  
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22. SUMMARY OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND SOURCES OF FINANCE 

The note below shows the movement in the Capital Financing Requirement due to capital expenditure 
for 2022/23, and the source of finance used. 
 
The Capital Financing Requirement is an indicator that authorities have to include within the suite of 
Prudential Indicators relating to capital finance in Local Authorities. 
 
It is a measure of the PCC Group’s underlying need to borrow for capital purpose. The PCC Group 
has decided to part fund capital by using prudential borrowing, this is reflected in the Capital Financing 
Requirement balance at the end of the financial year. 
 

2021/22 2022/23

£000 £000

102,062        Opening Capital Financing Requirement 118,020        

Capital Investment

19,092          Property, Plant and Equipment 9,350           

1,633            Intangible Assets 1,998           

Sources of Finance

(369)              Revenue funding of Capital (2,850)          

(3,768)           Revenue Provision (4,844)          

(630)              Capital Grant (509)             

-                   Capital Receipts (17)               

118,020        Closing Capital Financing Requirement 121,148        

Explanation of Movements in Year

15,958          Increase/(Decrease) in underlying need to borrow 3,128           

15,958          Increase/(Decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement 3,128            
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23. SHORT TERM DEBTORS AND CREDITORS 

 
SHORT TERM DEBTORS 
 

PCC 

Group PCC

PCC 

Group PCC

2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23

£'000 £'000 Short-Term Debtor by Source: £'000 £'000

5,056     5,056     Government Departments 14,339   14,339   

9,973     9,973     Other Police and Local Authorities 11,356   11,356   

-            -            NHS 199        199        

5,862     5,772     Other 6,334     6,238     

20,891   20,801   Total Short Term Debtors 32,228   32,132   

Short-Term Debtor by Type:

15,602   15,512   Debtors & Accruals 26,421   26,325   

5,289     5,289     Prepayments 5,807     5,807     

20,891   20,801   Total Short Term Debtors 32,228   32,132    
 
 
SHORT TERM CREDITORS 
 

PCC 

Group PCC

PCC 

Group PCC

2021/22 2021/22 2022/23 2022/23

£'000 £'000 Short-Term Creditor by Source: £'000 £'000

2,824     590        Government Departments 6,268     1,893     

8,589     11,430   Other Police and Local Authorities 10,408   15,560   

-            -            NHS 89         89         

11,764   8,882     Other 12,931   9,188     

23,177   20,902   Total Short Term Creditors 29,696   26,730   

Short-Term Creditor by Type:

22,540   20,265   Creditors & Accruals 29,152   26,186   

637        637        Income in Advance 544        544        

23,177   20,902   Total Short Term Creditors 29,696   26,730    
 
 

The PCC ‘Other Police and Local Authorities’ figure of £15.560m includes the intercompany creditor 
of £5.151m with the Chief Constable.  
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24. SHORT TERM INVESTMENTS 

Short term investments relate to those investments which are due to mature within the next 12 
months. The movement in short term investments throughout the year is as follows; 
 

Balance at 

1st April 2022

New 

Investments

Investment 

Maturities

Balance at 31 

March 2023

£000 £000 £000 £000

Short Term Investments with Financial Institutions 9,000            346,525       (351,525)       4,000                 

9,000            346,525       (351,525)       4,000                  
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25. BORROWING 

 
SHORT TERM BORROWING 

 
This relates to borrowing due for maturing within 12 months. 
 

Balance at 

1st April 2022

Loans 

Repaid New Loans

Transferred from 

Long Term 

Borrowing

Balance at 31 

March 2023

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 3,266            (3,266)       -                   3,532                    3,532                 

Other Borrowing -                   -               -                   -                           -                        

3,266            (3,266)       -                   3,532                    3,532                  
 
 
LONG TERM BORROWING 

 
This relates to borrowing that will need to be repaid after more than one year. 
 

Balance at 

1st April 2022

Loans 

Repaid New Loans

Transferred to 

Short Term 

Borrowing

Balance at 31 

March 2023

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 101,997        -                 -               (3,532)              98,465                

Debt at 31st 

March 2022

Debt at 31st 

March 2023

£000 £000

3,532              1-2 years 3,234           

9,933              2-5 years 9,881           

17,032            5-10 years 16,850         

19,000            10-15 years 20,000         

52,500            > 15 years 48,500         

101,997          98,465          
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26. USABLE RESERVES 

The PCC and PCC Group has five revenue reserves and one capital reserve: 
 
Change Management Reserve (Was Performance Improvement Reserve) - This Reserve has 
been provided specifically to support initiatives that are aimed at securing improvements and will 
“pump prime” and meet the initial cost of investment in services. 
 
Partnership Reserve - This Reserve was created to allow the PCC/ PCC Group to continue schemes 
that were previously funded by partner agencies and to support partnership work. 
 
Risk Management Reserve - This Reserve will allow the Chief Constable and the PCC to assist in 
meeting the cost of items highlighted through the Chief Constable’s and the PCC’s risk management 
processes. 
 
Prices and Pay Reserve – This Reserve has been provided to support increases in inflation that are 
in excess of the budgeted amount in the short-term.  For permanent inflationary pressures the 
increase will be incorporated into the Police and Crime Commissioners Medium-Term Resource 
Strategy. 
 
General Reserve - This Reserve is currently being maintained at 3% of the net revenue budget and 
is designed to cushion the PCC/ PCC Group against unforeseen expenditure pressures. 
 
Capital Unapplied Reserve - This Reserve reflects capital grants and receipts that have been 
received but have yet to be used to fund capital expenditure 
 
The movements on the usable reserves in the year are: 
 

2022/23

Opening 

Balance

Transfers 

to/(from) 

Reserves

Closing 

Balance

£000 £000 £000

Revenue Reserves

Performance Improvement Reserve (Now Change Management Reserve) 15,573          (15,573)            -                   

Change Management Reserve (Was Performance Improvement Reserve) -                   18,006             18,006          

Partnership Reserve 1,763            478                  2,241            

Risk Management Reserve 1,629            371                  2,000            

Prices and Pay Reserve (New to 22-23) -                   2,000               2,000            

General Reserve 6,400            200                  6,600            

General Fund Balance 25,365          5,482               30,847          

Capital Reserves

Capital Unapplied Reserve -                   -                      -                   

Total Usable Reserves 25,365          5,482               30,847          

2021/22

Opening 

Balance

Transfers 

to/(from) 

Reserves

Closing 

Balance

£000 £000 £000

Revenue Reserves

Performance Improvement Reserve 10,834          4,739               15,573          

Partnership Reserve 1,274            489                  1,763            

Risk Management Reserve 2,125            (496)                 1,629            

General Reserve 6,120            280                  6,400            

General Fund Balance 20,353          5,012               25,365          

Capital Reserves

Capital Unapplied Reserve -                   -                      -                   

Total Usable Reserves 20,353          5,012               25,365           
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27. UNUSABLE RESERVES  

The breakdown of the unusable reserves held on the PCC Group/PCC balance sheet is as follows; 
 

PCC Group PCC PCC Group PCC

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

(2,443,808) (1,155)       Pensions Reserve (1,652,294)    921        

(15,408)      (15,408)      Capital Adjustment Account (17,019)         (17,019)  

24,881       24,881       Revaluation Reserve 72,126          72,126   

709           709           Collection Fund Adjustment Account 1,231            1,231     

(2,201)       (16)            Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account (2,887)          (17)        

(2,435,827) 9,011         Total Unusable Reserves (1,598,843)    57,242   

2021/22 2022/23

 
 
 
PENSIONS RESERVE 

 
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for post employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory 
provisions. The PCC/ PCC Group accounts for post employment benefits in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of 
service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment 
returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory arrangements require 
benefits earned to be financed as the PCC/ PCC Group makes employer’s contributions to pension 
funds or eventually pay any pensions for which they are directly responsible. The debit balance on 
the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and 
current employees and the resources the PCC/ PCC Group has set aside to meet them. The statutory 
arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be 
paid. 
 
 
 

PCC Group PCC PCC Group PCC

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

(2,450,655) (1,914)       Opening Balance (2,443,808) (1,155)       

62,026       1,063         Actuarial Gains or (losses) on the pensions assets and liabilities 846,347     2,372         

60,641       161           

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited/credited to the 

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the CIES 66,050       164           

(115,820)    (465)          Employers Pension Contributions and direct payments to pensioners (120,883)    (460)          

(2,443,808) (1,155)       Closing Balance (1,652,294) 921           

2021/22 2022/23
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CAPITAL ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT 

 
The Capital Adjustment Account is credited with amounts set aside by the PCC/ PCC Group to finance 
expenditure on non-current assets and absorbs the timing differences that might arise as a result of 
setting aside of resources being out of line with accounting charges for depreciation and impairment 
losses. 
 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

(15,594)      Opening Balance (15,408)      

369           Direct Revenue Financing 2,850         

3,768         Minimum Revenue Provision 4,844         

-                Revaluation reserve write down re disposals -                

-                Receipts on disposal of non current assets 17             

(74)            Carrying value of disposed assets (299)          

(4,775)       Annual depreciation, impairment and revaluations (9,962)       

268           Historical cost depreciation adjustment 430           

630           Application of Government Grants to finance capital expenditure 509           

(15,408)      Closing Balance (17,019)       
 
 
 
REVALUATION RESERVE 

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the PCC/ PCC Group arising from increases in 
the value of its Property, Plant and Equipment. A transfer can be made from the Revaluation Reserve 
to the Capital Adjustment Account to reflect the amount of additional depreciation that has been 
charged due to increases in value. The balance is also reduced when assets with accumulated gains 
are revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost, or when assets with accumulated gains 
are disposed of and the gains are realised. 
 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

15,733       Opening Balance 24,881       

9,416         Revaluation of Non Current Assets 47,675       

-                Amounts written out relating to sold asset -                

(268)          Historical cost depreciation adjustment (430)          

24,881       Closing Balance 72,126        
 
 
 
COLLECTION FUND ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT 

 
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of 
Council Tax income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as it falls due from 
Council Tax payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across amounts to the 
General Fund from the Collection Fund. 
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ACCUMULATED ABSENCES ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT 

 
The Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise 
on the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the 
year, e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March. Statutory arrangements require that 
the impact on the General Funding Balance is neutralised by transfers to/from the Account. 
 

PCC Group PCC PCC Group PCC

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

(2,400)           (18)        Opening Balance (2,201)           (16)        

199               2           Adjustment based on calculation for untaken leave (686)             (1)          

(2,201)           (16)        Closing Balance (2,887)           (17)        

2021/22 2022/23
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28. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

CIVIL CLAIMS 

 
A number of potential civil and other claims could be brought against the PCC Group. The total 
estimated liability is £4,247k (2021/22 £3,712k).  The timing of these claims is very unpredictable and 
is likely to be over a number of years.   
 
REGIONAL WORKING – EMPLOYMENT OF STAFF 

 
The Regional Collaboration Board has agreed to the adoption of a lead force model to provide 
managers and staff/officers engaged in Regional Working with consistent Human Resources policy 
and practices. Under these arrangements police staff will be employed by the lead force on a 
permanent, substantive basis and Police officers will be seconded. 
 

The PCC for Humberside has agreed to indemnify other PCCs for its share of any costs in the event 
of any employment tribunal or civil court claims related to regional employment. This indemnity is 
unlimited. At this time, it is not possible to predict the value or timing of any obligations falling due as 
a result of this indemnity and so no provision has been made. 
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29. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES IN RELATION TO RETIREMENT BENEFITS 

The underlying assets and liabilities for retirement benefits of the PCC and PCC Group at 31 March 
2022 and 31 March 2021 are as follows: 
 

31 March 

2023

31 March 

2022

31 March 

2023

31 March 

2022

31 March 

2023

31 March 

2022

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Estimated liabilities in the Scheme (269,884) (396,203)   (1,692,080)   (2,350,200) (1,961,964)   (2,746,403) 

Estimated assets in the Scheme 309,670  302,595    -                 -                309,670       302,595     

Net Asset/(Liability) 39,786    (93,608)     (1,692,080)   (2,350,200) (1,652,294)   (2,443,808) 

31 March 

2023

31 March 

2022

Allocation of Net Asset/(Liability): £'000 £'000

PCC 921             (1,155)        

Chief Constable (1,653,215)   (2,442,653) 

(1,652,294)   (2,443,808) 

Local Government 

Pension Scheme Police Pension Schemes TOTAL

 
 
 
PENSION COMMENTARY 

 
The liabilities show the PCC’s and PCC Group’s long term commitments to pay retirement 
benefits.  The total net liability of £1,652m has a substantial impact on the net worth of the PCC 
and PCC Group as recorded in the balance sheet, resulting in a negative overall balance of 
£1,605m in the PCC Group balance sheet.   
 
As at 31 March 2023 the net discount rate (discount rate net of CPI inflation) has significantly 
increased compared to the previous year. This has lead to a large gain on scheme values on the 
balance sheet with the Police Pension Scheme liability significantly reducing and the LGPS 
liability now being reflected as a surplus. The discount rate has increased due to the increasing 
performance of the bond market.  
 
The last actuarial valuation on the Police Pension Scheme was carried out as at 31 March 2020.  
The next Police Pension valuation is due to be reported in 2023/24.  The last actuarial review 
was carried out on the Local Government Pension Scheme as at 31 March 2022.  The next 
actuarial review takes place as at 31 March 2025.  
 
Covid 19 – The current population mortality projections make a short term allowance for the 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. Long term rates of future mortality improvement are not 
projected to change. It’s expected that the long term impact of the pandemic on life expectancy 
will continue to evolve over time.  
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30. RECONCILIATION OF PRESENT VALUE OF SCHEME ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

 
RECONCILIATION OF SCHEME LIABILITIES 
 

2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 2021/22

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1st April (2,350,200)  (2,317,532)  (396,203)    (406,955)     

Correction to Opening Balances -                (138)           -                -                 

Current service cost (38,870)      (47,440)       (17,166)      (19,139)       

Past service costs (including curtailments) -                -                 (145)           (90)             

Interest cost (61,990)      (46,300)       (11,072)      (8,500)         

Contributions by scheme participants (10,510)      (10,030)       (2,509)        (2,459)         

Benefits paid 69,457       63,705        6,322         5,663          

Remeasurements:

Gains and losses from changes in assumptions 833,933      29,385        182,740      36,200        

Experience gains and losses (133,900)    (21,850)       (31,851)      (923)           

31st March (1,692,080)  (2,350,200)  (269,884)    (396,203)     

Unfunded Liabilties: Police 

Pension Schemes

Funded Liabilties: Local 

Government Pension 

Scheme

 
 
 

The expected contributions to the LGPS for 2022/23 are £7.2m (2021/22 was £7.1m) and £27.1m 
for the Police Pension Fund (2021/22 was £23.6m). 
 
 
RECONCILIATION OF SCHEME ASSETS 
 

2022/23 2021/22

£'000 £'000

1st April 302,595      273,832      

Interest income on Plan assets 8,360         5,649          

Employer contributions 7,052         7,050          

Contributions by scheme participants 2,509         2,459          

Benefits paid (6,271)        (5,609)         

Remeasurements:

Return on assets excluding net interest (4,575)        19,214        

31st March 309,670      302,595      

Local Government Pension 

Scheme
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31. BASIS FOR ESTIMATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of 
the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, 
salary levels etc. 
 

The Police Schemes have been assessed by the Government Actuaries Department and the Local 
Authority Scheme, which is administered by the East Riding of Yorkshire Council, has been assessed 
by Hymans Robertson, actuaries.  
 
The main assumptions used in their calculations have been: 
 

2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 2021/22

% % % %

Rate of Inflation 2.95           3.15            2.60           3.00            

Rate of Increases in Salaries 2.95           4.05            3.85           4.75            

Rate of increase in Pensions 2.95           3.15            2.60           3.00            

Rate for Discounting Scheme Liabilities 4.75           2.75            4.65           2.65            

CARE Revaluation 3.85           4.25            

Take up option to convert annual pension into 

retirement grant:

Pre April 2008 service 60              60              

Post April 2008 service 80              80              

Local Government Pension 

Scheme Police Pension Schemes

 
 
The sensitivity of scheme liabilities to changes in the main assumptions are: 
 

2022/23 % £000 % £000

Change in assumption:

0.5% increase in salaries increase rate 1.00           3,170          1.00           13,000        

0.5% increase in pensions increase rate 9.00           25,605        7.50           124,000      

0.5% decrease in discounting of liabilities rate 10.00         28,335        7.50           126,000      

1 year increase in member life expectancy rate 4.00           10,795        2.50           44,000        

2021/22 % £000 % £000

Change in assumption:

0.5% increase in salaries increase rate 1.00           5,035          1.00           20,000        

0.5% increase in pensions increase rate 10.00         41,110        8.50           202,000      

0.5% decrease in discounting of liabilities rate 12.00         46,480        9.50           221,000      

1 year increase in member life expectancy rate 4.00           15,848        3.50           80,000        

Local Government Pension 

Scheme Police Pension Schemes

Local Government Pension 

Scheme Police Pension Schemes

 
 
Opposite changes in assumptions would produce equal and opposite changes in scheme liabilities. 
Doubling the changes in assumptions would produce approximately double the change in scheme 
liabilities. 
  

99



Notes to the Balance Sheet – Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities 

69 

The weighted average duration of the scheme liabilities are: 
 

2022/23

2021/22

Local Government 

Pension Scheme

Police Pension 

Schemes

20.0

Years

16.0

Years

24.0 20.0  
   

The Police Pension Schemes have no assets to cover the liabilities incurred. 
 
 
Assets in the LGPS are valued at fair value, principally market value for investments, and consist of 
the following categories, by proportion of the assets held by the fund:    
 

2022/23 2021/22

Asset quoted prices: % £000 % £000

Equity securities 10.1           31,207        12.1           36,295        

Debt securities 8.8             27,356        13.6           26,615        

Private equity 6.2             19,144        5.7             22,106        

Real estate 9.1             28,038        11.6           34,485        

Investment funds 64.0           198,146      54.2           179,206      

Cash and cash equivalents 1.9             5,779          2.8             3,888          

Total 309,670      302,595      

In active markets 73.6           227,785      77.1           230,925      

Not in active markets 26.4           81,885        22.9           71,670        

309,670      302,595      
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

100



Notes to the Balance Sheet – Assumed Mortality Rates 

70 

32. ASSUMED MORTALITY RATES 

Mortality rates are projected using published tables.  Future mortality improvements are in line with 
the 2014-based UK principal population projections. 
 

POLICE PENSION FUND

2022/23

Exact Age Exact Age

Males Females Males Females

65 21.9 23.5 65 23.5 25.0

2021/22

Exact Age Exact Age

Males Females Males Females

65 22.1 23.8 65 23.8 25.4

LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME

2022/23

Exact Age Exact Age

Males Females Males Females

65 20.8 23.7 65 21.50 25.2

2021/22

Exact Age Exact Age

Males Females Males Females

65 20.8 23.5 65 22.00 25.3

Current Pensioners Future Pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners

Current Pensioners Future Pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners

Current Pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners

Future Pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners

Current Pensioners Future Pensioners
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33. REMEASUREMENTS OF THE NET DEFINED BENEFIT LIABILITY 

The IAS19 remeasurement movements on the Pensions Reserve can be analysed into the following remeasurement categories, measured as absolute 
amounts and as percentages of assets or liabilities at 31 March:   
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT

£'000 % £'000 % £'000 % £'000 % £'000 %

Return on assets, excluding net interest 9,430       3.83        (26,448)   (11.55) 35,071     12.81   19,214    6.35    (4,575)    (1.48)   

Difference between actuarial assumptions 

about liabilities and actual experience (15)           (0.01)       27,544    9.52    2,903       0.71    (923)       (0.23)   (31,851)   (11.80) 

Changes in the demographic and financial 

assumptions used to estimate liabilties (31,373)    (9.07)       49,446    17.09  (104,269)  (25.62) 36,200    9.14    182,740  67.71   

Total IAS19 Remeasurements (21,958)    (6.35)       50,542    17.47  (66,295)    (16.29) 54,491    13.75   146,314  54.21   

POLICE PENSION SCHEMES

£'000 % £'000 % £'000 % £'000 % £'000 %

Difference between actuarial assumptions 

about liabilities and actual experience 6,633       0.30 46,360    2.21    54,150     2.34    (21,850)   (0.93)   (133,900) (7.91)   

Changes in the demographic and financial 

assumptions used to estimate liabilties (61,020)    (2.73)       133,830  6.39    (241,917)  (10.44) 29,385    1.25    833,933  49.28   

Total IAS19 Remeasurements (54,387)    (2.43)       180,190  8.61    (187,767)  (8.10)   7,535      0.32    700,033  41.37   

Allocation of IAS19 Remeasurements:

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

PCC (1,063)      (2,372)     

Chief Constable (60,963)    (843,975) 

Total IAS19 Remeasurements (62,026)    (846,347) 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

 

102



Notes to the Balance Sheet – Financial Instruments 

72 

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

A Financial Instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another.  The term ‘Financial Instrument’ covers both Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities and includes both the most straight forward Financial Assets and Liabilities 
such as trade receivables and trade payables and the most complex ones such as derivatives and 
embedded derivatives.  IFRS 9 Financial Instruments has been adopted however the impact on the 
Financial Statements is minimal due to the use of only simple financial instruments.   
 
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITES 

 
Trade creditors and debtors included as financial instruments are less than the creditors and debtors 
included in the Balance Sheet as those that are not contractual or are not due to be settled in cash or 
by another financial instrument are excluded. 
 
The carrying and fair value amounts of financial liabilities and assets held by the PCC Group on the 
Balance Sheet are: 
 

Financial Liabilities

Carrying 

Amount Fair Value

Carrying 

Amount Fair Value

£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade Creditors 19,825          19,825             16,216             16,216             

Cash Overdrawn -                   -                      -                      -                      

PWLB Loans 101,997        85,430             105,263           111,402           

Other Loans -                   -                      -                      -                      

Total 121,822        105,255           121,479           127,618           

Balance at 31 March 2023 Balance at 31 March 2022

 
 
 
These relate to loans from the PWLB, which are included in the Balance Sheet as outstanding 
principal (carrying value) and accrued interest, shown separately within current liabilities.  Trade 
creditors and other payables are shown at the invoiced amounts. 
 
The fair value is greater than the carrying amount because the PCC Group’s portfolio of loans includes 
a number of fixed rate loans where the interest rate payable is higher than the rates available for 
similar loans in the markets at the balance sheet date. The fair value measurement for loans payable 
has been provided by the PWLB based on their premature repayment rates. Other Loans represents 
short term borrowing held at fair value. 
 
The financial liabilities held by the force measured at fair value have been classified as Level 1; quoted 
prices in active markets for identical liabilities. 
 

Financial Assets

Carrying 

Amount Fair Value

Carrying 

Amount Fair Value

£000 £000 £000 £000

Trade Debtors 23,498          23,498             15,031             15,031             

Cash and Cash Equivalents 5,120            5,120               5,613               5,613               

Deposits with Banks and Financial Institutions 4,000            4,000               9,000               9,000               

Total 32,618          32,618             29,644             29,644             

Balance at 31 March 2023 Balance at 31 March 2022

 
 

103



Notes to the Balance Sheet – Financial Instruments 

73 

Financial Assets include temporary investments that have fixed or determinable payments, but are 
not quoted in an active market, and trade debtors and receivables based on the invoiced/billed 
amounts. 

The nature and the type of Financial Instruments held by the PCC/PCC Group are not significant in 
relation to the overall financial position of the PCC/PCC Group. 

RECLASSIFICATION/DE-RECOGNITION - The PCC/PCC Group has not reclassified any Financial 
Instruments during the year as to how they are measured, i.e. at amortised cost rather than fair value 
and no financial assets have been transferred during the year, in such a way that part or all do not 
qualify for recognition. No early repayment has been undertaken. 

COLLATERAL - The PCC/PCC Group has not pledged any financial assets as collateral for liabilities 
during the year and holds no collateral as security.  

EFFECT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS ON THE COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 
STATEMENT 

Charges and income to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in relation to 
Financial Instruments are made up as follows: 

Liabilties Assets

PWLB Loans

Deposits with Banks 

and Financial 

Institutions Total 

£000 £000 £000

Interest Expense 2,103 - 2,103 

Interest Income - (481) (481) 

Net Affect for the Year 2,103 (481) 1,622 

FINANCIAL RISKS 

The PCC’s and PCC Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. 

The PCC Group's overall Risk Management Policy in relation to financial instruments is embedded 
within the Treasury Management Strategy Statement.  The Policy has been prepared to include the 
requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice in Treasury Management.  In relation to specific risk 
categories set out above, the PCC Group’s position is as follows:  

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the PCC Group. 

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to 
the PCC Group's customers. 

The PCC Group regards the prime objective of its Treasury Management activities to be the security 
of the principal sums it invests. 

Deposits are made in accordance with the treasury management practices and associated schedules 
approved as part of the treasury management policy statement. 

Customers of the PCC Group are assessed, taking into account their latest financial standing and 
credit for customers is not generally allowed. 
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The Debtors at 31 March 2023, includes £25.7m that relates to Central and Local Government 
organisations, and as such is not classed as a credit risk.  The profile of the remaining debtors which 
are monitored on a regular basis is set out below:   
 

2022/23 2021/22

£000 £000

Up to Three Months 82                147                  

More than Three Months 95                44                    

Total 177              191                   
 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the possibility that the PCC Group might not have funds available to meet its 
commitments to make payments. 
 
As at 31 March 2023 the PCC Group had balances on revenue reserves of £30.847m, cash and cash 
equivalents of £5.1m and deposits with banks and financial institutions of £4m.  The PCC Group also 
has access to borrowing from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB).  There is therefore no significant 
risk that the PCC Group would be unable to meet its financial commitments.   
 
As part of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement the PCC Group considers the maturity 
analysis of borrowings at the beginning of the financial year in order to manage the profile of debt 
repayable.  The position at 31 March 2023 can be found within Note 25 of these accounts. 
 

Market Risk 
 
Market risk is the possibility that financial loss might arise for the PCC Group as a result of changes 
in such measures as interest rates and stock market movements. 
 
The PCC Group is not exposed to specific risk in terms of interest movements as both borrowings 
and investments are at fixed rates.  The PCC Group manages its exposure to fluctuations in interest 
rates with a view to containing its costs within approved budgets within the arrangements set out in 
its Treasury Management Strategy Statement. 
 
Fluctuations in market interest rates are a factor that is considered when formulating the PCC Group’s 
MTRS which provides a framework for investment and borrowing decisions. 
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35. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

ADJUSTMENTS FOR NON-CASH MOVEMENTS 
 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

(55,179)      Notional Pension Costs (in excess of) / less than actual pensions paid (54,833)      

(4,775)       Depreciation and Impairment (9,962)       

(1,549)       Reversal of prior year capital expenditure -                

(1,255)       Other non cash movements 5,099         

(62,758)      (59,696)       
 
ADJUSTMENTS FOR INVESTING AND FINANCING CASH MOVEMENTS 
 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

630           Capital Grants credited to surplus or deficit on the provision of services 510           

-                Proceeds from the sale of Property, Plant and Equipment Assets 17             

630           527            
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

472           Bank Imprest and current accounts 665           

10             Cash in Hand 10             

-                Cash Clearing -                

5,131         Short term deposits with banks and building societies 4,445         

5,613         5,120          
 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

21,487       Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment 8,422         

1,633         Purchase of Intangible Assets 1,998         

(853)          Capital Grants received (503)          

-                Proceeds from sale of Property, Plant and Equipment (17)            

(3,000)       Purchase of Short Term Investments (5,000)       

(60)            Other Receipts from Investing Activities (60)            

19,207       4,840          
 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

(31,000)      Cash Receipts of Short and Long Term Borrowing -                

23,325       Repayment of Short and Long Term Borrowing 3,266         

(7,675)       3,266          
 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES – the below table discloses the cash flow of interest received and paid during the year 

 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

(27)            Interest received (481)          

1,916         Interest paid 2,258         

1,889         1,777          
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36. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS          

In accordance with the reporting requirements of IAS 24, the Group is required to disclose details of 
material transactions with related parties, that is bodies or individuals that have the potential to influence 
the Group or to be controlled or influenced by the Group. 
 
There are direct relationships between the PCC and several central and local government organisations, 
the main ones being the Home Office (Police Grant), the Ministry of Justice (Grant) and the four Unitary 
Authorities (Council Tax/Precepts).  These are disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements. 
 
The PCC has direct control over the Group’s finances and is responsible for setting priorities through the 
Police and Crime Plan. The Chief Constable retains operational independence and operates within the 
budget set by the PCC, to deliver the Force aims and objectives set out in the Police and Crime Plan. 
Section 28 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 requires that local authorities covered 
by the police area must establish a Police and Crime Panel (PCP) for that area. The PCP scrutinises the 
decisions of the PCC, reviews the Police and Crime Plan and has a right of veto over the precept. 
 
There are also direct relationships between the PCC and other PCCs within the Yorkshire and Humberside 
region and PCCs in Cleveland, Durham and Northumbria in respect of Regional Collaboration 
arrangements. Details are disclosed in note 15 to the financial statements. 
 
The Police and Crime Commissioner for Humberside is a council member for North Lincolnshire Council. 
The direct relationship between the PCC Group and the Council in relation to council tax precept income 
is disclosed in note 11 to the financial statements. The Police and Crime Commissioner and their spouse 
are also both councillors for Barton Town Council. During 2022/23 no transactions were made between 
the PCC and the town council (£nil in 2021/22).  
 
The Chief Constable is represented on the National Police Chiefs Council which is an independent 
professional body of chief police officers and senior staff equivalents. 
 
The Chief Constable is a member of the BlueLight Commercial Board. This board monitors and oversees 
the operations of BlueLight Commercial Ltd, a government funded procurement company designed to 
support emergency services procurement. In 2022/23 there were no transactions made between the PCC 
Group and the organisation (£515 in 2021/22) 
 
The Deputy Chief Constable and the Assistant Chief Officer of the force are Directors of the Emergency 
Services Fleet Management (Humberside) Ltd.  The Chief Finance Officer to the PCC was also a Director 
until July 2022.  Emergency Services Fleet Management (Humberside) Ltd is a joint operation that provides 
vehicle maintenance services to Humberside Police and Humberside Fire Authority. The company 
supplied services with a value of £2,132,845 to Humberside Police during 2022/23 (£2,195,612 in 
2021/22).  The PCC Group leases part of its Melton workshop facility to the company for which a rent of 
£198,799 was charged in 2022/23 (£198,799 2021/22). Other income received totaled £35,675 in 2022/23 
(£35,456 2021/22).  Details of Humberside Police’s share of income, expenditure, assets and liabilities of 
this joint operation are disclosed in Note 8 to the financial statements. 
 
The Chief Executive of the OPCC is a non-executive director on the board of Ongo Partnership Limited, a 
social housing provider in North Lincolnshire. During 2022/23 no transactions were made between the 
PCC Group and Ongo Partnership Limited (£nil in 2021/22).  
 
The spouse of the Detective Chief Superintendent of Humberside Police is the Chief Constable of South 
Yorkshire Police. The Regional Collaboration arrangements between the two forces are disclosed in Note 
8 to the financial statements.  
 
The spouse of the Head of Talent for Humberside Police is the director of TMC3 – an IT company 
specialising in cyber security. During 2022/23 a total of £25,920 in payments were made by the PCC Group 
to TMC3 (£nil in 2021/22).  
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The Chief Finance Officer and the Deputy Chief Finance Officer to the PCC are seconded from 
Humberside Fire and Rescue Services for 40% of their time. The Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Humberside contributes towards all relevant pay and employee costs for this proportion 
of their time. The Police and Crime Commissioner for Humberside is also a member of the Humberside 
Fire Authority. The joint operations ran by both the PCC Group and Humberside Fire are detailed in note 
8 to the financial statements.  
 
The previous Assistant Chief Officer (Resources) in post until June 2022 was treasurer for the British 
Association of Women in Policing (BAWP).  Humberside Police held a separate bank account for BAWP, 
along with an account for the Senior Women in Policing (SwiP), which is a part of BAWP. The BAWP is a 
national charity which exists to raise awareness and understanding of issues affecting women within the 
Police Service. The responsibilities as treasurer moved to a different police force on the transfer of the 
previous post holder.  
   
A survey of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Humberside, Senior Staff within the OPCC, the Chief 
Constable/Senior Officers of Humberside Police and parties related to them was undertaken in preparing 
these financial statements. Except as disclosed above, no material related party transactions were 
identified. 
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37. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

The unaudited Statement of Accounts were issued on 31 May 2023.  The PCC Group reviewed events 
occurring between 31 March and the issue date, and did not identify any additional events that were 
adjusting events in respect of conditions existing at the Balance Sheet date.  
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38. CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

 
For the 2022/23 statement of accounts the estimation basis for the allocation of the IAS19 Pension 
transactions between commands has been amended.  
 
The CIPFA Code states that for any material change in accounting estimate the force should 
disclose: 
 

1. The nature of the change in accounting estimate 

2. The amount of the change that effects the current period, or that is expected to have in 

future periods. 

In previous financial years the allocation of the reversal of pension contributions and the current 
service cost has been purely based on the total pension contribution charged in each force command.  
 
The new estimation takes into account the cost of the police pension fund which is charged to 
Centrally Managed Services, alongside the pension contribution charges used in the previous 
estimation basis. This results in a larger percentage of IAS19 reversal of contributions and current 
service costs being allocated to the centrally managed command than in previous years. 
 
A review of the previous allocation basis has resulted in the conclusion that the new estimation would 
better reflect how the original costs of pensions are reflected in the CIES.  
 
The table below summarises the change the new estimation basis has on the 22/23 financial year in 
both the CIES and the EFA.  
 

22-23 Gross 

Expenditure 

in CIES

22-23 Gross 

Expenditure in 

CIES (based on 

old allocation) Variance

22-23 Pension 

Charges in EFA

22-23 Pension 

Charges in EFA 

(based on old 

allocation) Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Northbank Division 48,120         44,119              4,001     (1,404)               (5,405)            4,001     

Southbank Division 33,194         30,443              2,751     (989)                 (3,740)            2,751     

Force Control Room 20,719         20,475              244        2,553                2,309             244        

Protecting Vulnerable People 13,770         12,526              1,244     (588)                 (1,832)            1,244     

Regional Collaboration 12,493         12,227              266        (145)                 (411)              266        

Special Operations Unit 15,154         13,955              1,199     (521)                 (1,720)            1,199     

Specialist Crime 16,194         15,180              1,014     92                    (922)              1,014     

People Services 15,308         14,507              801        277                   (524)              801        

Estates Services 13,874         13,874              -             266                   266                -             

Information Services 10,819         10,819              -             17                    17                 -             

Corporate Development 7,683           7,456                227        611                   384                227        

Criminal Justice (previously part of Corporate Development)5,717           5,651                66          441                   375                66          

Centrally Managed Services 27,102         39,128              (12,026) (11,810)             216                (12,026) 

Other Services 24,010         23,797              213        1,098                885                213        

Police & Crime Commissioner 10,104         10,104              -           233                   233                -           

274,261       274,261             -        (9,869)               (9,869)            -            
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POLICE PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS 
 
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting sets out the accounting treatment for the Police 
Pension Fund Accounts in the financial year 2022/23. 
 
The Chief Constable is responsible for administering the Police Pension Fund in accordance with the 
Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. All payments and receipts are made to and from 
the Police and Crime Commissioner for Humberside’s (“PCC”) Police Fund. These Police Pension 
Fund Accounts do not form part of the Chief Constable’s or PCC Group Financial Statements. 

 
TRANSACTIONS RELATING TO RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and other employees, the PCC Group 
offers retirement benefits.  Although these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, 
the PCC Group has a commitment to make the payments that need to be disclosed at the time that 
employees earn their future entitlement. 
 
The PCC Group participates in the following pension schemes:   
 
The Police Pension Schemes for police officers – three schemes where provided for police officers, 
the 1987 Scheme, the 2006 scheme and the 2015 scheme. From 1 April 2022 all active scheme 
members have been transferred into the 2015 scheme due to the end of the police pension remedy 
period. The 1987 and 2006 schemes are now closed to future pension build up.  
 
The 2015 pension scheme has officers’ contributions in a range of 12.44 to 13.78% (2021/22 12.44 
to 13.78%). All schemes are unfunded schemes, i.e. no investment assets are built up to meet the 
pensions liabilities and cash has to be generated to meet actual pensions payments as they eventually 
fall due.  
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme for police staff, administered by the East Riding of Yorkshire 
Council – is a funded scheme, i.e. the PCC and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated 
at a level intended to balance the pensions liabilities with investment assets. 
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The accounting and funding arrangements for Police Pensions are detailed below: 
 
POLICE PENSIONS FUND ACCOUNT

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE

Police and Crime Commissioner ("PCC"):

(20,473)     - contributions at 31% (21,466)     

(568)          - early retirements - Ill Health (574)          

(9,691)       Officers' Contributions (10,117)     

(32,157)   

TRANSFERS IN

(398)          Transfers in from other Pension Schemes (412)        

BENEFITS PAYABLE

54,225       - Pensions 56,811      

9,984        - Commutations and lump sum retirement benefits 12,981      

32             - Lump sum death benefits -               

69,792    

PAYMENTS TO AND ON ACCOUNT OF LEAVERS

95             - Refunds of contributions 168           

4               - Transfers out to other Pension Scheme 90             

-                - Transfers out to other Police Forces: 1974 arrangments -               

258         

33,210       NET AMOUNT PAYABLE FOR THE YEAR BEFORE TRANSFER FROM THE PCC 37,481    

(31,295)     Additional funding payable by the PCC to meet the deficit (funded by the Home Office) (35,473)   

(1,915)       Additional funding payables by the PCC to meet the deficit (NOT funded by the Home Office) (2,008)     

-                NET AMOUNT PAYABLE/RECEIVABLE FOR THE YEAR -             

NET ASSETS STATEMENT

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

CURRENT ASSETS

941           Police Fund Debtor 4,895      

4,647        Pensions Paid in Advance 5,092      

CURRENT LIABILITIES

665           Unpaid Pensions Due -             

4,923        Humberside Police and Crime Commissioner 9,987      

-                -              
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NOTES TO THE POLICE PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS 
 
The Police Officer Pension Schemes make up the account: 
 
• 1987 Police Pension Scheme 

• 2006 Police Pension Scheme 

• 2015 Police Pension Scheme 

PCCs are obliged to include the Pension Fund Account in their Statement of Accounts in accordance 
with regulation 7(1)(d) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003.  The Fund is administered and 
managed by the Humberside Police Finance Section. 
 
The fund is charged with all pensions expenditure in accordance with Home Office guidance, with 
income being employee contributions, employer contributions, which for 2022/23 was 31% of 
pensionable pay (2021/22 31%). 
 
Other income items within the fund are transfer payments from other pension schemes and a capital 
charge that is twice the average pensionable pay of officers that retire on ill health. 
 
The Home Office provide a pension “top up” grant to fund differences on the fund account, 80% is 
received up front for the relevant financial year, with the balance provided on submission of the PCC’s 
financial statements. 
 
There has been an adjustment of 2.9% to the cash flow to the Police Pension Fund due to the 
reduction in the employer contribution rate from 33.9% to 31% being reflected in a reduction in HM 
Treasury pensions top up funding of £2,008k (2021/22 £1,615k). 
 
There are no investment assets, the fund is balanced to nil at the yearend by either a contribution 
from the Police Fund, or if a surplus balance on the fund, a transfer to the Police Fund. 
 
The fund does not account for benefits payable in the future (IAS 19 Employee Benefits), which is a 
divergence from the accounting policy for the Police Fund Account as stated in the statement of 
accounting policies. Details of the long term pension obligations and the cost of pensions can be 
found in the PCC Group’s financial statements. 
 
Employees’ and employer’s contribution levels are based on percentages of pensionable pay set 
nationally by the Home Office and are subject to triennial revaluation by the Government Actuary’s 
Department. 
 
The responsibility for future pension benefits still lies with the PCC Group, through the Police Fund 
Account.  The responsibility for amounts due to/from the Fund Account and the Home Office is shown 
within the Police Fund, not the Pensions Fund. 
 
As previously stated the Chief Constable is responsible for administering the Police Pension Fund in 
accordance with the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. All payments and receipts are 
made to and from the PCCs Police Fund. As such, the Chief Constable and the PCC are the only 
related parties to the Fund and all the transactions shown in the Police Pension Fund Accounts have 
been processed through the PCC. 
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GLOSSARY OF ACCOUNTING TERMS 
 
The PCC and PCC Group has adopted the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
based Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting as its standard basis of accounting. 
 
Definitions of accounting terms used are given below: 

 

 
Term 

 
Definition 
 

Accounting period The period of time covered by the financial statements, normally a period 
of twelve months. 

Accruals basis Under the accruals concept, expenses are recognised when incurred, not 
when the cash is actually paid out, and revenue is recognised when it is 
earned, not when the cash is actually received. 

Agency cost Services which are performed by or for another authority or public body, 
where the agent is reimbursed for the cost of the work done.  

Amortisation The term used for depreciation of intangible assets such as the annual 
charge in respect of computer licenses the PCC/ PCC Group has 
purchased. 

Asset An item owned or leased by the PCC/ PCC Group, which has a value, for 
example, land and buildings, vehicles, equipment, cash. 

Assets held for sale Assets are held for sale if their value will be recovered through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. 

Balance Sheet This represents a summary of all the assets and liabilities of the PCC/ PCC 
Group. 

Capital expenditure Expenditure on new assets or on the enhancement of existing assets so 
as to prolong their useful life or enhance value. 

Capital Financing 
Account  

This account represents amounts set aside from revenue or capital 
receipts to finance expenditure on property, plant and equipment or for 
the repayment of external loans and certain other capital financing 
transactions. 

Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) 

The Capital Financing Requirement is a measure of the extent to which 
the PCC/ PCC Group needs to borrow to support capital expenditure. It 
does not necessarily relate to the actual amount of borrowing at any point 
in time.  

Capital receipts Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment. 

Carry overs These are underspends at the end of the financial year, which are carried 
forward into the next financial year to support that year’s expenditure 
plans. 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

Cash includes cash held in bank accounts and cash in hand. Cash 
equivalents are assets that can be readily converted into cash such as 
deposits and certain short term investments. 

CIPFA The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.  This is the 
main professional accountancy body relating to the public sector. 

Collection Fund Precept Income is collected on behalf of the PCC by the four billing 
Authorities (East Riding of Yorkshire Council; Kingston upon Hull City 
Council; North East Lincolnshire Council and North Lincolnshire Council).  
The precept income is then paid to the PCC as Precept Income. 

Contingent asset or 
liability 

An asset or liability that is not recognised in the financial statements due 
to the level of uncertainty surrounding it but is disclosed as it is possible 
that it may result in a future inflow or outflow of resources. 
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Creditors Amounts owed by the PCC/ PCC Group for goods received or services 
rendered but not yet paid for at the end of the financial year. 

Current asset  or 
liability 

An asset or liability that the PCC/ PCC Group expect to hold or discharge 
for a period of less than one year from the Balance Sheet date. 

Debtors 
 

Sums of money due to the PCC/ PCC Group for work done or services 
supplied but not received at the end of the financial year. 

Deferred liabilities 
 

Liabilities which by arrangement are payable beyond the next year at some 
points in the future or paid off by an annual sum over a period of time. 

Depreciation The accounting charge representing the use of property, plant and 
equipment assets which spreads the cost or value of the asset over its 
useful life. 

Employee benefits All forms of consideration given to employees for services rendered. These 
are salaries and wages, social security costs (national insurance), 
superannuation contributions, paid sick leave, paid annual and long 
service leave and termination payments. 

Financial 
instruments 

Any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another. 

Going concern basis 
 

The underlying assumption used in producing the financial statements that 
the PCC/ PCC Group will continue to operate for at least 12 months from 
the Balance Sheet date. 

Impairment The fall in the value of an asset. 

Income Received in 
Advance 

Income received that should be classed as a benefit in the next financial 
year. 

Intangible assets Capital expenditure which does not create a tangible asset. 

Inventories Stocks held by the PCC/ PCC Group such as uniforms, fuel etc. 

Leases A method of financing expenditure over a period of time. There are two 
types of lease: 

 Finance lease, where the risks of ownership are transferred to the lessee 
and where the assets are recorded in the PCC’s/ PCC Group’s Balance 
Sheet at a current valuation. 

 Operating lease, where the risks of ownership stay with the leasing 
company and the annual rental charges are made via the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Liability An amount owing to a third party such as a loan or unpaid invoice from a 
supplier. 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP) 

The Minimum Revenue Provision is the amount required by statute that 
the PCC/ PCC Group must fund to cover the redemption of external debt, 
including any supported or unsupported borrowing used to fund capital; 
the MRP amount being equal to the capital expenditure funded by the 
borrowing over the expected life of the assets. 

Medium Term 
Resource Strategy 
(MTRS) 

The MTRS covers a 5 year period and describes the financial direction of 
the Chief Constable and the PCC capturing known and estimated funding, 
financial pressures, staffing resources and development needs as well as 
seeking to identify financial risks. It is an indication of the likely direction of 
financial planning over the next year. 

Net assets Total assets less total liabilities. 

Non-current asset or 
liability 

An asset or liability that the PCC/ PCC Group expects to hold or discharge 
for a period of more than one year from the Balance Sheet date. 

Non Distributed 
Cost 

This is where overheads are not charged or apportioned to activities within 
the SeRCOP service expenditure analysis. 

Precept A levy which the PCC makes through the Council Tax to pay for services. 

Prepayment 
 

Where an amount of expenditure is paid in the current financial year, but 
the goods or services are a benefit in the next/following year. 

Provision An amount set aside to provide for a liability which is likely to be incurred 
but the exact amount and the date on which it will arise are uncertain. 
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Prudential 
Borrowing 

This is the borrowing as part of funding of capital expenditure, where no 
actual loan is taken out to match the element of expenditure incurred. 
The affect is shown through the Capital Financing Requirement and is the 
amount to be funded when all other funding types i.e. capital grant, 
revenue, capital receipts etc. have been used. 

Remeasurements of 
the Net Defined 
Benefit Liability 
 

For a defined benefit pension scheme, the changes that arise because : 
 events have not coincided with actuarial assumptions made for the last 

valuation (experience gains and losses) or the actuarial assumptions 
have changed. 

Reserves  General reserves are accumulated balances available to support revenue 
or capital spending and meet unforeseen events. Earmarked reserves are 
amounts set aside for an agreed purpose in one financial year and carried 
forward to meet expenditure in future years. 

Revenue 
expenditure 

Spending on day to day items, including salaries, premises costs and 
supplies and services. 

The Code 
 

The Code of Practice published by CIPFA, relating to Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom and is issued each year. 

Unrealised gains 
and losses 
 
 

Unrealised gains and losses are those which have been recognised by the 
PCC/ PCC Group in its financial statements but are only potential gains as 
they have yet to be realised, such as rises and falls in the value of land 
and buildings due to changes in the property market. The gain or loss only 
becomes realised when the property is sold. 
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Acronyms and Abbreviations 
 

ACO Assistant Chief Officer 

CARE Career Average Revalued Earnings 

CIES Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

CIPFA Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

DSP Data and System Planning 

ERYC East Riding of Yorkshire Council 

ESFM Emergency Services Fleet Management 

GAD Government Actuaries Department 

IAS International Accounting Standards 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 

JES Joint Estates Services 

LASAAC Local Authority (Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee 

MRP Minimum Revenue Provision 

MTRS Medium Term Resource Strategy 

NECB North East Collaboration Board 

NPCC National Police Chiefs Council 

OPCC Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

OPCCSY OPCC for South Yorkshire/ South Yorkshire Police 

PCC Police and Crime Commissioner 

PCP Police and Crime Panel 

PCSO Police Community Support Officer 

PRSRA Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 

PWLB Public Works Loans Board 

RCB Regional Collaboration Board 

SeRCOP Service Reporting Code of Practice for Local Authorities 

VAT Value-Added Tax 
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NARRATIVE REPORT TO THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 
This is the Statement of Accounts for the Chief Constable of Humberside Police for the year ended 
31 March 2023.  These accounts have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2022/23 published by the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). 
 
The purpose of the narrative report is to offer interested parties a fair, balanced and easily 
understandable guide to the most significant matters reported in the accounts.    A ‘Glossary of 
Terms’ (to help explain some of the technical terms) can be found in the appendices. 

 
ABOUT HUMBERSIDE POLICE 

 
The Humberside Police Force area is located in the east of England and covers the local authority 
areas of the East Riding of Yorkshire, Kingston upon Hull, North East Lincolnshire and North 
Lincolnshire. 
 
It has a total area of 1,300 square miles around the Humber Estuary and has a population of over 
0.9 million.  Nearly 90% of the area is rural. Its main settlement and commercial capital is Kingston 
upon Hull.  Major settlements include the port and town of Grimsby, the coastal resorts of 
Cleethorpes and Bridlington and the town of Scunthorpe. The predominantly rural areas of the 
East Riding, North Lincolnshire and North East Lincolnshire include the market towns of Beverley, 
Brigg, Epworth and Barton and there is a logistics hub to the west, around Goole, the UK’s most 
inland port. 
 
The area maintains its strong maritime heritage and the port infrastructure accounts for more than 
15% of UK overseas trade.  Around one million people a year travel to and from continental 
Europe by ferry via Hull and a further quarter of a million people travel on domestic and 
international flights from Humberside Airport.  
 
Jonathan Evison is the PCC (elected in May 2021) and Lee Freeman is the Chief Constable.  
The PCC’s Police and Crime Plan covers the period 2021-25.  
 
The following page shows the Force Plan on a Page, which clearly articulates the strategic 
priorities and is designed to deliver the overall aim of ‘Serving our communities to make them 
safer and stronger’. 
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FORCE PERFORMANCE 
 
The Humberside Police HMICFRS PEEL inspection report published in 2022 demonstrated its 
continuous improvement in many areas since the last HMICFRS inspection in 2018.  HMICFRS 
Inspectorate have graded the force as outstanding in six areas of policing, which reflects the 
high level of performance and service Humberside Police provides.  It is acknowledged there 
are still some areas for improvement and the challenge will be maintaining this level of 
performance in future. 
 

 

As part of this assessment, strategic planning, demand management and financial 
management were graded as outstanding 

The report outlined that the force has a rigorous approach to priority setting, corporate planning 
and performance management.  There are clear links between the force’s plans and the plans 
of the police and crime commissioner.  There is a good understanding of future demand within 
the force, supported by strong corporate planning processes.  The force demonstrates that it 
considers demand when dealing with workforce and financial planning. This allows the force 
to consider what it needs to meet future challenges, what it will invest in, and how this translates 
into providing value for money and improved services. 

The report outlined that the force has good financial plans.  With its clear medium-term 
resource strategy, it is well-balanced and sustainable, and demonstrates a rigorous approach 
to financial management.  Senior leaders, at all levels, are able to explain how finance and 
investment translate to improved service, good investment and value for money.  Any decision 
made on investment is subject to a check and test to make sure it is affordable and supports 
the force’s priorities and plans. 

In terms of efficiency and value for money the report outlined how the force has a digital 
innovation team reviewing how technology can improve efficiency. The force is working to 
maximise the benefits and efficiencies provided by the new command and control system. The 
force has recently changed its records management system to one that aligns with other forces 
in the region. This will support development and puts the force in a good position to adopt the 
learning that has already been identified by other forces through national working groups. 
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In 2022/23 the Force performed as follows:  
 

Force Control Room 

• Answered 164,680 emergency (999) calls, answering 86.1% of 999 calls within 10 seconds.  
A total of 11,619 (7.6%) additional 999 calls were answered in 2022/23 when compared to 
2021/22, calls answered within the 10 second time frame fell below the 90% target, the 
previous year we answered 91.3% within 10 seconds.  

• Answered 216,565 non-emergency (101) calls, answering 68.7% of 101 calls within 30 
seconds.  We answered a total of 30,906 (12.5%) fewer 101 calls in 2022/23 when 
compared to 2021/22.  The % of 101 calls answered within 30 seconds increased from 
64.8% to 68.7% year on year. 

• Comparing 2022/23 with 2021/22, recorded a reduction in the number of abandoned 999 
and 101 calls but a slight increase in the number of abandoned Switchboard calls.  The % 
of abandoned calls for all call types remained within target (1% for 999 calls and 5% for 
101/Switchboard).  

• 999 abandoned calls 2020/21: 0.02%, 2021/22: 0.49%, 2022/23: 0.22% 

• 101 abandoned calls 2020/21: 5.14%, 2021/22: 5.66%, 2022/23: 4.66% 

• Switchboard abandoned calls 2020/21: 1.37%, 2021/22: 1.27%, 2022/23:2.42% 

Response  

• Response times (Assign to Arrive): Force wide when comparing 2022/23 with 2021/22, 
median emergency call response times have increased by 55 seconds. 

• DA Response times (Assign to Arrive): Force wide when comparing 2022/23 with 2021/22, 
median DA emergency call response times have increased by 58 seconds. 

Other  

• 15,271 custodies.  

• Arrested 1,167 drivers under the influence of drink or drugs.  

• Decrease of 0.5% of reported missing persons from children's homes when comparing 

2022/23 with 2021/22.  

• Stopped and searched 4,947 people (plus a further 276 searches for vehicle only). 

 
Operation Uplift 

 
As part of the national programme to provide 20,000 more police officers to UK forces, we 

have successfully progressed the second year of our Operation Uplift programme, to bring on 

board 129 new police officers in addition to the 193 recruited in the previous 2 years. These 

additional officers have allowed for 24-hour provision at Brigg and Driffield, creation of north 

and south bank safeguarding intervention teams, additional custody sergeants, safeguarding 

governance unit officers, neighbourhood constables and a core systems team. 
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CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER’S STATEMENT 
 
The accounts provide a record of the financial position and performance for the year and 
incorporate transactions relating to the Force. 
 
The Annual Governance Statement for Humberside Police for 2022/23 has been published 
separately and is available on the force website. 
 
Explanation of Accounting Statements 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting. 
 
The financial statements reflect the current legislative framework as well as the local 
arrangements operating in practice. Key elements of this framework include: 

• The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (PRSRA); 

• The Home Office Financial Management Code of Practice for the Police Forces for 

England and Wales and Fire and Rescue Authorities created under Section 4A of the 

Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 (July 2018). 

 

The Corporate Governance Framework includes:- 

• A statement of corporate governance – statutory framework and local policy; 

• A code of corporate governance – setting out how the good governance core principles 

will be implemented; 

• A scheme of corporate governance – defines the parameters within which the 

corporations sole will conduct their business; 

• Separate policy and procedures for each corporation sole, with protocols where they 

operate jointly. 

The Police and Crime Commissioner is responsible for the finances of the whole PCC Group 
and controls the assets, the majority of liabilities and reserves. The PCC receives all income 
and funding and makes all payments for the PCC Group from the PCC Police Fund. 
 
In turn, the Chief Constable has a duty to fulfil prescribed functions under the PRSRA within 
the annual budget (set by the PCC in consultation with the Chief Constable) in line with the 
approved Corporate Governance Framework. This framework sets out how the two 
“corporations sole” will discharge their respective responsibilities. 
 
The Statement of Responsibilities details the responsibilities of the Chief Constable and the 
Chief Finance Officer/S.151 Officer for the Accounts. This statement is signed and dated by 
Chief Finance Officer/S.151 Officer under a statement that the accounts give a true and fair 
view of the financial position of the Chief Constable at the accounting date and its income and 
expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2023. 
 
The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement in the year on the different 
reserves held by the Chief Constable. This statement is split into usable and unusable 
reserves; the usable reserves are those that can be used by the Chief Constable to fund 
expenditure; and the unusable reserves are those reserves that are required to mitigate the 
effect of some transactions on council tax and those reserves that are created to mitigate 
unrealised gains and losses. 
 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shows the accounting cost of 
providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the 
amount to be funded from taxation. 
 

124



Narrative Report  

8 
 
 
 

The Balance Sheet shows the value of the assets and liabilities recognised by the Chief 
Constable at the balance sheet date. 
 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents during the year. 
This statement shows how the Chief Constable generates and uses its cash and cash 
equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. 
 
The Pension Fund Account shows the movements relating to the police pension fund. 
 
The notes to the accounting records provide more detail about the accounting policies and 
individual transactions.  

 
2022/23 Financial Year 
 
The PCC approved an original budget in February 2022 of £219.997m which following a mid-
year financial review was revised to £217.192m after consultation with Branch 
Commanders/Heads of Department in conjunction with the Force Finance Team. The budget 
was realigned in November to reflect these changes and monitoring against this revised budget 
was undertaken during the second half of the year. 
 
Actual expenditure for the year was £216.206m, an underspend of £987k.  There were 
variances in the following areas:  
 

• £0.760m additional grant for achieving an overshoot against officer uplift targets; 

• £0.600m underspend on salaries across the Force; 

• £0.421m overspend on utilities. 
 
Reserves at the start of 2022/23 totalled £25.4m. The total level of reserves at 31 March 2023 
stands at £30.8m.   
 
The original savings target within the Medium Term Resource Strategy (MTRS) for 2022/23 
was £1.5m, the Force managed to achieve savings of £1.671m.  The main areas of savings 
were achieved through: 
 

• Organisational Reviews (£0.205m) 

• Non-pay Savings (£0.846m) 

• Overtime savings (£0.200m) 

• PCSO Savings (£0.360m) 

• Additional income (£0.060m) 
 
A summary of capital performance compared to budget is shown in the table below:- 
 

CAPITAL 

PROGRAMME 

2022/23 

BUDGET £m 

2022/23 

ACTUAL £m 

VARIANCE 

£m 

Estates 

Programme 

2.714 2.467 (0.247) 

ICT Programme 7.624 6.107 (1.517) 

Vehicles & 

Equipment 

2.769 2.773 0.004 

Grand Total 13.107 11.347 (1.760) 
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Financing of Capital Expenditure 
 
The PCC has a rolling capital programme that is reviewed throughout the year.  The 
programme is financed by external borrowing, revenue, other contributions, and capital 
receipts. 

 
Future Spending Plans 
 
The PCC has published a MTRS for 2023/24 to 2027/28 which sets out the overall shape of 
the PCCs budget.  It establishes how available resources will best deliver the Police and Crime 
Plan and mitigate corporate risks identified.  The current level of PWLB borrowing is 
£101.997m. The operational boundary is £150.000m and the authorised limit is £180.000m 
(these are part of the PCC’s prudential indicators that have been previously agreed in the 
PCC’s Treasury Management report; Published March 2023). 

 
International Accounting Standard 19 (IAS 19) 
 
IAS 19 requires employers to report the full cost of pension benefits as they are earned, 
regardless of whether they have been paid for. The total long term pension asset is £40m 
(2021/22 Nil) which relates to a pension surplus on the Local Government Pension Scheme. 
The total long term pension liability is £1,692m (2021/22 was £2,444m); this relates to the 
Police Pension Scheme (2021/22 £94m relating to the Local Government Pension Scheme 
and £2,350m relating to the Police Pension Scheme). It should be noted that IAS 19 does not 
impact upon the level of balances held by the PCC.  (Under IAS 19 injury awards are now 
recognised in the PCC Group accounts). 
 
Humberside Police Pension Fund Account 
 
The Financial Statements include a separate section for the Humberside Police Pension Fund 
Account.  Under the pension funding arrangements each Chief Constable in England is 
required by legislation to operate a Pension Fund and the amounts that must be paid into and 
out of the fund are specified by regulation. 

 
Change in Statutory Function 
 
There have been no changes to the Chief Constable’s statutory functions during 2022/23. 
 
Significant Changes in Accounting Policies 
 
There have been no significant changes to the accounting policies used by the Chief 
Constable. 
 
Material Events after 31 March 
 
There have been no material events after the Balance Sheet date. 
 
Going Concern 
 
The MTRS ensures a balanced budget over the medium term.  The Chief Constable for 
Humberside and Humberside Police will remain a Going Concern. 
 
Further Information 
 
You can also find more information about the finances of the Force and PCC on the respective 
websites and www.humberside.police.uk 
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

 
Chief Constable’s 
Responsibilities 

The Chief Constable is required: 
 
▪ To make arrangements for the proper administration of its 

financial affairs and to ensure that one of its officers (Chief 
Finance Officer) has the responsibility for the administration of 
those affairs.  

▪ To manage its affairs to ensure economic, efficient and effective 
use of resources and to safeguard its assets. 

▪ To approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
I approve this Statement of Accounts. 
 

             

 
 

 
Date 

 
   

Lee Freeman 
Chief Constable of Humberside 

 
 

  

Chief Finance 
Officer’s 
Responsibilities 

The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the preparation of the 
Chief Constable’s statement of accounts which, in accordance with 
the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom (the ‘Code of Practice’), issued by CIPFA is required to 
present fairly the financial position of the Chief Constable at the 
accounting date, and its income and expenditure for the year ended 
31 March 2023. 

 
In preparing this statement of accounts, the Chief Finance Officer 
has:  
▪ Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them 

consistently; 
▪ Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and 

prudent; 
▪ Complied with the Code of Practice. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer has also: 
▪ Kept proper accounting records which were up to date; 
▪ Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of 

fraud and other irregularities. 
 

I certify that the attached Statement of Accounts present a true and fair view of the 
position of the Chief Constable of Humberside as at 31 March 2023 and its income and 
expenditure for the year. 
 

 
                                                                       Date          31 May 2023 
Martin Fox BA(Hons) CPFA 
Acting Head of Finance/S151 Officer  
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT OF THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF HUMBERSIDE 
 

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year for the Chief Constable of providing services in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from taxation. PCCs raise taxation to cover expenditure of the Chief Constable in 
accordance with statutory requirements; this may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in both the Expenditure and 
Funding Analysis and the Movement in Reserves Statement.    
 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure Income Net Note Expenditure Income Net

44,158          -               44,158       Northbank Division 48,120          -               48,120     

30,714          -               30,714       Southbank Division 33,194          -               33,194     

20,150          -               20,150       Force Control Room 20,719          -               20,719     

12,254          -               12,254       Protecting Vulnerable People 13,770          -               13,770     

9,644            -               9,644         Regional Collaboration 12,493          -               12,493     

14,746          -               14,746       Special Operations Unit 15,154          -               15,154     

17,336          -               17,336       Specialist Crime 16,194          -               16,194     

13,812          -               13,812       People Services 15,308          -               15,308     

10,778          -               10,778       Estates Services 13,874          -               13,874     

13,475          -               13,475       Information Services 10,819          -               10,819     

12,721          -               12,721       Corporate Development 7,683            -               7,683       

-                   -               -            Criminal Justice (previously part of Corporate Development) 5,717            -               5,717       

34,414          -               34,414       Centrally Managed Services 27,102          -               27,102     

23,343          -               23,343       Other Services 24,010          -               24,010     

257,545         -               257,545     Financial Resources Consumed 264,157        -               264,157   

(251,984)       -               (251,984)    Intra-Group Adjustment 3 (273,574)       -               (273,574)  

5,561            -               5,561         Net Cost of Policing Services (9,417)          -               (9,417)      

49,117          -               49,117       

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure - Pension interest cost 

net of interest on pension assets 64,639          -               64,639     

54,678       (Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services 55,222     

(60,963)      Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability 16 (843,975)  

(60,963)      Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (Surplus)/Deficit (843,975)  

(6,285)        Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (Surplus)/Deficit (788,753)  

Year Ended 31 March 2022 Year Ended 31 March 2023

 
 
The PCC receives all income and funding and makes all payments for the PCC Group from the PCC Police Fund. In turn, the Chief Constable 
consumes resources to deliver policing services within an annual budget.  
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MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF 
HUMBERSIDE 

 
This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Chief 
Constable, analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that can currently be used to fund 
expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other ‘unusable reserves’. It shows how the 
movements in year of the Chief Constable’s reserves are broken down between gains and 
losses incurred in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and the statutory 
adjustments required to return to the amounts chargeable to council tax for the year. The Net 
Increase / Decrease line shows the statutory General Fund Balance movements in the year 
following those adjustments. 
 

General 

Fund 

Balance

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Total 

Unusable 

Reserves

Total  

Reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 31 March 2022 -              -             (2,444,838) (2,444,838)   

Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (55,222)    (55,222)   843,975     788,753       

Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding 

Basis under Regulations 55,222     55,222    (55,222)      -                  

Increase / (Decrease) in Year -              -             788,753     788,753       

Balance at 31 March 2023 -              -             (1,656,085) (1,656,085)   

General 

Fund 

Balance

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Total 

Unusable 

Reserves

Total  

Reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 31 March 2021 -              -             (2,451,123) (2,451,123)   

Total Comprehensive Income & Expenditure (54,678)    (54,678)   60,963       6,285          

Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding 

Basis under Regulations 54,678     54,678    (54,678)      -                  

Increase / (Decrease) in Year -              -             6,285         6,285          

Balance at 31 March 2022 -              -             (2,444,838) (2,444,838)   

 
 
A breakdown of the Adjustments between Accounting and Funding Basis under Regulations 
can be found in Note 9 of the accounts. 
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BALANCE SHEET OF THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF HUMBERSIDE 
 

The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the Chief Constable. The net assets/(liabilities) of the Chief Constable are 
matched by reserves held by the Chief Constable. Reserves are reported in two categories. 
The first category of reserves are usable reserves, i.e. those reserves that the Chief Constable 
may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and 
any statutory limitations on their use. The second category of reserves includes reserves that 
hold timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments 
between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations’. 
 

31 March 2022 31 March 2023

£'000 Note £'000

-                     Property, Plant & Equipment -                  

-                     Assets under Construction -                  

-                     Intangible Assets -                  

-                     Long Term Pension Surplus 12 38,865         

-                     Other Long Term Debtors -                  

-                     Long Term Assets 38,865         

-                     Assets Held for Sale -                  

-                     Inventories -                  

-                     Short Term Investments -                  

2,931              Short Term Debtors 10 5,248           

-                     Cash and Cash Equivalents -                  

2,931              Current Assets 5,248           

-                     Cash and Cash Equivalents (liability) -                  

5,116              Short Term Creditors 10 8,118           

-                     Short Term Provisions -                  

-                     Short Term Borrowing -                  

5,116              Current Liabilities 8,118           

-                     Long Term Borrowing -                  

2,442,653       Other Long Term Liabilities 12 1,692,080     

2,442,653       Long Term Liabilities 1,692,080     

(2,444,838)      Net Assets/ (Liabilities) (1,656,085)   

-                     Usable Reserves -                  

(2,444,838)      Unusable Reserves 11 (1,656,085)   

(2,444,838)      Total Reserves (1,656,085)    
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT OF THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF HUMBERSIDE 
 

This statement does not show any cash and cash equivalents during the reporting period as 
all payments were made from the Police Fund which is held by the PCC and similarly all 
income and funding is received by the PCC.  The financial consequences of the operational 
activities undertaken by the Chief Constable can be seen in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 
 

31 March 

2022

31 March 

2023

£'000 £'000

54,678      Net (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services 55,222      

(54,678)     

Adjustments to Net Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 

for Non Cash Movements (55,222)     

-               

Adjustments for items included in the Net Surplus or Deficit on the 

Provision of Services that are Investing and Financing Activities -               

0 Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 0

-               Investing Activities -               

-               Financing Activities -               

0 Net (Increase) or Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents 0

-               Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Reporting Period -               

-               Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Reporting Period -                
 
A breakdown of the adjustments to the provision of services for non-cash movements can be 
found in Note 17 of the accounts. 
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES FOR THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF 
HUMBERSIDE 

 
Accounting Policies 
The financial statements must meet the accounting requirements of the CIPFA Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting which has been agreed with HM Treasury.  
Consequently, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the CIPFA 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting.  The accounting policies contained in the 
CIPFA Code of Practice follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that 
they are meaningful and appropriate to Local Authority accounts, as determined by HM 
Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the CIPFA 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounts permits a choice of accounting policy, the 
accounting policy which is judged to be the most appropriate to the particular circumstances 
of the Chief  Constable for the purpose of presenting fairly the position of the Chief Constable 
has been selected.  The particular policies adopted by the Chief Constable are described 
below.  They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in 
relation to the financial statements. 

 
The accounting policies also reflect the powers and responsibilities of the Chief Constable of 
Humberside as designated by the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 and the 
revised Home Office Financial Management Code of Practice (July 2018).  The accounting 
policies defined here are consistent with local regulations, local agreement and practice as 
well as the PCC Group policies. 
 
Accounting convention 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified 
to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and 
inventories.  Where appropriate financial assets and liabilities have been impaired or 
discounted to bring them to current value. 

 
Acquisitions and discontinued operations 
Activities are considered to be ‘acquired’ only if they are transferred from outside the public 
sector.  Activities are considered to be ‘discontinued’ only if they cease entirely.  They are not 
considered to be ‘discontinued’ if they transfer from one public sector body to another.   
 
Going Concern 
After making enquires, the Chief Constable has formed a judgement at the time of approving 
the financial statements that there is a reasonable expectation that the Chief Constable or its 
successors has access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.  For this reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the financial statements.  

 
Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Polices  
In the application of the Chief Constable’s accounting policies, management is required to 
make judgements about complex transactions involving uncertainty about future events.  
There have been no critical judgements made in these Statement of Accounts regarding 
uncertainty of future events. 
 
Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation 
Uncertainty 
The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on assumptions made 
by the Chief Constable about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made 
taking into account historical experience, current trends and other relevant factors.  However 
because balances cannot be determined with certainty, actual results could be materially 
different from the assumptions and estimates.  The items as at 31 March for which there are 
significant risks of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 
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• Short Term Employee Benefits 

In calculating the cost of the above, the uncertainty is that the number of days of accrued 
annual leave or the rate used to cost the accrual are incorrect.  

   

• Allocation of Expenditure between the PCC and the Chief Constable 

A judgement has been made of the expenditure allocated between the PCC and the Chief 
Constable to reflect the financial resources of the PCC consumed at the request of the 
Chief Constable. 

 
Cost recognition 
All expenditure is paid for by the PCC including the wages of Police Officers and Police Staff 
and no actual cash transactions or events take place between the two entities.  Costs are 
however recognised in the Chief Constable’s accounts to reflect the financial resources 
consumed at the request of the Chief Constable. 

 
Employee Benefits 
 

• Short-term employee benefits 

Employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end.  The 
financial consequences of these benefits are recognised in the Chief Constable’s financial 
statements in the year in which the employee renders service to the Chief Constable. IAS 
19 Employee Benefits also requires the PCC Group to account for short-term 
compensated absences which include time owing and annual leave accrued by accruing 
for the benefits which have accumulated but are untaken by the Balance Sheet date. 
 

• Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Chief Constable 
to terminate a member of staff’s employment before their normal retirement date or their 
decision to accept voluntary redundancy.  These costs are recognised in the financial 
statements of the Chief Constable when the Chief Constable is demonstrably committed 
to the termination of the employment of an individual or group of employees or making an 
offer to encourage voluntary redundancy. 

 

• Retirement benefit costs 

The PCC Group participates in three pension schemes for Police Officers and one for 
Police staff.  All of the schemes provide members with defined benefits related to pay and 
service. 

 

• Police Officers                                  

The 1987, 2006 and 2015 Police Pension Schemes are contributory occupational pension 
schemes. Officers pay contributions from their pensionable pay based on salary bandings. 
The contribution rates are set nationally by the Home Office.  The Chief Constable 
administers Police Pensions through the Police Pension Fund Accounts.  The cost to the 
PCC Group is via an employers’ contribution and a charge for Officers who retire on ill 
health.  Any balance on the Pension Fund Accounts is received from or paid to Central 
Government.  Injury awards are not part of the Police Pension Fund and are paid out of 
the Chief Constable’s budget. 

 

• Police Staff 

The PCC is an admitted body to the East Riding Pension Fund, which is administered by 
East Riding of Yorkshire Council.  Police staff are eligible to join the Local Government 
Pension Scheme which has varying contribution rates based on members’ salaries.  The 
PCC makes employers’ contributions as required into the East Riding Pension Fund. 
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The PCC Group has fully adopted IAS 19 Employee Benefits.  The financial statements reflect 
the Chief Constable’s commitment to make up any shortfall in attributable net assets in the 
Pension Fund.  The pension liability is included in the Chief Constable’s Balance Sheet and 
service costs are reflected in the Chief Constable’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.  The current economic cost outflow of police officer and police staff pensions is 
recognised in the Chief Constable’s financial statements to reflect the cost of operating the 
four pension schemes. 
 
Reserves 
The Chief Constable sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to 

cover contingencies.  Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund 

Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  When expenditure to be financed from a 
reserve is incurred, it is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in 
that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the account.  The reserve is then 
appropriated back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so 
that there is no net charge against Council Tax for the expenditure. 
 
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for retirement and employee 
benefits and do not represent usable resources for the Chief Constable.  Details of these 
reserves are provided in the relevant note to the financial statements. 

 
Jointly Controlled Operations  
The Chief Constable engages in jointly controlled operations by collaborative working with 
other parties to deliver a number of specific services on a regional basis.  

 
The PCC Group accounts in its financial statements for the assets it controls, the liabilities it 
incurs, the expenses that it incurs and the income it earns in relation to these arrangements. 

 
Accounting standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted     
The standards and amendment to standards have been issued but not yet adopted: 
 

• IAS 8 (Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors) – 

Amendments to the definition of accounting estimates 

• IAS 1 (Presentation of Financial Statements) and IFRS Practice Statement 2 (Making 

Materiality Judgements) – Amendment to disclosure of accounting policies 

• IAS 12 (Income Taxes) – Amendments to deferred tax related to assets and liabilities 

arising from a single transaction. 

• IFRS 3 (Business Combinations) – Updating a reference to the conceptual framework 

 
None of the above amendments are expected to have any material impact on future financial 
statements of the Chief Constable.  
 
Accounting standards issued that have been adopted early 
There are no accounting standards issued that have been adopted early. 

 
Exceptional items 
Exceptional items shall be included in the costs of the service to which they relate and noted 
accordingly. 

 
Prior period adjustments 
Unless otherwise sanctioned by the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting, 
material prior period adjustments shall result in restatement of prior year figures and disclosure 
of the effect.  
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Events after the Reporting Period 
Material events after the balance sheet date, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur 
between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is 
authorised for issue shall be disclosed as a note to the financial statements and the financial 
statements amended as required.  Other events after the balance sheet date will be disclosed 
in a note with an estimate of the likely effect. 

 
Two types of event can be identified as: 

 

• Those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period 
– the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events. 

• Those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the 
Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of 
events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of 
the events and their estimated financial effect. 

Value Added Tax (VAT)      
The Chief Constable submits single VAT returns on behalf of the PCC Group.  Most of the 
activities of the PCC Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not 
apply.  Input tax on purchases is largely recoverable from Her Majesty’s Revenue and 
Customs.  Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in 
the capitalised purchase costs of property, plant and equipment.  Where output tax is charged 
or input tax is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 
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1. EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS FOR THE CHIEF CONSTABLE OF HUMBERSIDE 

The statements below show how annual expenditure is used and funded from resources (government grants and council tax) by the Chief Constable in 
comparison with those resources consumed or earned by the Chief Constable in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. They also show how 
this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the Chief Constable’s operating functions. Income and expenditure accounted for under 
generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 

Net Expenditure 

Chargeable to 

the General 

Fund

Adjustments 

between 

Accounting and 

Funding Basis

Net Expenditure in the 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement

Net Expenditure 

Chargeable to 

the General 

Fund

Adjustments 

between 

Accounting and 

Funding Basis

Net Expenditure in the 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

45,376 (1,218)                  44,158 Northbank Division 49,351 (1,231)                  48,120

31,490 (776)                     30,714 Southbank Division 34,045 (851)                     33,194

16,757 3,393                   20,150 Force Control Room 18,129 2,590                   20,719

12,532 (278)                     12,254 Protecting Vulnerable People 14,316 (546)                     13,770

9,690 (46)                       9,644 Regional Collaboration 12,622 (129)                     12,493

15,015 (269)                     14,746 Special Operations Unit 15,615 (461)                     15,154

16,951 385                      17,336 Specialist Crime 16,037 157                      16,194

13,136 676                      13,812 People Services 14,970 338                      15,308

10,407 371                      10,778 Estates Services 13,603 271                      13,874

13,389 86                        13,475 Information Services 10,802 17                        10,819

11,315 1,406                   12,721 Corporate Development 7,046 637                      7,683

0 -                          0 Criminal Justice (previously part of Corporate Development) 5,263 454                      5,717

34,041 373                      34,414 Centrally Managed Services 38,908 (11,806)                27,102

21,885 1,458                   23,343 Other Services 22,867 1,143                   24,010

(251,984) -                          (251,984) Intra-Group Funding (273,574) -                          (273,574)

-                       5,561 5,561 Net Cost of Services -                       (9,417) (9,417)

-                       49,117                 49,117                       Other Income and Expenditure -                       64,639                 64,639                       

-                       54,678                 54,678                       (Surplus) or Deficit -                       55,222                 55,222                       

-                       Opening General Fund Balance -                       

-                       Add: Surplus/(Deficit) on General Fund in year -                       

-                       Closing General Fund Balance -                       

Year Ended 31 March 2023Year Ended 31 March 2022
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2. EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS – ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN FUNDING AND ACCOUNTING BASIS 

Adjustments for 

Capital Purposes 

(Note i)

Net Change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments 

(Note ii)

Other 

Differences 

(Note iii)

Total 

Adjustments

Adjustments from the General Fund to arrive at 

the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement amounts

Adjustments for 

Capital Purposes 

(Note i)

Net Change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments 

(Note ii)

Other 

Differences 

(Note iii)

Total 

Adjustments

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

-                       (1,176)                (42)                    (1,218)             Northbank Division -                      (1,404)                 173                    (1,231)             

-                       (746)                   (30)                    (776)                Southbank Division -                      (989)                   138                    (851)                

-                       3,424                  (31)                    3,393              Force Control Room -                      2,553                  37                     2,590              

-                       (268)                   (10)                    (278)                Protecting Vulnerable People -                      (588)                   42                     (546)                

-                       (45)                     (1)                      (46)                  Regional Collaboration -                      (145)                   16                     (129)                

-                       (252)                   (17)                    (269)                Special Operations Unit -                      (521)                   60                     (461)                

-                       400                    (15)                    385                 Specialist Crime -                      92                      65                     157                 

-                       694                    (18)                    676                 People Services -                      277                     61                     338                 

-                       375                    (4)                      371                 Estates Services -                      266                     5                       271                 

-                       86                      -                    86                   Information Services -                      17                      -                    17                   

-                       1,424                  (18)                    1,406              Corporate Development -                      611                     26                     637                 

-                       -                     -                    -                  Criminal Justice (previously part of Corporate Development) -                      441                     13                     454                 

-                       374                    (1)                      373                 Centrally Managed Services -                      (11,810)               4                       (11,806)           

-                       1,468                  (10)                    1,458              Other Services -                      1,098                  45                     1,143              

-                           5,758 (197) 5,561 Net Cost of Services -                          (10,102) 685 (9,417)

-                           49,117                -                        49,117            Other Income and Expenditure -                          64,639                -                        64,639            

-                           54,875                (197)                  54,678            (Surplus) or Deficit -                          54,537                685                    55,222            

Year Ended 31 March 2023Year Ended 31 March 2022

 
Note i – Adjustments for Capital Purposes 

This adds in depreciation and impairments in the service line which are offset by intra group funding. 

Note ii – Net change for the Pensions Adjustments 

This is the net change for the removal of pension contributions Grant and IAS19 Employee Benefits related expenditure and income: 

• For service lines, this represents the removal of employer pension contributions as allowed by statute and the replacement with current service costs 

and past service costs. 

• Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure – the net interest on the defined benefit liabilities is charged to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement. 

Note iii – Other Differences 

This represents the timing difference on employee benefits for accumulated absences between amounts debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement and amounts payable/receivable to be recognised under statute.
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3. INTERCOMPANY FUNDING 

As the Chief Constable has no resources with which to fulfil devolved responsibilities to provide a 
policing service, the expenditure is funded by the PCC. The annual budget is set by the PCC in 
consultation with the Chief Constable. Similarly, access is granted to PCC staff and assets and a 
scheme of delegation operates between the two bodies determining the local arrangements and 
respective responsibilities. 
 
The tables below show the movement through the intra-group accounts within the respective 
Balance Sheets during 2022/23 and 2021/22.  
 

Intra-Group Movements 2022-2023: PCC

Chief 

Constable PCC Group

£'000 £'000 £'000

Opening Balance as at 1 April 2022 (2,841)         2,841          -            

PCC resources consumed at the request of the Chief Constable 273,574      (273,574)      -            

PCC intra-group adjustment (resource funding) (273,574)     273,574       -            

(2,841)         2,841          -            

Year end adjustments:

Accumulated absences movement (685)            685             -            

Pensions actuarial adjustments 1,698,050    (1,698,050)   -            

PCC intra-group adjustment (1,697,365)  1,697,365    -            

Payroll creditors and debtors movement (2,310)         2,310          -            

Closing Balance as at 31 March 2023 (5,151)         5,151          -            

Intra-Group Movements 2021-2022:

Opening Balance as at 1 April 2021 (3,139)         3,139          -            

PCC resources consumed at the request of the Chief Constable 251,984      (251,984)      -            

PCC intra-group adjustment (resource funding) (251,984)     251,984       -            

(3,139)         3,139          -            

Year end adjustments:

Accumulated absences movement 198             (198)            -            

Pensions actuarial adjustments 116,168      (116,168)      -            

PCC intra-group adjustment (116,366)     116,366       -            

Payroll creditors and debtors movement 298             (298)            -            

Closing Balance as at 31 March 2022 (2,841)         2,841          -             
 
The financial consequences of PCC resources consumed at the request of the Chief Constable in 
pursuance of the Chief Constable’s operational responsibilities are shown in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. This shows the net cost of policing for the Chief Constable and 
the financial consequences recognised are offset by an intra-group adjustment to reflect the payment 
of the PCC resources consumed at the request of the Chief Constable to give a nil position on the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES), apart from the year end adjustments 
for pensions actuarial adjustments and accumulated absences. In contrast, the PCC “Net Cost of 
Services” includes the intra-group adjustment (“Funding of Resources at the request of the Chief 
Constable”) in addition to the cost of administering the PCC itself to show the overall net cost of 
policing Humberside. 
 
 

144



Notes to the CIES – Intercompany Funding  

28 
 

 
 

4. SUMMARY SPENDING DETAILS 

The statement below reflects the financial resources of the PCC consumed at the request of the 
Chief Constable. In practice, all the respective costs are paid for by the PCC and the intra-group 
adjustments referred to in Note 3 are shown in the statements below, resulting in a nil balance for 
the net cost of policing services apart from year-end adjustments. 
 
The financial resources of the PCC consumed at the request of the Chief Constable are shown 
below in a subjective analysis format.  The subjective analysis is used by management to aid 
decisions about resource allocation in internal management reports.  
 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

Expenditure

204,743     Pay and Other Employment Costs 204,530  

-            Agency Costs -         

8,644         Premises 11,655    

2,374         Transport 2,912      

12,369       Supplies and Services 11,376    

24,659       Third Party Payments 23,762    

4,756         Capital Charges & Impairment of Assets 9,922      

-                Non Distributable Cost -             

257,545     Total Expenditure 264,157  

(251,984)    Intra-Group Adjustments* (273,574) 

5,561         Net Cost of Policing Services (9,417)      
 
* PCC funding during the year for financial resources of the PCC consumed at the request of the 
Chief Constable and year-end adjustments as shown in Note 3. 
 
The financial resources of the PCC consumed at the request of the Chief Constable analysed by 
operating functions are shown in the CIES on Page 16. 
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5. PENSIONS INCOME & EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 
 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment the PCC Group offers retirement benefits for Police 
Officers and Police Staff. There are four pension schemes as described in the Statement of Accounting 
Policies. Further details of the Police Pension Schemes can be found in the Police Pension Fund 
Accounts. Details of actuarial valuations of all four pension schemes can be found in these financial 
statements. 
 
To reflect the full financial consequences of utilising the services of Police Officers and Police Staff 
during the year, an amount for pension’s costs is reflected in the Chief Constable’s financial statements. 
In accordance with IAS 19 Employee Benefits, this amount equates to the present value of the pension 
benefits earned by active employees and is intended to reflect the true economic cost for the year based 
on current market conditions. The cost is determined independently of the funding of the schemes and 
measures the full liability estimated to have been generated in the year (at today’s prices). 
 
The following amounts have been included in the financial statements for the year: 

 

31 March 

2023

31 March 

2022

31 March 

2023

31 March 

2022

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Net Cost of Service

Current Service Cost (Gross) 16,769         18,709     38,870        47,440         

Non Distributed Costs 145             90            -             -               

Reversal of IAS19 Contributions (6,939)         (6,944)      (58,947)       (53,537)        

9,975          11,855     (20,077)       (6,097)          

Net Operating Expenditure

Interest Cost 10,816         8,395       61,990        46,300         

Interest Income (8,167)         (5,579)      -             -               

2,649          2,816       61,990        46,300         

Net Charge to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 12,624         14,671     41,913        40,203         

Statement of Movement in the General Fund Balance

Reversal of Net Charges made for Retirement Benefits in Accordance with IAS19 (12,624)       (14,671)    (41,913)       (40,203)        

Actual amount charged against the General Fund Balance for Pensions in the Year

Employer's Contributions Payable to Scheme 7,019          6,769       23,461        20,473         

Police Officer Injury and Ill Health Pension Costs -                  -              1,460          912              

Local Government 

Pension Scheme Police Pension Schemes
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6. EXTERNAL AUDIT FEES                    

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

12             Base Audit Fees 12          

2              Recurring Fee Variations 2           

1              Additional Fee - IAS540 1           

2              Additional Fee - VFM 3           

2              Fees due relating to prior years 7           

(2)             Rebate from PSAA -            

(6)             Redmond Review Audit Fees Grant (6)          

11             19           
 

The table above presents the external audit fees payable to Mazars LLP for 2022/23 for the 
Chief Constable.   
 
The fees include recurring increases in the base audit fee arising from regulatory pressures 
within the audit sector. Requirements in the Code of Audit Practice 2020 for additional work 
around Value for Money (VFM) and ISA540 Auditing Accounting Estimates and Related 
Disclosures have resulted in new recurring additional fees laid out in the above table.  
 
In 2022/23 the PCC Group received a Section 31 grant from the Department for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities.  This was provided to support local bodies to meet the anticipated 
rise in audit fees as highlighted in the Redmond Review.  
 
 

147



Notes to the CIES – Officers’ Remuneration and Exit Packages 

31 
 

 
 

7. OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION AND EXIT PACKAGES 

OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION - BANDINGS 

 
The number of employees whose remuneration, excluding employer’s pension contributions 
was £50,000 or more in bands of £5,000 was: 
 

Police 

Officers

Support 

Staff - CC Total Remuneration Band

Police 

Officers

Support 

Staff - CC Total

No.s No.s No.s £ No.s No.s No.s

136               8              144            50,000 - 54,999 172              13             185          

93                 3              96              55,000 - 59,999 117              5              122          

45                 -               45              60,000 - 64,999 60                4              64           

10                 -               10              65,000 - 69,999 9                  2              11           

4                   -               4               70,000 - 74,999 6                  1              7             

2                   3              5               75,000 - 79,999 2                  -               2             

5                   1              6               80,000 - 84,999 4                  2              6             

6                   1              7               85,000 - 89,999 6                  1              7             

2                   -               2               90,000 - 94,999 1                  -               1             

1                   -               1               95,000 - 99,999 2                  1              3             

-                   -               -                100,000 - 104,999 -                   -               -              

-                   1              1               105,000 - 109,999 1                  1              2             

-                   -               -                110,000 - 114,999 -                   -               -              

1                   -               1               115,000 - 119,999 -                   -               -              

-                   -               -                120,000 - 124,999 1                  -               1             

-                   1              1               125,000 - 129,999 -                   -               -              

-                   -               -                130,000 - 134,999 -                   -               -              

-                   -               -                135,000 - 139,999 -                   -               -              

1                   -               1               140,000 - 144,999 1                  -               1             

-                   -               -                145,000 - 149,999 -                   -               -              

-                   -               -                150,000 - 154,999 -                   -               -              

-                   -               -                155,000 - 159,999 -                   -               -              

1                   -               1               160,000 - 164,999 -                   -               -              

-                   -               -                165,000 - 169,999 -                   -               -              

-                   -               -                170,000 - 174,999 1                  -               1             

307               18            325            383              30             413          

2021/22 2022/23

 
 
The Officers disclosed separately in the Senior Officers’ note below are included in the bands 
above. Support staff only includes those staff employed by the Chief Constable, and not those 
employed by the PCC.  
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OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION – SENIOR OFFICERS 

 
The remuneration paid to senior employees and senior police officers is as follows: 
 

2022/23

Salary 

(Including 

Fees & 

Allawances)

Other 

Emoluments

Total 

Remuneration 

excluding 

Pension 

Contributions

Pension 

Contributions

Total 

Remuneration 

including 

Pension 

Contributions

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chief Constable Note

Chief Constable - Lee Freeman 174                -                     174                   53                          227                    

Deputy Chief Constable 137                7                    144                   -                             144                    

Assistant Chief Constable - Operations 122                1                    123                   33                          156                    

Assistant Chief Constable - Local Policing (until 5th July 2022) 34                  -                     34                     9                            43                      

Temporary Assistant Chief Constable - Local Policing (from 5th July 2022 to 6th March 23) 76                  -                     76                     22                          98                      

Assistant Chief Constable - Local Policing (from 6th March 2023) 9                    -                     9                       2                            11                      

Assistant Chief Officer Resources (from 1st July 2022) 86                  -                     86                     15                          101                    

Assistant Chief Officer Resources (until 24th June 2022) 30                  -                     30                     5                            35                      

668                8                    676                   139                        815                     
 

2021/22

Salary 

(Including 

Fees & 

Allawances)

Other 

Emoluments

Total 

Remuneration 

excluding 

Pension 

Contributions

Pension 

Contributions

Total 

Remuneration 

including 

Pension 

Contributions

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Chief Constable Note

Chief Constable - Lee Freeman 161                -                     161                   49                          210                    

Deputy Chief Constable 143                7                    150                   40                          190                    

Assistant Chief Constable - Operations 1 88                  -                     88                     26                          114                    

Assistant Chief Constable - Operations 2 17                  1                    18                     5                            23                      

Assistant Chief Constable - Local Policing 116                -                     116                   33                          149                    

Assistant Chief Officer (Resources) 125                -                     125                   22                          147                    

650                8                    658                   175                        833                     
 

1. Assistant Chief Constable – Operations – ended in post December 2021 

2. Assistant Chief Constable – Operations – began in post February 2022 
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OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION – EXIT PACKAG 

The numbers of employee compulsory and voluntary exit packages agreed with total cost per 
band and total cost of the redundancies are set out below: 
 

Exit Package Cost Band

No. of 

compulsory 

redundancies

No. of other 

agreed 

departures

Total No. of 

exit packages 

by cost band

Total cost of 

exit packages 

in each band

£ £000

0 - 20,000 3                      2                  5                    21                   

20,001 - 40,000 1                      -                   1                    40                   

40,001 - 60,000 1                      -                   1                    45                   

5                      2                  7                    106                  

Exit Package Cost Band

No. of 

compulsory 

redundancies

No. of other 

agreed 

departures

Total No. of 

exit packages 

by cost band

Total cost of 

exit packages 

in each band

£ £000

0 - 20,000 2                      -                   2                    27                   

20,001 - 40,000 -                      1                  1                    21                   

60,001 - 80,000 1                      1                  2                    153                  

3                      2                  5                    201                  

2022/23

2021/22
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8. REGIONAL COLLABORATION          

REGIONAL COLLABORATION BOARD (RCB)    

 
The Regional Collaboration Programme was developed to bring opportunities to participating Forces 
across many policing activities whilst retaining local Police Forces, local identity and local 
accountability. 
 
A Regional Collaboration Board (RCB) has governance of the arrangements. This Board comprises 
the four PCCs within the Yorkshire and Humberside Region together with their respective Chief 
Constables and Chief Executives. The arrangements are subject to agreement under Section 22A of 
the Police Act 1996 (as amended). 
 
Regional Collaboration is funded from contributions made by the four participating PCCs and the level 
of contribution from each PCC is dependent upon an assessment of the benefit to be derived from 
each specific project or initiative.  
 
The North East Collaboration Board (NECB) has been established between Humberside, the three 
Yorkshire forces and Cleveland, Durham and Northumbria.  
 
LEAD FORCE COLLABORATION ARRANGEMENTS 

 
A Lead Force model has been adopted for each functional area of regional collaboration, with the 
RCB having governance over all the arrangements. 
 
The PCC for Humberside has Lead Force responsibility within the regional programme for Underwater 
Search services.  
 
The Underwater Search Unit made a surplus of £0.006m in the financial year 2022/23 (Surplus 
£0.008m in 2021/22) with the PCC for Humberside contributing £0.425m (£0.392m in 2021/22). 
 
The PCC for Humberside has made contributions during the year ended 31 March 2023 to other Lead 
Forces as follows: 

2022/23 2021/22

£'000 £'000

OPCC for South Yorkshire Procurement and Stores 512        492        

OPCC for West Yorkshire Serious and Organised Crime 1,877     1,381     

Scientific Support 5,160     5,338     

Collision Investigation 608        526        

Prison Intelligence Unit 10         10         

Lead Force Functional Area Contributions Made

 
 
OTHER REGIONAL COLLABORATION ARRANGEMENTS 

 
The PCC for Humberside collaborates in a two force partnership with the Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner (OPCC) for South Yorkshire on the provision of Information Services.  The cost 
of the collaboration is shared based on the total size of the respective force budgets assessed using 
a measure of net revenue expenditure. The summary position for the joint operations is outlined 
below: 
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2022/23 2021/22

£'000 £'000

Expenditure

Staff Costs 5,698      6,287     

Property related expenses 1             3           

Supplies and services 6,189      7,051     

Transport related expenses 64           118        

Third party costs -          -        

11,952    13,459   

Income

Contributions (see below) 11,952    13,459   

Other income -          -        

11,952    13,459   

Deficit/(Surplus) in year -          -        

Contributions:

Humberside Police 5,128      5,792     

South Yorkshire Police 6,824      7,667     

11,952    13,459   

Information Services

 
 

In addition to the Information Services arrangement, the PCC has a collaboration agreement in place 
with South Yorkshire for the use of a number of Legal Services staff. Income received by the PCC for 
this arrangement in 2022/23 was £0.212m (2021/22 £0.179m) 

 
 
LOCAL COLLABORATION ARRANGEMENTS 

 
Humberside Police and Humberside Fire Authority collaborate on a joint operation in respect of their 
emergency vehicle maintenance requirements, which are delivered by Emergency Services Fleet 
Management (Humberside) Ltd (ESFM), a company limited by guarantee which was established for 
that purpose. Humberside Police retain joint control of this company with Humberside Fire Authority. 
 
The Net Cost of ESFM Ltd in relation to the Humberside Police in 2022/23 was £1.844m (2021/22 
£1.886m), with a closing Net Assets figure of £0.421m (2021/22 £0.430m). 
 
Humberside Police provide Estates Management Services to Humberside Fire Authority on a lead 
Authority basis.  The Joint Estates Service (JES) provides premises repairs, regular maintenance, 
utility management and support for capital projects. Governance for the JES is provided by the JES 
board chaired by the Assistant Chief Officer (Resources).  The Director of Support Services from 
Humberside Fire and Rescue Service also sits on the board. The overall operational cost of the JES 
is £13.488m (2021/22 £10.349m) with income of £2.692m received from Humberside Fire and Rescue 
Service (2021/2 £1.956m) and other income of £1.050m received from other organisations (2021/22 
£1.251m).  
 
In addition to the above, Humberside Fire Authority also provide the PCC with a Health and Safety 
service. In 2022/23 the PCC paid £0.141m for this service (2021/22 £0.137m). 
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9. ADJUSTMENTS BETWEEN ACCOUNTING AND FUNDING BASIS UNDER REGULATIONS 

The note below details the adjustments that are made to the total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure recognised by the Chief Constable 
within the year to ensure that the revenue for the year within the General Fund is calculated in accordance with statutory requirements. 
 

General 

Fund 

Balance

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Total 

Unusable 

Reserves

Total  

Reserves

General 

Fund 

Balance

Total 

Usable 

Reserves

Total 

Unusable 

Reserves

Total  

Reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adjustments Relating to Capital Resources:

-            -            -           -        Depreciation charged to the CIES -            -            -          -        

-            -            -           -        Revaluation Losses charged to the CIES -            -            -          -        

Adjustments Relating to the Pension Reserve:

(60,480) (60,480)  60,480      -        Reversal and Allocation of items relating to IAS19 pensions in CIES (65,886) (65,886)  65,886     -        

115,355 115,355 (115,355)   -        Employer's pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable in the year120,423 120,423 (120,423)  -        

Adjustments Relating to the Accumulated Absences Reserve:

(197)      (197)       197           -        Holiday pay accrual charged to the CIES 685       685        (685)        -        

Adjustments Relating to the Collection Fund:

-            -            -           -        Collection Fund adjustment charged to the CIES -            -            -          -        

54,678   54,678   (54,678)     -            Total Adjustments 55,222   55,222   (55,222)    -            

Year Ended 31 March 2023Year Ended 31 March 2022
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10. SHORT TERM DEBTORS AND CREDITORS 

SHORT TERM DEBTORS 

The short term debtors held on the Chief Constables balance sheet contain the following categories 

of debtors; 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 Short-Term Debtor by Source: £'000

-            Government Departments -            

2,841     Other Police and Local Authorities 5,152     

-            NHS -            

90         Other 96         

2,931     Total Short Term Debtors 5,248     

Short-Term Debtor by Type:

2,931     Debtors & Accruals 5,248     

-            Prepayments -            

2,931     Total Short Term Debtors 5,248      

 
SHORT TERM CREDITORS 

The short term creditors held on the Chief Constables balance sheet contain the following categories 

of creditors; 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 Short-Term Creditor by Source: £'000

2,234     Government Departments 4,375     

-            Other Police and Local Authorities -            

2,882     Other 3,743     

5,116     Total Short Term Creditors 8,118     

Short-Term Creditor by Type:

5,116     Creditors & Accruals 8,118     

-            Income in Advance -            

5,116     Total Short Term Creditors 8,118      
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11. UNUSABLE RESERVES 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

(2,442,653) Pensions Reserve (1,653,215) 

(2,185)       Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account (2,870)       

(2,444,838) Total Unusable Reserves (1,656,085)  

Pensions Reserve 
 

The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory 
provisions. The Chief Constable accounts for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of 
service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment 
returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs.  
 

However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned to be financed as the Chief Constable 
makes employer’s contributions to pension funds or eventually pay any pensions for which they 
are directly responsible. The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial 
shortfall in the benefits earned by past and current employees and the resources the Chief 
Constable has set aside to meet them. The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will 
have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid. 
 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

(2,448,741) Opening Balance (2,442,653) 

60,963       Actuarial Gains or (losses) on the pensions assets and liabilities 843,975     

60,480       

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited/credited to the 

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the CIES 65,886       

(115,355)    Employers Pension Contributions and direct payments to pensioners (120,423)    

(2,442,653) Closing Balance (1,653,215)  
 
 

 Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account 
 

The Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise 
arise on the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken 
in the year, e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March. Statutory arrangements 
require that the impact on the General Funding Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the 
Account. 
 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

(2,382)    Opening Balance (2,185)    

197        Adjustment based on calculation for untaken leave (685)      

(2,185)    Closing Balance (2,870)     
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12. ASSETS AND LIABILITIES IN RELATION TO RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
 
The underlying assets and liabilities for retirement benefits of the Chief Constable at 31 March 
2022 and 31 March 2021 are as follows:  
 

31 March 

2023

31 March 

2022

31 March 

2023

31 March 

2022

31 March 

2023

31 March 

2022

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Estimated liabilities in the Scheme (269,884) (396,203)   (1,692,080)   (2,350,200) (1,961,964)   (2,746,403) 

Estimated assets in the Scheme 309,670  302,595    -                 -                309,670       302,595     

Net Asset/(Liability) 39,786    (93,608)     (1,692,080)   (2,350,200) (1,652,294)   (2,443,808) 

31 March 

2023

31 March 

2022

Allocation of Net Asset/(Liability): £'000 £'000

PCC 921             (1,155)        

Chief Constable (1,653,215)   (2,442,653) 

(1,652,294)   (2,443,808) 

Local Government 

Pension Scheme Police Pension Schemes TOTAL

 
  
PENSION COMMENTARY 

 
The liabilities show the PCC’s and PCC Group’s long term commitments to pay retirement 
benefits.  The total net liability of £1,652m has a substantial impact on the net worth of the PCC 
and PCC Group as recorded in the balance sheet, resulting in a negative overall balance of 
£1,605m in the PCC Group balance sheet.   
 
As at 31 March 2023 the net discount rate (discount rate net of CPI inflation) has significantly 
increased compared to the previous year. This has lead to a large gain on scheme values on the 
balance sheet with the Police Pension Scheme liability significantly reducing and the LGPS 
liability now being reflected as a surplus. The discount rate has increased due to the increasing 
performance of the bond market.  
 
The last actuarial valuation on the Police Pension Scheme was carried out as at 31 March 2020.  
The next Police Pension valuation is due to be reported in 2023/24.  The last actuarial review was 
carried out on the Local Government Pension Scheme as at 31 March 2022.  The next actuarial 
review takes place as at 31 March 2025.  
 
Covid 19 – The current population mortality projections make a short term allowance for the 
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. Long term rates of future mortality improvement are not 
projected to change. It’s expected that the long term impact of the pandemic on life expectancy 
will continue to evolve over time.  
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13. RECONCILIATION OF PRESENT VALUE OF SCHEME ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

RECONCILIATION OF SCHEME LIABILITIES 
 

2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 2021/22

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1st April (2,350,200)  (2,317,532)  (396,203)    (406,955)     

Correction to Opening Balances -                (138)           -                -                 

Current service cost (38,870)      (47,440)       (17,166)      (19,139)       

Past service costs (including curtailments) -                -                 (145)           (90)             

Interest cost (61,990)      (46,300)       (11,072)      (8,500)         

Contributions by scheme participants (10,510)      (10,030)       (2,509)        (2,459)         

Benefits paid 69,457       63,705        6,322         5,663          

Remeasurements:

Gains and losses from changes in assumptions 833,933      29,385        182,740      36,200        

Experience gains and losses (133,900)    (21,850)       (31,851)      (923)           

31st March (1,692,080)  (2,350,200)  (269,884)    (396,203)     

Unfunded Liabilties: Police 

Pension Schemes

Funded Liabilties: Local 

Government Pension 

Scheme

 
 
 

The expected contributions to the LGPS for 2022/23 are £7.2m (2021/22 was £7.1m) and £27.1m 
for the Police Pension Fund (2021/22 was £23.6m). 

 
RECONCILIATION OF SCHEME ASSETS 
 

2022/23 2021/22

£'000 £'000

1st April 302,595      273,832      

Interest income on Plan assets 8,360         5,649          

Employer contributions 7,052         7,050          

Contributions by scheme participants 2,509         2,459          

Benefits paid (6,271)        (5,609)         

Remeasurements:

Return on assets excluding net interest (4,575)        19,214        

31st March 309,670      302,595      

Local Government Pension 

Scheme
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14. BASIS FOR ESTIMATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate 
of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality 
rates, salary levels etc. 
 
The Police Schemes have been assessed by the Government Actuaries Department and the 
Local Authority Scheme, which is administered by the East Riding of Yorkshire Council, has been 
assessed by Hymans Robertson, actuaries.  
 
The main assumptions used in their calculations have been:  
 

2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 2021/22

% % % %

Rate of Inflation 2.95           3.15            2.60           3.00            

Rate of Increases in Salaries 2.95           4.05            3.85           4.75            

Rate of increase in Pensions 2.95           3.15            2.60           3.00            

Rate for Discounting Scheme Liabilities 4.75           2.75            4.65           2.65            

CARE Revaluation 3.85           4.25            

Take up option to convert annual pension into 

retirement grant:

Pre April 2008 service 60              60              

Post April 2008 service 80              80              

Local Government Pension 

Scheme Police Pension Schemes

 
    

The sensitivity of scheme liabilities to changes in the main assumptions are: 
 

2022/23 % £000 % £000

Change in assumption:

0.5% increase in salaries increase rate 1.00           3,170          1.00           13,000        

0.5% increase in pensions increase rate 9.00           25,605        7.50           124,000      

0.5% decrease in discounting of liabilities rate 10.00         28,335        7.50           126,000      

1 year increase in member life expectancy rate 4.00           10,795        2.50           44,000        

2021/22 % £000 % £000

Change in assumption:

0.5% increase in salaries increase rate 1.00           5,035          1.00           20,000        

0.5% increase in pensions increase rate 10.00         41,110        8.50           202,000      

0.5% decrease in discounting of liabilities rate 12.00         46,480        9.50           221,000      

1 year increase in member life expectancy rate 4.00           15,848        3.50           80,000        

Local Government Pension 

Scheme Police Pension Schemes

Local Government Pension 

Scheme Police Pension Schemes
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Opposite changes in assumptions would produce equal and opposite changes in scheme 
liabilities. Doubling the changes in assumptions would produce approximately double the change 
in scheme liabilities. 
 
The weighted average duration of the scheme liabilities are: 
 

2022/23

2021/22

16.0

24.0 20.0

20.0

Years Years

Local Government 

Pension Scheme

Police Pension 

Schemes

 
 
 
The Police Pension Schemes have no assets to cover the liabilities incurred. 
 
Assets in the LGPS are valued at fair value, principally market value for investments, and consist 
of the following categories, by proportion of the assets held by the fund:    
 

2022/23 2021/22

Asset quoted prices: % £000 % £000

Equity securities 10.1           31,207        12.1           36,295        

Debt securities 8.8             27,356        13.6           26,615        

Private equity 6.2             19,144        5.7             22,106        

Real estate 9.1             28,038        11.6           34,485        

Investment funds 64.0           198,146      54.2           179,206      

Cash and cash equivalents 1.9             5,779          2.8             3,888          

Total 309,670      302,595      

In active markets 73.6           227,785      77.1           230,925      

Not in active markets 26.4           81,885        22.9           71,670        

309,670      302,595       
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15. ASSUMED MORTALITY RATES 

Mortality rates are projected using published tables. Future mortality improvements are in line 
with the 2014-based UK principle population projections. 
 

POLICE PENSION FUND

2022/23

Exact Age Exact Age

Males Females Males Females

65 21.9 23.5 65 23.5 25

2021/22

Exact Age Exact Age

Males Females Males Females

65 22.1 23.8 65 23.8 25.4

LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME

2022/23

Exact Age Exact Age

Males Females Males Females

65 20.8 23.7 65 21.5 25.2

2021/22

Exact Age Exact Age

Males Females Males Females

65 20.8 23.5 65 22.00 25.3

Current Pensioners Future Pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners

Current Pensioners Future Pensioners

Current Pensioners Future Pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners

Current Pensioners Future Pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners

Expectation of life (in years) 

for existing pensioners
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16. REMEASUREMENTS OF THE NET DEFINED BENEFIT LIABILITY 

The IAS 19 remeasurement movements on the Pensions Reserve can be analysed into the following remeasurement categories, measured as absolute 
amounts and as percentages of assets or liabilities at 31 March:   
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT

£'000 % £'000 % £'000 % £'000 % £'000 %

Return on assets, excluding net interest 9,430       3.83 (26,448)   -11.55 35,071    12.81   19,214    6.35    (4,575)           (1.48)   

Difference between actuarial assumptions 

about liabilities and actual experience (15)           (0.01)   27,544    9.52    2,903      0.71    (923)       (0.23)   (31,851)         (11.80) 

Changes in the demographic and financial 

assumptions used to estimate liabilties (31,373)    (9.07)   49,446    17.09  (104,269) (25.62) 36,200    9.14    182,740         67.71   

Total IAS19 Remeasurements (21,958)    (6.35)   50,542    17.47  (66,295)   (16.29) 54,491    13.75   146,314         54.21   

POLICE PENSION SCHEMES

£'000 % £'000 % £'000 % £'000 % £'000 %

Difference between actuarial assumptions 

about liabilities and actual experience 6,633       0.30 46,360    2.21    54,150    2.34    (21,850)   (0.93)   (133,900)       (7.91)   

Changes in the demographic and financial 

assumptions used to estimate liabilties (61,020)    (2.73)   133,830  6.39    (241,917) (10.44) 29,385    1.25    833,933         49.28   

Total IAS19 Remeasurements (54,387)    (2.43)   180,190  8.61    (187,767) (8.10)   7,535      0.32    700,033         41.37   

Allocation of IAS19 Remeasurements:

2022/23 2021/22

£'000 £'000

PCC (2,372)      (1,063)     

Chief Constable (843,975)  (60,963)   

Total IAS19 Remeasurements (846,347)  (62,026)   

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
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17. NOTE TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

The adjustments to the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash 
movements within the cash flow statement are as follows: 
 

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

197           Movement in Accumulated Absences Reserve (685)          

(49,117)      Pension interest cost net of interest on pension assets (64,639)      

(5,758)       Adjustments in the Cost of Services relating to the Pension Reserve 10,102       

(54,678)      (55,222)      

Adjustments to Net Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 

Services for Non Cash Movements
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18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS     

In accordance with the reporting requirements of IAS 24, the Chief Constable is required to 
disclose details of material transactions with related parties, that is bodies or individuals that 
have the potential to influence the Chief Constable or to be controlled or influenced by the 
Chief Constable. 
 
Central Government has significant influence over the general operations of the Chief 
Constable. It is responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the Chief 
Constable operates as well as providing substantial resources in the form of grants which are 
paid to the PCC. It also prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that the PCC Group 
has with other parties. Grants received from Central Government to the PCC are set out in the 
PCC Group and PCC financial statements. 

 
The Chief Constable is represented on the National Police Chiefs Council which is an 
independent professional body of chief police officers and senior staff equivalents. 

 
The Chief Constable is a member of the BlueLight Commercial Board. This board monitors 
and oversees the operations of BlueLight Commercial Ltd, a government funded procurement 
company designed to support emergency services procurement. In 2022/23 there were no 
transactions made between the PCC Group and the organisation (£515 in 2021/22) 

 
The relationship between the PCC and the Chief Constable is explained in note 3 to these 
financial statements. The monetary value of transactions between the Chief Constable and 
the PCC are also disclosed in these financial statements. 

 
Two Senior Officers of Humberside Police are also Directors of ESFM (Humberside) Ltd – 
Deputy Chief Constable Paul Anderson and Assistant Chief Officer (Resources) Christopher 
Philpott.  ESFM (Humberside) Ltd is a joint operation that provides vehicle maintenance 
services to Humberside Police and Humberside Fire Authority. The company supplied 
services with a value of £2,132,845 to Humberside Police during 2022/23 (£2,195,612 in 
2021/22).  The PCC Group leases part of its Melton workshop facility to the company for which 
a rent of £198,799 was charged in 2022/23 (£198,799 2021/22). Other income received 
totalled £35,675 in 2022/23 (£35,456 2021/22).  Details of Humberside Police’s share of 
income, expenditure, assets and liabilities of this joint operation are disclosed in Note 8 to the 
financial statements. 

 
The previous Assistant Chief Officer (Resources) in post until June 2022 was treasurer for the 
British Association of Women in Policing (BAWP).  Humberside Police held a separate bank 
account for BAWP, along with an account for the Senior Women in Policing (SwiP), which is a 
part of BAWP. The BAWP is a national charity which exists to raise awareness and 
understanding of issues affecting women within the Police Service. The responsibilities as 
treasurer moved to a different police force on the transfer of the previous post holder.  

 
The spouse of the Detective Chief Superintendent of Humberside Police is the Chief 
Constable of South Yorkshire Police. The Regional Collaboration arrangements between the 
two forces are disclosed in Note 8 to the financial statements.  
 
The spouse of the Head of Talent for Humberside Police is the director of TMC3 – an IT 
company specialising in cyber security. During 2022/23 a total of £25,920 in payments were 
made by the PCC Group to TMC3 (£nil in 2021/22).  
 
A survey of the Chief Constable and Senior Officers of Humberside Police and parties related 
to them was undertaken in preparing these financial statements. Except as disclosed above, 
no material related party transactions were identified.   
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19. EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE        

The unaudited Statement of Accounts were issued on 31 May 2023. The Chief Constable 
reviewed events occurring between 31 March and the issue date, and did not identify any 
events that were adjusting events in respect of conditions existing at the Balance Sheet date.  
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20. CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

For the 2022/23 statement of accounts the estimation basis for the allocation of the IAS19 
Pension transactions between commands has been amended.  
 
The CIPFA Code states that for any material change in accounting estimate the force should 
disclose: 
 

1. The nature of the change in accounting estimate 

2. The amount of the change that effects the current period, or that is expected to have 

in future periods. 

In previous financial years the allocation of the reversal of pension contributions and the 
current service cost has been purely based on the total pension contribution charged in each 
force command.  
 
The new estimation takes into account the cost of the police pension fund which is charged to 
Centrally Managed Services, alongside the pension contribution charges used in the previous 
estimation basis. This results in a larger percentage of IAS19 reversal of contributions and 
current service costs being allocated to the centrally managed command than in previous 
years. 
 
A review of the previous allocation basis has resulted in the conclusion that the new estimation 
would better reflect how the original costs of pensions are reflected in the CIES.  
 
The table below summarises the change the new estimation basis has on the 22/23 financial 
year in both the CIES and the EFA.  
 
 

22-23 Gross 

Expenditure in 

CIES

22-23 Gross 

Expenditure in CIES 

(based on old allocation) Variance

22-23 Pension 

Charges in EFA

22-23 Pension Charges in 

EFA (based on old 

allocation) Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Northbank Division 48,120              44,119                           4,001     (1,404)             (5,405)                            4,001     

Southbank Division 33,194              30,443                           2,751     (989)               (3,740)                            2,751     

Force Control Room 20,719              20,475                           244         2,553              2,309                             244         

Protecting Vulnerable People 13,770              12,526                           1,244     (588)               (1,832)                            1,244     

Regional Collaboration 12,493              12,227                           266         (145)               (411)                               266         

Special Operations Unit 15,154              13,955                           1,199     (521)               (1,720)                            1,199     

Specialist Crime 16,194              15,180                           1,014     92                  (922)                               1,014     

People Services 15,308              14,507                           801         277                 (524)                               801         

Estates Services 13,874              13,874                           -              266                 266                                -              

Information Services 10,819              10,819                           -              17                  17                                  -              

Corporate Development 7,683                7,456                             227         611                 384                                227         

Criminal Justice 5,717                5,651                             66           441                 375                                66           

Centrally Managed Services 27,102              39,128                           (12,026)  (11,810)           216                                (12,026)  

Other Services 24,010              23,797                           213       1,098              885                                213       

264,157            264,157                         -         (10,102)           (10,102)                          -             
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POLICE PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS 
 
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting sets out the accounting treatment for the 
Police Pension Fund Accounts in the financial year 2022/23. 
 
The Chief Constable is responsible for administering the Police Pension Fund in accordance 
with the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. All payments and receipts are 
made to and from the PCC Police Fund. These Police Pension Fund Accounts do not form 
part of the Chief Constable’s or PCC Group Financial Statements. 
 
TRANSACTIONS RELATING TO RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
 
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its officers and other employees, the 
PCC Group offers retirement benefits.  Although these benefits will not actually be payable 
until employees retire, the PCC Group has a commitment to make the payments that need to 
be disclosed at the time that employees earn their future entitlement. 
 
The PCC Group participates in the following pension schemes:   
 
The Police Pension Schemes for police officers – three schemes where provided for police 
officers, the 1987 Scheme, the 2006 scheme and the 2015 scheme. From 1 April 2022 all 
active scheme members have been transferred into the 2015 scheme due to the end of the 
police pension remedy period. The 1987 and 2006 schemes are now closed to future pension 
build up.  
 
The 2015 pension scheme has officers’ contributions in a range of 12.44 to 13.78% (2021/22 
12.44 to 13.78%). All schemes are unfunded schemes, i.e. no investment assets are built up 
to meet the pensions liabilities and cash has to be generated to meet actual pensions 
payments as they eventually fall due.  
 
The Local Government Pension Scheme for police staff, administered by the East Riding of 
Yorkshire Council – is a funded scheme, i.e. the PCC and employees pay contributions into a 
fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pensions liabilities with investment assets. 
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The accounting and funding arrangements for Police Pensions are detailed below: 
 

POLICE PENSIONS FUND ACCOUNT

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE

Police and Crime Commissioner ("PCC"):

(20,473)  - contributions at 31% (21,466) 

(568)       - early retirements - Ill Health (574)      

(9,691)    Officers' Contributions (10,117) 

(32,157) 

TRANSFERS IN

(398)       Transfers in from other Pension Schemes (412)      

BENEFITS PAYABLE

54,225   - Pensions 56,811  

9,984     - Commutations and lump sum retirement benefits 12,981  

32          - Lump sum death benefits -           

69,792  

PAYMENTS TO AND ON ACCOUNT OF LEAVERS

95          - Refunds of contributions 168       

4           - Transfers out to other Pension Scheme 90         

-            - Transfers out to other Police Forces: 1974 arrangments -           

258       

33,210   NET AMOUNT PAYABLE FOR THE YEAR BEFORE TRANSFER FROM THE PCC 37,481  

(31,295)  

Additional funding payable by the PCC to meet the deficit (funded by the Home 

Office) (35,473) 

(1,915)    

Additional funding payables by the PCC to meet the deficit (NOT funded by the 

Home Office) (2,008)   

-            NET AMOUNT PAYABLE/RECEIVABLE FOR THE YEAR -           

NET ASSETS STATEMENT

2021/22 2022/23

£'000 £'000

CURRENT ASSETS

941        Police Fund Debtor 4,895    

4,647     Pensions Paid in Advance 5,092    

CURRENT LIABILITIES

665        Unpaid Pensions Due -           

4,923     Humberside Police and Crime Commissioner 9,987    

-            -            
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NOTES TO THE POLICE PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS 
 
The Police Pension Fund Account was established during 2006/07 with legal status being 
given by the Police Pension Fund Regulations 2007 (SI 2007 no. 1932). 
 
The Police Officer Pension Schemes make up the account:    

• 1987 Police Pension Scheme 

• 2006 Police Pension Scheme 

• 2015 Police Pension Scheme 
PCCs are obliged to include the Pension Fund Account in their Statement of Accounts in 
accordance with regulation 7(1)(d) of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2003.  The Fund is 
administered and managed by the Humberside Police Finance Section. 
 
The fund is charged with all pensions expenditure in accordance with Home Office guidance, 
with income being employee contributions, employer contributions, which for 2022/23 was 
31% of pensionable pay (2021/22 31%). 
 
Other income items within the fund are transfer payments from other pension schemes and a 
capital charge that is twice the average pensionable pay of officers that retire on ill health. 
 
The Home Office provide a pension “top up” grant to fund differences on the fund account, 
80% is received up front for the relevant financial year, with the balance provided on 
submission of the PCC’s financial statements. 
 
There has been an adjustment of 2.9% to the cash flow to the Police Pension Fund due to the 
reduction in the employer contribution rate from 33.9% to 31% being reflected in a reduction 
in HM Treasury pensions top up funding of £2,008k (2021/22 £1,615k). 
 
There are no investment assets, the fund is balanced to nil at the year-end by either a 
contribution from the Police Fund, or if a surplus balance on the fund, a transfer to the Police 
Fund. 
 
The fund does not account for benefits payable in the future (IAS 19 Employee Benefits), 
which is a divergence from the accounting policy for the Police Fund Account as stated in the 
statement of accounting policies. Details of the long term pension obligations and the cost of 
pensions can be found in the PCC Group’s financial statements. 
 
Employees’ and employer’s contribution levels are based on percentages of pensionable pay 
set nationally by the Home Office and are subject to triennial revaluation by the Government 
Actuary’s Department. 
 
The responsibility for future pension benefits still lies with the PCC Group, through the Police 
Fund Account.  The responsibility for amounts due to/from the Fund Account and the Home 
Office is shown within the Police Fund, not the Pensions Fund. 
 
As previously stated the Chief Constable is responsible for administering the Police Pension 
Fund in accordance with the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. All payments 
and receipts are made to and from the PCCs Police Fund. As such, the Chief Constable and 
the PCC are the only related parties to the Fund and all the transactions shown in the Police 
Pension Fund Accounts have been processed through the PCC. 
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GLOSSARY OF ACCOUNTING TERMS 
 
The Force has adopted the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) based Code 
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting as its standard basis of accounting. 
 
Definitions of accounting terms used are given below: 
 

 
Term 
 

 
Definition 

Accounting period The period of time covered by the financial statements, normally a 
period of twelve months. 

Accruals basis Under the accruals concept, expenses are recognised when 
incurred, not when the cash is actually paid out, and revenue is 
recognised when it is earned, not when the cash is actually 
received. 

Agency cost Services which are performed by or for another authority or public 
body, where the agent is reimbursed for the cost of the work done.  

Asset An item owned or leased by the Chief Constable, which has a 
value, for example, land and buildings, vehicles, equipment, cash. 

Assets held for sale Assets are held for sale if their value will be recovered through a 
sale transaction rather than through continuing use. 

Balance Sheet This represents a summary of all the assets and liabilities of the 
Chief Constable. 

Carry overs These are underspends at the end of the financial year, which are 
carried forward into the next financial year to support that year’s 
expenditure plans. 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

Cash includes cash held in bank accounts and cash in hand. Cash 
equivalents are assets that can be readily converted into cash such 
as deposits and certain short term investments. 

CIPFA The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.  This 
is the main professional accountancy body relating to the public 
sector. 

Contingent asset or 
liability 

An asset or liability that is not recognised in the financial statements 
due to the level of uncertainty surrounding it but is disclosed as it is 
possible that it may result in a future inflow or outflow of resources. 

Creditors Amounts owed by the Chief Constable for goods received or 
services rendered but not yet paid for at the end of the financial 
year. 

Current asset  or 
liability 

An asset or liability that the Chief Constable expects to hold or 
discharge for a period of less than one year from the Balance Sheet 
date. 

Debtors 
 

Sums of money due to the Chief Constable for work done or 
services supplied but not received at the end of the financial year. 

Deferred liabilities 
 
 

Liabilities which by arrangement are payable beyond the next year 
at some points in the future or paid off by an annual sum over a 
period of time. 

Employee benefits  All forms of consideration given to employees for services 
rendered. These are salaries and wages, social security costs 
(national insurance), superannuation contributions, paid sick leave, 
paid annual and long service leave and termination payments. 

Going concern basis 
 

The underlying assumption used in producing the financial 
statements that the Chief Constable will continue to operate for at 
least 12 months from the Balance Sheet date. 

Income Received in 
Advance 

Income received that should be classed as a benefit in the next 
financial year. 
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Intangible assets Capital expenditure which does not create a tangible asset. 

Leases A method of financing expenditure over a period of time. There are 
two types of lease: 
 Finance lease, where the risks of ownership are transferred to the 

lessee and where the assets are recorded in the Chief 
Constable’s Balance Sheet at a current valuation. 

 Operating lease, where the risks of ownership stay with the 
leasing company and the annual rental charges are made via the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Liability An amount owing to a third party such as a loan or unpaid invoice 
from a supplier. 

Net assets Total assets less total liabilities. 

Non current asset or 
liability 
 

An asset or liability that the Chief Constable expects to hold or 
discharge for a period of more than one year from the Balance 
Sheet date. 

Non Distributed Cost This is where overheads are not charged or apportioned to 
activities within the SeRCOP service expenditure analysis. 

Prepayment 
 

Where an amount of expenditure is paid in the current financial 
year, but the goods or services are a benefit in the next/following 
year. 

Provision An amount set aside to provide for a liability which is likely to be 
incurred but the exact amount and the date on which it will arise are 
uncertain. 

Reserves  General reserves are accumulated balances available to support 
revenue or capital spending and meet unforeseen events. 
Earmarked reserves are amounts set aside for an agreed purpose 
in one financial year and carried forward to meet expenditure in 
future years. 

Revenue 
expenditure 

Spending on day to day items, including salaries, premises costs 
and supplies and services. 
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Acronyms and Abbreviations 

BAWP British Association of Women in Policing 

CARE Career Average Revalued Earnings 

CIES Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

CIPFA Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

ESFM Emergency Services Fleet Management 

HMICFRS Her Majesty’s Inspector of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services 

IAS International Accounting Standards 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 

JES Joint Estates Service 

LGPS Local Government Pension Scheme 

MTRS Medium Term Resource Strategy 

NECB North East Collaboration Board 

OPCC Office of Police and Crime Commissioner 

PCC Police and Crime Commissioner 

PEEL Police Effectiveness Efficiency and Legitimacy 

PPE Personal Protective Equipment 

PRSRA Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 

RCB Regional Collaboration Board 

SeRCOP Service Reporting Code of Practice for Local Authorities 

VAT Value-Added Tax 
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